

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active. Associate Editor: J. REICHEN

HEPATIC CIRCULATION: POTENTIAL FOR THERAPEUTIC INTERVENTION

FRANÇOIS BALLET*

Equipe de Physiologie et Pharmacologie Hépatique, INSERM U.181, Hôpital Saint-Antoine F-75012, Paris, France

Abstract—In recent years, knowledge of the physiology and pharmacology of hepatic circulation has grown rapidly. Liver microcirculation has a unique design that allows very efficient exchange processes between plasma and liver cells, even when severe constraints are imposed upon the system, i.e. in stressful situations. Furthermore, it has been recognized recently that sinusoids and their associated cells can no longer be considered only as passive structures ensuring the dispersion of molecules in the liver, but represent a very sophisticated network that protects and regulates parenchymal cells through a variety of mediators. Finally, vascular abnormalities are a prominent feature of a number of liver pathological processes, including cirrhosis and liver cell necrosis whether induced by alcohol, ischemia, endotoxins, virus or chemicals. Although it is not clear whether vascular lesions can be the primary events that lead to hepatocyte injury, the main interest of these findings is that liver microcirculation could represent a potential target for drug action in these conditions.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	282
2.	Structure of Hepatic Circulation	282
	2.1. General organization	282
	2.2. Hepatic nerves	282
	2.3. Microcirculation	284
	2.3.1. Organization	284
	2.3.2. Flow in liver microvasculature	284
	2.3.3. Models of liver parenchyma architecture	285
	2.4. Structure of sinusoids	285
	2.4.1. Endothelial cells (EC)	286
	2.4.2. Kupffer cells (KC)	287
	2.4.3. Fat-storing cells (FSC)	287
	2.4.4. Pit cells (PC)	288
	2.4.5. Space of Disse	288
3.	Physiology of Hepatic Microcirculation	288
	3.1. Vascular resistance	288
	3.1.1. Theoretical concepts	288
	3.1.2. Pressure-flow curve in the liver	289
	3.1.3. Role of resistance in the regulation of flow and pressure	289
	3.1.4. Regulation of hepatic resistance	290
	3.1.5. Location of intrahepatic portal resistance	297
	3.2. Hepatic blood volume	297
	3.3. Fluid and solute exchanges across the sinusoids	297
	3.3.1. Control of exchanges across the sinusoids	297
	3.3.2. Effect of sympathetic stimulation and/or adrenergic agents on exchanges across	
	sinusoids	298
	3.4. Role of the microvasculature in the modulation of hepatic metabolism	299
4.	Hepatic Microcirculation in Disease	300
	4.1. Cirrhosis	300
	4.1.1. Morphology of hepatic circulation	300
	4.1.2. Intrahepatic portal resistance	301
	4.1.3. Physiopathology of portal hypertension	302
	4.1.4. Pharmacology of portal hypertension	302
	4.1.5. Vascular factors in decreased liver function in cirrhosis	304
	4.2. Alcoholic liver disease	306

*Present address: Rhone-Poulenc Santé, Department of Toxicology, BP14-94403 Vitry-sur-Seine Cedex, France.

4.3. Experimentally-induced acute liver injury	308
4.3.1. Ischemia- and hypoxia-induced liver injury	308
4.3.2. Liver injury induced by endotoxins	311
4.3.3. Liver injury induced by viruses	314
4.3.4. Liver injury induced by chemicals	315
5. Conclusion	316
Acknowledgements	317
References	317

1. INTRODUCTION

The mechanisms involved in the regulation of blood flow through the hepatic circulation are incompletely understood. However, in recent years, knowledge of the physiology and pharmacology of the hepatic circulation has grown rapidly. Furthermore, abnormalities of hepatic microcirculation appear to be a major determinant in the physiopathology of many liver diseases.

In this review, we will focus on the structure and the physiological role of the hepatic circulation particularly in relation to substrate exchange and liver metabolism. We will review the effects of pharmacological agents, particularly adrenergic agents and autacoids released by sinusoidal cells, on intrahepatic vascular resistance. We will focus mainly on data obtained recently with the isolated perfused rat liver. Finally, we will examine the nature of the alterations of liver circulation in cirrhosis, alcoholic liver disease and several models of acute liver injury and we will discuss the contribution of these modifications to these disease processes.

2. STRUCTURE OF HEPATIC CIRCULATION

2.1. GENERAL ORGANIZATION

The liver has a dual blood supply. Approximately two-thirds of the blood perfusing the liver is venous and is supplied by the portal vein coming from the splanchnic territory (Fig. 1); this includes the digestive tract below the diaphragm, the spleen and the pancreas. Table 1 shows the relative contribution of the different organs to portal blood flow in the awake rat using the microsphere method. One-third of the blood perfusing the liver is arterial and is provided by the hepatic artery.

In most species, liver blood flow is approximately 1.5 ml/min/g liver, representing 15-20% of cardiac output, although wide variations may ocur. Comparison with other organs (Table 2) shows that the liver receives the largest fraction of cardiac output, although the rate of perfusion is lower than that of other organs such as the brain or kidney.

In terms of its structure and general properties, the hepatic artery is similar to other arteries. It is thus the portal vein that confers its peculiarity to hepatic circulation. A portal system is defined as a set of vessels interposed between two capillary beds. The portal vascular bed is interposed between the capillary network of the splanchnic territory and the hepatic sinusoids. The structure of the portal vein differs markedly from other veins. Valves are lacking and flow can reverse in several pathological conditions, e.g. cirrhosis. Unlike other venous systems, a longitudinal muscle layer showing spontaneous rhythmic activity (Johansson and Ljung, 1967; Johansson and Mellander, 1975) is present in the adventitia. This phenomenon accounts for the stretch-dependent myogenic tone of the portal vein (Bevan, 1985). The myogenic tone can affect the compliance of the portal vein and is therefore an important modulator of portal pressure *in vivo*.

2.2. HEPATIC NERVES

The liver is innervated by sympathetic and parasympathetic nerves which enter the organ closely associated with the hepatic artery and the portal vein (Lautt, 1980; Sawchenko and Friedman, 1979). The extent and localization of adrenergic and cholinergic nerves vary markedly according to the species. In primates, adrenergic nerves extend deeply into the lobule and reach the space of Disse (Friedman, 1982). Nerve endings are in close contact with hepatocytes and sinusoidal cells, particularly perisinusoidal cells. In rats, intrahepatic nerves are confined to the portal space and do not extend into the lobule. Similar findings have been reported in dogs (Friedmann, 1982). However, the largest hepatic veins are innervated at their termination near the inferior vena cava. In rats, the sparse parenchymal innervation is compensated for by numerous gap junctions between hepatocytes (Reilly et al., 1978; Skaaring and Bierring, 1976). This allows propagation of the nervous signal into the lobule to the more distant hepatocytes.

Cholinergic nerves are also in contact with branches of the portal vein and hepatic artery (Gardemann and Jungermann, 1986). The extent and localization of cholinergic nerves in the lobule are less well documented. In rats, cholinergic neurons appear to terminate in the vicinity of periportal hepatocytes (Reilly *et al.*, 1978; Skaaring and Bierring, 1976).

Norepinephrine is released by nerves of the hepatic sympathetic plexus. Using isolated rat livers perfused at constant pressure, Beckh *et al.* (1982), have shown that stimulation of nerves at the liver hilum around the portal vein and the hepatic artery induces a norepinephrine overflow in the perfusate. After stimulation, norepinephrine production is approximately 50 pmol/min/g liver. Taking into account values of perfusion flow (1.5-2 ml/min/g liver), this gives a perfusate norepinephrine concentration in the outflow of 25–33 nm. Concomitantly, sympathetic stimulation.



FIG. 1. General organization of liver circulation.

lation induces a production of glucose and lactate and a reduction in portal blood flow. Norepinephrine release is decreased when nervous stimulation is preceded by the administration of norepinephrine (5 nm). The increase observed in the presence of phentolamine (50 μ M) is consistent with the presence of presynaptic α_2 adrenergic receptors. Norepinephrine production is decreased by propranolol (10 μ M), probably due to presynaptic β_2 adrenergic receptors. Desipramine, an inhibitor of norepinephrine reuptake, augments norepinephrine release, suggesting that neuronal reuptake mechanism (uptake 1) exists in the rat liver. Norepinephrine release is inhibited in the absence of Ca^{2+} , confirming that norepinephrine secretion is Ca^{2+} -dependent (Beckh et al., 1982). The selective stimulation of the arterial plexus induces a significantly higher norepinephrine overflow than the selective stimulation of the portal plexus (Gardemann et al., 1987), indicating that the sympathetic innervation of the hepatic artery is more dense than that of the portal vein.

TABLE 1. Splanchnic Organ Blood Flow in Awake Rats $(301 \pm 8g)$ Determined by the Microsphere Method

	ml/min	% cardiac output
Stomach	0.52 ± 0.04	0.67 ± 0.04
Small bowel	8.01 ± 0.57	10.31 <u>+</u> 0.71
Colon	2.40 ± 0.20	3.10 ± 0.27
Spleen	1.21 ± 0.13	1.56 <u>+</u> 0.18
Mesentery-pancreas	2.39 ± 0.15	3.08 ± 0.17
Hepatic portal	14.53 ± 0.80	18.72 ± 1.03
Hepatic arterial	3.21 ± 0.56	4.14 <u>+</u> 0.71
Hepatic total	17.75 ± 0.93	22.86 ± 1.19

Data from Lee et al., 1985.

Norepinephrine release from hepatic sympathetic nerves has also been demonstrated in other species *in vivo* after direct stimulation or after reflex sympathetic activation (Garceau *et al.*, 1984; Garceau *et al.*, 1985; Yamaguchi and Garceau, 1980).

The liver also plays a major role in norepinephrine metabolism and elimination. In effect hepatic extraction of endogenous norepinephrine reflects both norepinephrine production by sympathetic nerves and norepinephrine elimination by the liver. The estimation of 'true' hepatic extraction and clearance of norepinephrine requires the use of labeled norepinephrine. In the denervated isolated perfused rat liver, norepinephrine hepatic clearance ranges from 0.63 to 0.74 ml/min/g liver in the physiological range of concentration $(10^{-9}-10^{-8} \text{ M})$ (Ballet et al., 1985). These values are close to those calculated from the study of Goresky in dogs (Goresky et al., 1989), (0.80-0.89 ml/min/g liver) and to those estimated by Esler in man (0.5351/min) (Esler et al., 1984). It has been estimated that norepinephrine hepatosplanchnic clearance represents 25% of total plasma norepinephrine clearance (Esler et al., 1984).

ΤA	BLE	2.	Extra:	splanchn	uic R	egional	Bloo	d F	low
in	Awa	ake	Rats	(301 ±	8g)	Determ	ined	by	the
			24	innorth		lathod			

	microsphere methoa			
	ml/min	% cardiac output		
Brain	0.71 ± 0.07	1.56 ± 0.15		
Heart	4.38 ± 0.58	4.61 ± 0.58		
Lungs	1.31 ± 0.29	2.05 ± 0.31		
Kidneys	5.88 ± 0.39	16.91 ± 0.58		

Data from Lee et al., 1985.

2.3. MICROCIRCULATION

2.3.1. Organization

Within the liver, the portal vein and the hepatic artery branch are in parallel. After a number of divisions which depend on the size of the liver, terminal branches of these vessels supply blood to the hepatic sinusoids. Portal venules end directly in the sinusoids. However hepatic arterioles join sinusoids through various pathways (Fig. 2) (Bloch, 1970; Grishan and Nopanitay, 1979; Hirooka et al., 1986; Kardon and Kessel, 1980; Koo et al., 1975; Yamamoto et al., 1988). In the rat, they supply a dense peribiliary plexus which drains into the sinusoids. Furthermore, there are numerous anastomoses between hepatic arterioles and portal venules, while no arterioles end directly in sinusoids. In contrast in other species (particularly man), most hepatic arterioles end directly in sinusoids and arterio-portal anastomoses are rare.

The sinusoids are organized into a dense network with extensive anastomoses which connect portal venules to hepatic venules. Anastomoses are more frequent in the periportal area (Fig. 3) (Gumucio and Miller, 1981). Histological studies show that hepatocytes are organized into unicellular trabeculae in contact with two sinusoids. Therefore, in threedimensional space each hepatocyte is lined by at least three sinusoids. The length of the sinusoids averages 200–500 μ m and each is lined by 10–30 hepatocytes. The diameter of the sinusoids averages 6μ m in periportal areas and 7.5 μ m in perivenous areas (Gumucio and Miller, 1981; Rappaport, 1981a,b).

Having perfused the sinusoids, the blood collects into hepatic venules, the larger branches of which end in the inferior vena cava. A fraction of plasma entering the space of Disse is filtered by the matrix gel (see Section 2.4.5) and drained into lymphatic ducts in the portal triad (Dumont, 1981).

2.3.2. Flow in Liver Microvasculature

In vivo microscopy of the liver has been used to study the pattern and distribution of flow in the hepatic microcirculation. However, it must be emphasized that most studies have been performed in rodents and are limited to the edge of the liver where hepatic arterioles do not usually terminate (McCuskey, 1986; Rappaport, 1981b).

Flow through arterioles is intermittent due to the cyclic contractions of terminal arterioles and this phenomenon is transmitted to the sinusoids (McCuskey, 1965; McCuskey et al., 1979). The diameter of erythrocytes and white blood cells is larger than that of the periportal sinusoids and strong interactions thus exist between formed blood elements and the sinusoidal lining. Red blood cells are highly deformable and continuously adapt their diameter to that of the sinusoids. By contrast, leucocytes are much more rigid; they can compress the sinusoidal wall and the space of Disse, and can transiently plug the vessels leading to an interruption or a reversal of flow via interconnecting sinusoids (McCuskey et al., 1979). In vivo microscopy, shows a general pattern of flow in the lobule resembling random dispersion rather than steady vectorial motion. The heterogeneity of sinusoidal flow is confirmed by the wide variation of red blood cell velocity in sinusoids as measured by in vivo microscopy (200-400 μ m/sec) (Koo et al., 1975) and by the large variations in their transit time estimated from their dilution curve in the plasma (Goresky, 1963).



FIG. 2. Diagram of the hepatic microvasculature as determined by the *in vivo* microscopic techniques. PV, portal venule; HA, hepatic arteriole; L, lymphatic; BD, bile ductule; N, nerve; CV, central venule; SLV, sublobular hepatic venule. From McCuskey, 1988a. Reprinted with permission of the author and copyright holder, Kupffer Cell Foundation, Rjswijk.



FIG. 3. The hepatic acinus conceived by Rappaport. The acinar axis is formed by the terminal branches of the portal venule (TPV), the hepatic arteriole (HA) and the bile ductule (BD). Blood enters the acinar zone 3, where it exists via the terminal hepatic venules (THV). The sinusoids of zone 1 are highly anastomotic while those of zone 3 are straight and empty into the THV in a radial arrangement. From Gumucio and Miller, 1981. Reprinted with permission of the authors and copyright holder, Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam.

2.3.3. Models of Liver Parenchyma Architecture

Several structural models of liver organization have been constructed. The classic liver lobule described by Kiernan considers that the terminal hepatic venules drain a polygonal area of parenchyma whose corners are occupied by portal spaces (Sasse, 1986). The liver acinus developed by Rappaport (1981a) is a clump of parenchyma oriented around the terminal apparent portal and arteriolar vessels (Fig. 3). Accordingly, the terminal hepatic venules drain the periphery of several adjacent acini.

Whatever the model, the linear arrangement of hepatocytes along the sinusoids creates concentration gradients in the plasma and parenchyma for many of the substances extracted or released by hepatocytes (Gumucio and Miller, 1981). The variations in substrate concentrations may explain some functional differences between periportal and perivenous hepatocytes. It should be noted that the shape of these metabolic zones differs according to the model. For example, in the liver lobule model the perivenous region is circular, while it has an irregular shape in the ascinus model (Fig. 4) (Sasse, 1986). The liver lobule model accounts better for the localization of liver damage while the liver acinus model is better adapted to the shape of metabolic zones. However, as stated by Sasse (1986), it is clear that periportal and perivenous areas together form a continuum and that the liver parenchyma can be described as an irregular interdigitating system of regions related to these terminal vessels.

2.4. STRUCTURE OF SINUSOIDS

Plasma disperses into the liver through specialized fenestrated capillaries called sinusoids. Sinusoids are

separated from the hepatocytes by the Disse space which contains the extracellular matrix (Figs 5 and 6). It has been recognized recently that sinusoids and their associated cells are not passive channels but represent a very sophisticated cellular network which controls hepatocellular function.



FIG. 4. Schematic drawing of the functional units of the liver. Left: in the liver lobule, a peripheral and a pericentral functional area are discernible, which are oriented concentrically around the central vein. Right: in the liver acinus, the arrangement of metabolic zones depends on their proximity to the terminal afferent vessels. Therefore, the (stippled) perivenous zone is irregularly shaped. From Sasse, 1986. Reprinted with permission of the authors and copyright holder, Plenum Press, New York.



FIG. 5. The wall of liver sinusoids (S) is formed by three cell types: endothelial cells (E), Kupffer cells (K) and perisinusoidal cells (PS). Sinusoids are separated from the hepatocytes (H) by the Disse space (ED);G: pit cells. From Bioulac-Sage and Balabaud, 1985. Reprinted with permission of the authors and copyright holder, Masson, France.

In the adult liver 60–65% of cells are hepatocytes and 35–40% are nonparenchymal cells. Nonparenchymal cells include sinusoidal cells and cells associated with extralobular vascular and biliary structures (portal venules, hepatic arterioles, lymphatics, biliary ducts, connective tissue). These nonparenchymal nonsinusoidal cells can represent 1–3% of liver cells. Hepatocytes are the largest cells, occupying 80% of liver volume, while sinusoidal cells occupy 6%. The remaining 14% represents extracellular spaces: sinusoidal space (10%) and Disse space (4%). The canalicular volume is less than 0.5% of liver volume (Sasse, 1986).

Four sinusoidal cell types have been identified: endothelial cells (44%), Kupffer cells (33%), fat storing cells (10-25%) and pit cells.

2.4.1. Endothelial Cells (EC)

EC form the wall of liver sinusoids (Figs 5 and 6). They are perforated by large fenestrae often arranged in clusters which have been named 'sieve plates'. The diameter of the fenestrae is approximately 150–175 nm as measured by transmission electron microscopy in the rat. The porosity of sinusoids (fenestrated area/sinusoidal area) is 6-8% in man and in many other species (Wisse *et al.*, 1985). EC are not surrounded by a basal lamina. These characteristics enable the dispersion of plasma into the space of Disse by convection rather than by diffusion (Schafer and Andreoli, 1986; Goresky, 1963). The fenestrae can contract under the influence of hormones and mediators (Gendrault *et al.*, 1988) (Steffan *et al.*, 1987; Wisse *et al.*, 1985); however, there is no evidence that this phenomenon significantly affects exchanges in the liver, at least in normal conditions.

It has been shown that sinusoidal EC can express most of the functions of Kupffer cells (Fahimi, 1982; Summerfield and Jones, 1986) in particular, they have high endocytotic activity (Dan and Wake, 1985; Praaning-Van Dalen *et al.*, 1981, 1987; Steffan *et al.*, 1986) and produce thromboxane and prostaglandins (Eyhorn *et al.*, 1988; Kuiper *et al.*, 1988). The role of sinusoidal EC in coagulation is unknown, but recent data suggest that they do not synthesize factor VIII (Eyhorn *et al.*, 1988) contrary to endothelial cells from other tissues.

Hepatic sinusoids contract after hepatic nerve stimulation or the administration of vasoactive hormones



FIG. 6. Diagram of the sinusoid wall and contiguous hepatocytes (HC). E, endothelial cells; KC, Kupffer cells; SD, space of Disse; SP, sieve plate composed of endothelial fenestrae; PSC, perisinusoidal cells; BC, bile canaliculus. From McCuskey, 1988a. Reprinted with permission of the author and copyright holder, Kupffer Cell Foundation, Rjswijk.

or mediators (Reilly *et al.*, 1981, 1982). The mechanism of this phenomenon is unclear, but it could be induced by the contraction of fat-storing cells rather than by EC (Burridge, 1981; Grega, 1986a; Majno *et al.*, 1969; Bioulac-Sage *et al.*, 1990).

2.4.2. Kupffer Cells (KC)

KC are macrophages fixed to EC. They protrude into the sinusoidal lumen and can move across the endothelial barrier (Figs 5 and 6). KC predominate in periportal regions and represent 80–90% of all resident macrophages in the body. KC show tremendous receptor-mediated, nonspecific endocytotic activity (Brouwer *et al.*, 1988; Dan and Wake, 1985; Kolb-Bachofen *et al.*, 1983) and play a major role in the uptake and destruction of foreign particles (mainly microorganisms and bacterial endotoxin). KC express class II major histocompatibility antigens and play a major role in the initiation of immune responses and graft rejection (Fahimi, 1982).

KC are activated by numerous agents including γ -interferon, endotoxins, platelet-activating factor (PAF), phorbol esters, zymosan and Ca²⁺ ionophore A 23187 (Dieter *et al.*, 1986). Their response includes the release of cytokines (interleukin 1, tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) (Karck *et al.*, 1988), interleukin 6 (hepatocyte stimulating factor), α and β interferon, transforming growth factor β), lipid mediators (PAF, prostaglandins and leukotrienes) (Birmelin and Decker, 1984; Brouwer *et al.*, 1988; Hagmann and Keppler, 1988; Kuiper *et al.*, 1988; Ouwendijk *et al.*, 1988; Sakagami *et al.*, 1988), oxygen-derived free

radicals (Dieter *et al.*, 1988) and, finally, lysosomal enzymes (Dieter *et al.*, 1988). The pattern of response depends on the stimulating agent. For example, the production of superoxide is induced by zymosan and phorbol myristate acetate but not by endotoxins or Ca^{2+} ionophore A 23187 (Dieter *et al.*, 1986). The production of TNF α is selectively stimulated by endotoxins (Karck *et al.*, 1988).

The factors released by activated KC may interact secondarily with the microcirculation and/or the hepatocytes inducing vasoconstriction, glucose production, synthesis of acute-phase proteins and cell necrosis. These mechanisms will be discussed in more detail later.

2.4.3. Fat-Storing Cells (FSC)

Fat-storing cells (FSC) (Ito cells, perisinusoidal cells, lipocytes) are located in the space of Disse and are sometimes inserted between adjacent hepatocytes (Figs 5 and 6) (Bioulac-Sage and Balabaud, 1985; Bioulac-Sage et al., 1988). FSC contain numerous intracytoplasmic fat droplets made up of vitamin A stored as retinyl esters (Hendriks et al., 1987). The cell body is prolonged by long processes which extend into the space of Disse surrounding endothelial cells. FSC contain a complex cytoskeleton and it has recently been shown in human liver that these cells are close to nerve endings. This suggests that FSC may contract and regulate flow in the microcirculation (Bioulac-Sage et al., 1988, 1990). FSC can synthesize and secrete collagen and other constituents of the extracellular matrix and play a major role in the development of fibrosis (Arenson et al., 1988; Gresner and Haerman, 1988). During fibrosis, FSC can transform into myofibroblasts and migrate to pericentral regions, contributing to increased intrahepatic portal resistance (see Section 4.1.4.3) (Rudolph *et al.*, 1979).

2.4.4. Pit Cells (PC)

PC are located in the sinusoidal lumen in contact with EC and KC (Figs 5 and 6). PC contain characteristic intracytoplasmic granules and rod vesicles. The morphology of PC is identical to that of NK cells. Pit cells show spontaneous cytotoxicity and may represent a defense system against tumoral and virus-infected cells (Bioulac-Sage *et al.*, 1988).

2.4.5. Space of Disse

Sinusoids are separated from hepatocytes by the space of Disse. Although optically empty, the space of Disse contains the major components of the extracellular matrix (ECM), i.e. collagens (thin bundles of type I and VI), glycosaminoglycans (80% as heparan sulfates) and glycoproteins (mainly fibronectin) (Martinez-Hernandez, 1984). Under normal conditions, there is no continuous basement membrane surrounding EC and only small amounts of collagen IV and laminin are found (Martinez-Hernandez, 1984). Interestingly, no liver-specific ECM components have been identified as yet.

The ECM plays an important role in (a) cell adhesion, (b) cell differentiation, multiplication and phenotypic expression, (c) elasticity of sinusoids and resistance against compressive forces and (d) water and solute exchange (Granger *et al.*, 1979). Glycosaminoglycans form a hydrated gel with pores which filter molecules according to their size and charge. Estimates of pore size for liver interstitium suggest equivalent pore radii of 180–280 Å (Barrowman *et al.*, 1982). The space of Disse is connected at the periphery of the lobule to the space of Mall and to liver lymphatics (Dumont, 1981).

The development of hepatic fibrosis is associated with a marked increase in the amount of collagens and other components of the EMC deposited in the space of Disse. Significant amounts of collagen type IV and laminin are synthesized and this can result in the formation of a continuous basement membrane surrounding the sinusoids (Martinez-Hernandez, 1985). It has been suggested that the development of perisinusoidal fibrosis could act as a barrier to the normal exchange of nutrients and metabolites across the Disse space (see Section 4.1.5). However, viewed from en face, the basement membrane appears more like a wide-mesh net than an impermeable barrier. It has also been proposed that fibrosis could disrupt the normal cell-matrix relationship and the phenotypic expression of cells.

3. PHYSIOLOGY OF HEPATIC MICROCIRCULATION

The hemodynamic properties of the liver microvasculature can be assessed by studying the relationship between flow and pressure (intrahepatic vascular resistance) and the relationship between vascular volume and pressure (intrahepatic vascular compliance). Another important aspect of liver microcirculation is the regulation of plasma and solute exchanges across the sinusoids. Finally, it has been recognized recently that sinusoids and their associated cells can release a variety of mediators with potent vasoactive and metabolic properties.

In the following section, these different aspects of liver microcirculation will be examined.

3.1. VASCULAR RESISTANCE

3.1.1. Theoretical Concepts

According to the Poisseuille law which applies to an ideal fluid at constant temperature in a nondistensible tube, the relationship between flow (Q) and pressure (P) is

$$Q = \frac{\Delta P \times \pi r^4}{8\eta l} \tag{1}$$

where ΔP is the pressure gradient between the extremities of the tube, r radius, l length and η viscosity.

Equation (1) indicates that flow is related to pressure by a constant:

$$\frac{\pi r^4}{8nl}$$

Therefore, the pressure-flow relationship is theoretically a linear function which intercepts with the origin. By analogy with Ohm flow, it is possible to define the resistance R arbitrarily as:

$$R = \frac{\Delta P}{Q}.$$
 (2)

Thus, R is the derivative of the function P = f(Q)and can be easily calculated from the inverse slope of the pressure-flow curve.

If we substitute Eq. (2) into Eq. (1),

$$R=\frac{8\eta l}{\pi r^4}.$$

This relationship indicates that resistance depends mainly on the radius of the vessel and more accessorily on length and viscosity.

When the pressure-flow curve does not intercept the origin, the intercept with the pressure axis is defined as the zero flow pressure or the critical closure pressure (Mitzner, 1974) (Fig. 7). This value is the pressure that would induce flow in the system. Usually, at low pressure and flow values, the pressure-flow curve becomes curvilinear towards the pressure axis. This indicates that as the pressure increases, resistance decreases. This phenomenon has been interpreted as indicating an increase in the cross-sectional area of the vessels which can result either from a passive elastic distension of all the vessels and/or an increase in the number of open parallel channels with a distribution of closing pressures. According to the latter model, the zero flow pressure corresponds to the closing pressure of the last vessel to collapse when flow stops. Mitzner (1974) has demonstrated mathematically that the intercept



FIG. 7. Idealized pressure-flow characteristic of hepatic resistance showing calculation and interpretation of pertinent resistances and pressures. $F_{ha} + F_{pv}$: hepatic arterial flow + portal venous flow: *FL*: total liver blood flow at normal sinusoid pressure (P_s). P_{hv} : hepatic venous pressure. P_c : closing pressure. P'_c : weighted arithmetic mean of all closing pressures. R_L : outflow resistance. R'_L : liver resistance taking into account the existence of a closing pressure ($R'_L = P_s - P_c/FL$). r_L : incremental resistance. Redrawn from Mitzner, 1974.

of the extrapolated linear part of the curve with the pressure axis is the weighted arithmetic mean of all closing pressures. Therefore, from the pressure-flow curve, it is theoretically possible to determine whether a vasoactive agent affects resistance and/or critical closure pressure (Greenway *et al.*, 1985).

3.1.2. Pressure-flow curve in the liver

The pressure-flow relationship in the hepatic artery is approximately linear in most studies, suggesting that autoregulation mechanisms (curvilinearity towards the flow axis, indicating an increase in resistance when flow augments) are minimal (Condon *et al.*, 1962). The intercept of the curve with the pressure axis is positive, indicating a critical closing pressure of 15-30 mm Hg according to Mitzner (1974) and approximately 40 mm Hg to Richardson and Withrington (1978).

Similarly, the pressure-flow relationship in the portal venous system is linear over the range of physiological pressure. There is no autoregulation phenomenon when pressure rises. A curvilinearity towards the pressure axis has been observed at low pressure with a positive intercept on the pressure axis indicating sinusoidal closing pressures of approximately 2-3 mm Hg *in vivo* (Condon *et al.*, 1962; Richardson and Withrington, 1978).

Brauer *et al.* (1956) have studied the pressure-flow relationship in the portal venous system in isolated rat livers perfused at constant pressure. The curve was curvilinear towards the pressure axis at perfusion pressures below 10 cm H_2O . At pressures higher than 10–12 cm H_2O , the pressure-flow curve became

JPT 47/2—J

linear. From Brauer's data it is possible to estimate a zeroflow pressure of around $2-3 \text{ cm } H_2O$ when livers are perfused with plasma and $4 \text{ cm } H_2 O$ when perfused with whole rat blood (Ht = 0.45). According to Brauer, the observed curvilinearity is consistent with a distribution of sinusoids having critical closing pressures between 2-4 and 10-12 cm H₂O which are progressively recruited as pressure increases (Brauer et al., 1956). These data are important in understanding the relationship between flow and the metabolic activity of the liver. The model predicts that the number of perfused sinusoids depends on flow and, accordingly, that variations in flow can significantly affect liver function. There are few studies to confirm these results. Very recently, using isolated rat livers perfused at constant flow with an erythrocytefree medium, Grossman and Bhatal (1989) found a critical closing pressure of 1.8 mm Hg. Curvilinearity of the pressure flow curve is thus observed at pressures far below the physiological range. Clearly more studies are needed to clarify this point.

3.1.3. Role of Resistance in the Regulation of Flow and Pressure

Flow in the hepatic artery is controlled by resistance in the arterioles. Arteriolar resistance is high, as indicated by the pressure gradient between the artery (110–120 mm Hg) and the sinusoids (1–10 mm Hg). In vivo, portal flow is not regulated by intrahepatic portal resistance but by splanchnic resistance, which controls blood flow through the splanchnic territory. Similarly, portal pressure depends mainly on portal flow and on

the compliance of the portal venous system and appears to be less affected by portal resistance, at least in physiological conditions. As indicated by the low pressure gradient between the portal vein (5-10 mm Hg) and the hepatic veins (0-1 mm Hg), portal resistance is 40–100 times lower than arterial resistance (Richardson and Withrington, 1981a).

A very interesting phenomenon in the liver is the reciprocal relationship between the hepatic artery and the portal vein (Lautt, 1977, 1981). When portal flow decreases, resistance in the hepatic artery decreases and therefore arterial flow increases. Conversely, when portal flow increases, arterial resistance decreases and flow through the hepatic artery decreases. However, according to some investigators, it is not a true reciprocal relationship since variations in hepatic arterial flow do not affect portal flow. This response has been called the "hepatic arterial buffer response" (Lautt, 1983, 1985). The mechanism that might account for this phenomenon is at present unknown. Complete extrinsic denervation does not eliminate the response, but selective adenosine antagonists have an inhibitory effect; this suggests that the mechanism could be mediated by adenosine (Ezzat and Lautt, 1987; Lautt et al., 1985). The 'buffer response' may complicate the study of vasoactive agents in hepatic circulation since the response of the hepatic artery may be secondary both to a direct effect on arterial resistance and an indirect effect on portal blood flow. This mechanism could account for the increase in hepatic arterial flow observed in cirrhosis or after portocaval shunting.

3.1.4. Regulation of Hepatic Resistance

Intrahepatic vascular resistance is regulated by numerous factors: (a) sympathetic and parasympathetic nerves through the release of neurotransmitters such as norepinephrine, ATP or acetylcholine, (b) circulating vasoactive hormones, e.g. angiotensin II, vasopressin and glucagon, (c) vasoactive mediators released by sinusoidal cells.

The effects of nervous stimulation and vasoactive agents on liver circulation *in vivo* have been extensively studied and reviewed. Most of the data have been obtained in anesthetized dogs or cats (Greenway and Stark, 1971; Lautt, 1977; Richardson and Withrington, 1981b, 1982).

The principal regulation of intrahepatic vascular resistance is by sympathetic nerves. Sympathetic stimulation by electrical stimulation of the hepatic perivascular plexus, reflex nervous activation or systemic administration of norepinephrine increases hepatic arterial resistance, portal resistance and portal pressure (Greenway et al., 1967; Lautt and Greenway, 1987; Richardson and Withrington, 1988a,b, 1981a,b, 1982). Increased portal pressure results both from the increase in portal resistance and from the reduction in the compliance of the portal territory. The effects on portal flow are less clear. The portal flow response depends mainly on the intensity of the vasoconstriction of the splanchnic territory which may vary according to experimental conditions.

The isolated perfused liver is increasingly used in studies of the effect of hepatic nerve stimulation or

vasoactive mediators on intrahepatic vascular resistance. This experimental model has many advantages over *in vivo* studies: (a) it allows the study of the intrahepatic vascular response without interference from hepatic arterial, splanchnic or systemic effects and therefore enables one to determine if vasoactive mediators have a direct effect on hepatic microcirculation, (b) it permits a direct measurement of hepatic blood flow, (c) it allows the construction of pressure-flow curves, (d) it enables the study of high concentrations of agents while avoiding systemic toxic effects; complete dose-response curves can therefore be constructed.

However, it is important to emphasize the major limitations of the model, i.e. (a) the experiments cannot usually exceed 2–3 hr because of the progressive deterioration liver function, (b) the liver is denervated, (c) it is difficult to perfuse through the artery in small animals although different systems to perfuse livers through both the hepatic artery and the portal vein have been recently reported (Ahmad *et al.*, 1984; Gardemann *et al.*, 1987; Reichen, 1987).

In the following section, we will present an overview of the data obtained with the isolated rat liver perfused through the portal vein.

3.1.4.1. Adrenergic agonists

Dose-response curve

Norepinephrine, epinephrine and phenylephrine increase intrahepatic vascular resistance in the isolated perfused rat liver. The response has been studied in different experimental conditions, i.e. constant pressure vs constant flow system, single-pass vs recirculating system, with or without erythrocytes and/or albumin in the perfusion medium. Complete dose-response curves have been obtained in only a few studies. Hems et al. (1976) have studied the effect of epinephrine in a constant pressure system containing rat erythrocytes. From the dose-response curve, it is possible to estimate a minimal effective concentration (MEC) of 3×10^{-8} M and a concentration corresponding to half-maximal effect (ED₅₀) of around 10⁻⁷ M. Grossman and Bhatal (1984) have studied the response to norepinephrine using a recirculating constant-flow system containing albumin without erythrocytes. From the dose-response curve, the MEC falls between 10^{-9} and 10^{-8} M, the ED₅₀ around 10^{-6} M and the E_{max} approximately 370% at 3×10^{-5} M.

We have studied the dose-response effect of norepinephrine and epinephrine on the isolated rat liver perfused at constant pressure with a medium containing rat whole blood diluted 1/3 in Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate buffer (Ballet *et al.*, 1988; Marteau and Ballet, unpublished data) (Table 3). The MEC, ED₅₀ and E_{max} derived from the norepinephrine dose-response curve were 10^{-9} M, 3.3×10^{-6} M and 303%, respectively. These values are similar to those obtained by Grossman and Bhatal (1984). With regard to epinephrine, the corresponding values were 10^{-8} M, 1.1×10^{-6} M and 196%. In another study, we found that portal resistance was affected by physiological doses of norepinephrine (Ballet *et al.*, 1987a). Three doses of norepinephrine were perfused and

	Clonidine	UK14304	Phenylephrine	Norepinephrine	Epinephrine
MEC (M)	4.10-7	10-7	10-6	10-9	10-8
E_{\max} (%)	63 ± 13	107 ± 20	429 ± 92	303 ± 46	196 ± 22
$ED_{50}(M)$	1.9 ± 1.4	8.3 ± 2.3	8.7 ± 2.3	3.3 ± 0.7	1.1 ± 0.3
	10-6	10^{-7}	10-6	10-6	10-6
γ	1.16 <u>+</u> 0.12	1.00 ± 0.10	1.15 ± 0.12	0.70 ± 0.07	0.70 <u>+</u> 0.04

 TABLE 3. Activity Parameters of Alpha-Adrenergic Agonists on Intrahepatic Portal Resistance in Isolated

 Perfused Normal Rat Livers

MEC: minimal effective concentration, E_{max} : maximal effect, ED₅₀: agonist concentration at $E_{max}/2$, γ : Hill coefficient.

Data from Ballet et al., 1988 and Marteau and Ballet, unpublished data.

plasma norepinephrine concentrations in the portal vein, determined by a radioenzymatic method, were 0.47 ng/ml $(2.7 \times 10^{-9} \text{ M})$, 2.14 ng/ml $(1.2 \times 10^{-8} \text{ M})$ and 10.09 ng/ml $(5.8 \times 10^{-8} \text{ M})$. The first two concentrations are at the two extremes of the physiological range (Cryer, 1980; Darlington *et al.*, 1986; Woolf *et al.*, 1988). A dose-dependent increase in resistance was observed to 8.1, 24.2 and 50.6% (Ballet *et al.*, 1987a).

It should be emphasized that in several studies, the MEC of norepinephrine was higher, ranging from 10^{-8} to 10^{-7} M (Hartmann et al., 1982), although the reasons for these discrepancies are unclear. In vivo, norepinephrine shows vasoconstrictive activity at 5×10^{-9} M in canine skeletal muscle (Hjemdahl et al., 1979) while a significant response is obtained at 10^{-9} M in smooth muscle in vitro (Bevan, 1979). However, it must be borne in mind that a decreased response to catecholamines could result from the photo-oxidation of norepinephrine in the perfusion medium. Furthermore, albumin could modify norepinephrine activity and induce a variation in the response. Finally, the production of active metabolites of norepinephrine could potentiate the response to norepinephrine in a recirculating system. In effect, Noguchi and Plaa (1970a) have shown that normetanephrine and metanephrine have vasoconstrictive properties, although their activity is 1000fold less than that of norepinephrine or epinephrine. Using a single-pass system with constant flow, we have shown that norepinephrine perfused at 10^{-8} M induces an increase in resistance similar to that obtained in a recirculating system (22% vs 24%). However, an escape phenomenon occurs in the singlepass system after 10-15 min but not in the recirculating system (Ballet and Huet, unpublished data).

Mechanism of action (Tables 4 and 5)

The effects of norepinephrine on resistance are antagonized by phentolamine, in agreement with data in the literature, showing that the response to norepinephrine is mediated through α -adrenergic receptors (Ballet *et al.*, 1987a). Propranolol has no effect on the norepinephrine dose-response curve (Ballet *et al.*, 1987a), while it significantly increases the E_{max} of the dose-response curve to epinephrine. Furthermore, after administration of propranolol, the E_{max} of epinephrine is not significantly different from that of norepinephrine (Marteau and Ballet, unpublished data). This indicates that the lower efficacy of epinephrine as compared to norepinephrine results from its β -agonist activity which tends to antagonize the α -adrenergic response. In basal conditions, i.e. without α -adrenergic stimulation, isoproterenol (a nonselective $\beta_1-\beta_2$ -agonist) and terbutaline (a selective β_2 -agonist) reduce intrahepatic resistance by 12.5 and 7.4% respectively at 10^{-5} M. This further confirms that β -adrenergic receptors exist in the hepatic microcirculation. However, isoproterenol does not significantly modify the response to norepinephrine (Marteau and Ballet, unpublished data).

Vasoconstriction induced by α -adrenergic stimulation could result from the stimulation of either α_1 or α_2 -adrenergic receptors (Langer and Hicks, 1984; Langer and Armstrong, 1984). We have shown that dose-response curve parameters of an α_1 -agonist, phenylephrine, are not significantly different from those of norepinephrine (Table 3). The α_2 -agonists clonidine and UK 14304 induce dose-dependent vasoconstriction at 10^{-7} M, i.e. in the range of α_2 adrenergic selectivity. However, the E_{max} of clonidine and UK 14304 (63 and 107% respectively) are much lower than that of phenylephrine (429%) (Table 3). Norepinephrine-induced vasoconstriction is antagonized in a dose-dependent fashion by the α_2 -antagonist yohimbine and the α_1 -antagonist prazosin. The concentrations of these two antagonists which inhibit the norepinephrine response by 50% (ID₅₀) are not significantly different (2.6 and 2.9×10^{-6} M, respectively); the same is true for the I_{max} (99 and 83%, respectively). However, the yohimbine MEC (10^{-6} M) is higher than that of prazosin (10^{-7} M) (Marteau and Ballet, unpublished data, Marteau et al., 1988b). These data show that α_2 -adrenergic receptors are present in the intrahepatic microcirculation and that they contribute to the vasoconstriction produced by norepinephrine. However, their density (E_{max}) is lower than that of α_1 -adrenoreceptors and they therefore contribute less to norepinephrine-induced vasoconstriction. This corroborates the findings by Segstro and Greenway (1986) that α_2 -adrenergic receptors mediate the contraction of hepatic blood volume induced in cats by sympathetic activation.

The effects of various classes of vasodilators on norepinephrine-induced vasoconstriction have been studied (Marteau *et al.*, 1988a): (a) α -adrenergic antagonists: ifenprodil, isoxsuprine, buflomedil, (b) a nonselective β -adrenergic antagonist: propranolol, (c) a nonselective β -adrenergic agonist: isoproterenol, (d) an α_2 -adrenergic agonist: clonidine, (e) calcium channel blockers: verapamil, diltiazem, (f) nitrovasodilators (nitroglycerine and sodium nitroprusside) and (g) other drugs with miscellaneous modes of action: papaverine, diazoxide, vincamine, cinepazide,

292

 TABLE 4. Major Vasoconstrictors of Intrahepatic Circulation and their Antagonists as Studied in the Isolated Perfused Normal

 Rat Liver

Vasoconstrictor	Vasodilators	Reference
Norepinephrine	Phentolamine	(Ballet et al., 1987a; Beckh et al.; Ji et al., 1984)
(Ballet et al., 1987a)	Prazosine	(Marteau and Ballet, unpublished data)
(Ballet et al., 1988)	Yohimbine	
(Hartmann <i>et al.</i> , 1982)	Clonidine	(Marteau et al., 1988a)
(Grossmann and Bhathal, 1984)	Itenprodil	—
(Noguchi and Plaa, 1970a)	Bufformadil	
	Nitroprusside	${(Hartmann et al. 1982)}$
	Nitroglycerine	(Harthann et al., 1962)
	Diazoxide	
	Pentoxifylline	
	Papaverine	(Hartmann et al., 1982)
Phenylephrine	Nitroprusside	(Haussinger et al., 1987a, b)
(Hill et al., 1987)	Allopurinol	(Hill and Olson, 1987)
(Beckh et al., 1984)	Cytochalasine D	(Fisher et al., 1986)
(Dieter et al., 1987a)	Phenylarsine oxide	(Steinhelper and Olson, 1988a)
(Haussinger et al., 1987b)		(Steinhelper and Olson, 1988b)
Epinephrine	Prazosine	(Mendlovic et al., 1984)
(Mendlovic et al., 1984)	NDGA	_
(Hems et al., 1976)	BPB	
Sympathetic stimulation	Phentolamine	(Hartmann et al., 1982)
	Prazosine	(Puschel et al., 1987)
(Hartmann et al., 1982)	Ca ²⁺ depletion	(Hartmann et al., 1982)
(Haussinger et al., 1987b)	Nifedipine	(Iwai et al., 1988a)
	Indomethacin	(Iwai and Jungermann, 1987)
	BPB	(II
	Nitroprusside	(Harimann <i>et al.</i> , 1982) (Haussinger <i>et al.</i> , 1987b)
		(Haussinger et al. $1987a$)
	Papaverine	(Hartmann et al. 1982)
АТР	Ca^{2+} depletion	(Buxton <i>et al.</i> 1986c)
(Buxton <i>et al.</i> , 1986c)	Nitroprusside + papaverine	(Haussinger <i>et al.</i> , 1987a)
(Haussinger <i>et al.</i> , 1987a)	Indomethacin	(Iwai and Jungermann, 1987)
		(Haussinger and Stehle, 1988)
	NDGA	(Iwai and Jungermann, 1987)
	BPB	
	TXA ₂ antagonist (BM 13177)	(Haussinger and Stehle, 1988)
	Phenylarsine oxide	(Buxton <i>et al.</i> , 1986c)
UTP		
(Haussinger et al., 1987a)	Indomethacin	(Haussinger et al., 1988b)
(Noguchi and Plaa, 1970b)	TXA_2 antagonist (BM 13177)	(Haussinger and Stehle, et al., 1988)
(Haussinger et al., 1988)	Papaverine	(Haussinger et al., 1987a)
Adenosine	Ca ²⁺ depletion	(Haussinger et al., 1988b)
	T 1 1 1	(Buxton <i>et al.</i> , 1987b)
(Buxton <i>et al.</i> , 19876)	Indomethacin Dhamalthaan halling	
	Phenylarsing oxide	(Stainhalmer and Olean, 1989b)
Arashidaria asid	Indemethosin	(Dieter et $al = 1087$ a)
(Dieter $at al = 1087a$)	maomethacm	(Dieter et al., 1987a)
	DAE onto-onista	(Busiter et al. 1086b)
rar	(11 66085 CV 2088)	(Buxton <i>et al.</i> , 19866)
(Buyton et al. 1984a)	Indomethacin	(Mendlovic et al. 1984)
(Buxton et al., 1986a)	medinemaeni	(Altin et al., 1987)
(Mendlovic <i>et al.</i> , 1984)	NDGA	(Mendlovic <i>et al.</i> , 1984)
	BPB	(Altin et al., 1987)
	Ca ²⁺ depletion	(Buxton et al., 1984a)
	Verapamil	
	Isoproterenol	(Fisher et al., 1986)
	Allopurinol	(Hill and Olson, 1987)
	Phenylarsine oxide	(Steinhelper and Olson, 1988b)
PGE ₂		
(Tran-Thi et al., 1988a)		
(Buxton <i>et al.</i> , 1987a)	Phenylarsine oxide	(Steinhelper and Olson, 1988b)
(Haussinger et al., 1987c)		
(Alun and Bygrave, 1988) (Maran et al. 1986)		
(Iwai et al = 1988c)		
(

TABLE 4—Continued

Vasoconstrictor	Vasodilators	Reference
PGF _{2z} (Iwai and Jungermann, 1988a) (Haussinger <i>et al.</i> , 1987c) (Altin and Bygrave, 1988a) (Iwai <i>et al.</i> , 1988c)	Nifedipine	(Iwai <i>et al.</i> , 1988a)
TXA ₂ analogs		
(Fisher <i>et al.</i> , 1987) (Iwai and Jungermann, 1988) (Haussinger <i>et al.</i> , 1988b) (Altin <i>et al.</i> , 1988a) (Haussinger <i>et al.</i> , 1988a)	Ca ²⁺ depletion TXA ₂ antagonist (BM 13177) (SQ 29548) Nitroprusside Phenylarsine oxide	(Fisher et al., 1987) (Haussinger et al., 1988a) (Fisher et al., 1987) (Haussinger and Stehle, 1988) (Steinhelper and Olson, 1988b)
LTC ₄	LTC ₄ /D ₄ antagonists (CCP 35949 B)	(Iwai and Jungermann, 1988a)
LTD ₄ (Iwai and Jungermann, 1988)	(LY 1711883)	(Haussinger et al., 1988a)
(Haussinger et al., 1988a)	Nitroprusside	(Haussinger and Stehle, 1988)
PMA		
(Tran-Thi <i>et al.</i> , 1988a)	Ca ²⁺ depletion	(Tran-Thi et al., 1988a)
(Patel, 1987) (Tran-Thi <i>et al.</i> , 1988b)	TXA ₂ antagonist (BM 13177) TXA ₂ biosynthesis inhibitor (GS13084)	(Tran-Thi et al., 1988b) —
Zymosan		
(Dieter et al., 1987a)	Indomethacin NDGA BPB	(Dieter <i>et al.</i> , 1987a)
Heat-aggregated IgG		
(Buxton et al., 1987a)	Ca ²⁺ depletion Indomethacin Phenylarsine oxide	(Buxton et al., 1987a) — (Steinhelper and Olson, 1988a, b)
Complement C3A fraction (Puschel et al., 1989)	TXA, antagonist (BM 13505)	(Puschel $et al. 1989$)
KCl	17112 antagonist (Divi 15505)	(1 use (1 o c t ut 1707))
(Hill and Olson, 1987) (Hill <i>et al.</i> , 1987)	Allopurinol Phenylarsine oxide	(Hill and Olson, 1987) (Steinhelper and Olson, 1988b)

naftidofuryl and pentoxifylline. The most potent drugs were ifenprodil, phentolamine, isoxsuprine, clonidine, sodium nitroprusside and buflomedil. Diazoxide, papaverine, pentoxifylline and trinitrine were effective to a lesser degree, while verapamil, diltiazem, propranolol, isoproterenol, vincamine, cinepazide and naphtidofuryl were ineffective.

The effect of clonidine could be related to its partial agonist activity on postsynaptic α_2 -adrenergic receptors. Pentoxifylline is known to have rheological properties. However, at the low hematocrit level used in the study (15%), this effect was probably small. The lack of effect of naphtidofuryl may be explained by its predominant effect as a serotonin type 2-receptor agonist. An interesting finding was the lack of effect of calcium antagonists, whereas sodium nitroprusside was effective. The inhibitory effect of sodium nitroprusside on the α -adrenergic response has been confirmed in other studies (Hartmann et al., 1982; Haussinger et al., 1987a,b). Norepinephrine-induced contraction of the isolated portal vein of the rat in vitro has been shown to be inhibited by calcium channel blockers but not by sodium nitroprusside (Jetley and Weston, 1980). This indicates that the functional properties of intrahepatic portal vessels differ from those of the extrahepatic portal vein.

It should not be inferred from these data that Ca^{2+} channels are lacking in the hepatic microcirculation.

Calcium channel blockers are thought to inhibit voltage-dependent Ca2+ channels and these are not activated by norepinephrine (Cauvin and Van Breeman, 1987; Godfrind, 1988; Kamp and Miller, 1987; Van Zwieten and Timmermans, 1988). However, it has been shown recently that, at least in some experimental systems, Ca2+ channel blockers can also inhibit receptor-dependent Ca2+ channels, particularly after α_2 -agonist stimulation (Cauvin *et al.*, 1988). Thus, the inefficiency of Ca²⁺ channel blockers suggests that receptor-dependent Ca²⁺ channels are not involved in the norepinephrine-induced vasoconstriction of the hepatic microcirculation and that other mechanisms may occur, e.g. Ca²⁺ mobilization from the intracellular pools or activation of protein kinase C (Exton, 1985, 1986, 1988; Rasmunsen, 1986a,b). The presence of voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channels in the hepatic microcirculation is suggested by the vasoconstriction induced by potassium chloride at high concentrations (50 mm) in the isolated perfused rat liver. However, there are some discrepancies in the response of KCl-induced vasoconstriction to Ca²⁺ antagonists. In the study of Taylor et al. (1985), verapamil (4 μ M) and diltiazem (50 μ M) were ineffective, while nifedipine $(2 \mu M)$ showed significant activity. In the study of Hill and colleagues (Hill et al., 1987b), verapamil (50 μ M) and cobalt chloride had significant activity while nifedipine (10 nM and $1 \mu M$) was ineffective. As discussed further KCl-induced

Vasoconstrictor	asoconstrictor Inactive agents	
Norepinephrine	Propranolol	(Ballet et al., 1987a)
	Isoproterenol	(Marteau et al., 1988a)
	Verapamil Diltiazem	
	Indomethacine	(Iwai and Jungermann, 1988a)
	NDGA	(Iwai and Jungermann, 1988a)
	CGB 35949 B (LTC4/D4 antag)	(Iwai and Jungermann, 1989)
	Hexamethonium	(Noguchi and Piaa, 1970a)
	Nicotine	_
	Pyribenzamine	_
	Promethazine	- (Martanu at al. 1988a)
	Cinepazide	(markaŭ er ur., 1966a)
	Naphtidofuryl	
	Glucagon	(Ballet, unpublished data)
	Somatostatin	(Ballet, unpublished data)
Phenylephrine	Indomethacin	(Dieter <i>et al.</i> , 1987a)
	NDGA	<u> </u>
	BPB TXA antagonist (SO 20548)	(Eiseber $at al = 1087$)
Epinephrine	Indomethacin	(Mendlovic <i>et al.</i> , 1987)
F F F F	Atropine	(Noguchi and Plaa, 1970a)
	Hexamethonium	
	Quabaïne	
	Nicotine	_
	Pyribenzamine	
Sympathetic activation	Propranolol Ca^{2+} depletion	(Hartmann <i>et al.</i> , 1982) (Haussinger <i>et al.</i> , 1987b)
	NDGA	(Iwai and Jungermann, 1987)
	CGB 35949 B (LTC4/D4 antag)	(Iwai and Jungermann, 1989)
	Atropine	(Hartmann <i>et al.</i> , 1982)
	Glucagon Insulin	(Beckh <i>et al.</i> , 1982)
ATP	Ca^{2+} depletion	(Haussinger et al., 1987a)
	Isoproterenol	(Noguchi and Plaa, 1970b)
	Atropine	(Noguchi and Plaa, 1970b)
	Dibenzyline	
	Promethazine	<u> </u>
מידו	Pyribenzamine	-
UIP	Nitroprusside	(Haussinger <i>et al.</i> , 1987a)
	Nitroprusside + papaverine	_
	Isoproterenol	(Noguchi and Plaa, 1970b)
	Atropine	
	Dibenzyline	
	Promethazine	—
Adenosine	Pirybenzamine	(Buyton 1988)
Arachidonic acid	NDGA	(Dieter <i>et al.</i> , 1987a)
	BPB	
PAF	TXA ₂ antagonist (SQ 29548)	(Fischer et al., 1987)
	Nitroglycerin	(Fischer <i>et al.</i> , 1986)
	5-hydroxytryptophane	_
PGE ₂	Ca^{2+} depletion	(Altin <i>et al.</i> , 1988a)
	Ca^{-1} depletion TXA ₂ antagonist (BM 13505)	(Ann <i>et al.</i> , 1988a) (Iwai and Jungermann 1989)
	Nifedipine	
TV A and	Indomethacine	
$I X A_2$ analogs PMA	Phentolamine Nitroprusside	(Fisher <i>et al.</i> , 1987) (Patel 1987)
A 1741 B	Indomethacin	— (1 a.c., 1707)
Zymosan	Superoxide dismutase	(Dieter et al., 1987a)
	Catalase	

 TABLE 5. Ineffective Antagonists on Intrahepatic Vasoconstriction Induced by Different Agonists as

 Studied in the Isolated Perfused Normal Rat Liver

vasoconstriction may result from the release of vasoactive mediators by sinusoidal cells, particularly Kupffer cells.

Interestingly, it has been shown in the isolated perfused kidney that norepinephrine-induced vasoconstriction is not inhibited by diltiazem, nitrendipine or nisoldipine while these agents completely antagonize KCl-induced vasoconstriction (Loutsenhiser and Epstein, 1985, 1988).

Other mechanisms may be involved in α -agonistinduced vasoconstriction. It has been demonstrated recently that intrahepatic vasoconstriction induced by phenylephrine at concentrations between 10^{-6} and 10^{-5} M is antagonized by phenylarsine oxide $(10 \,\mu$ M), a trivalent arsenical derivative that complexes vicinal thiols and inhibits vesicular transport (Steinhelper and Olson, 1988a,b). The effect of phenylarsine oxide was demonstrated at low concentrations that do not affect energetic metabolism or oxygen consumption. This suggests that the inhibition of the cellular processes which depend on vesicular transport, such as receptor-mediated endocytosis, could affect α -agonist-induced vasoactive responses.

Recently, Hill and Olson (1987) have shown that allopurinol $(5 \mu M)$, a xanthine oxidase inhibitor, is able to antagonize KCl (50 mM) and phenylephrine (10 μ M)-induced liver vasoconstriction. In preliminary experiments, we have found that allopurinol is able to inhibit norepinephrine-induced vasoconstriction $(5 \times 10^{-8} \text{ M})$ (Chazouillères and Ballet, unpublished data). However, the effect was obtained at a high allopurinol concentration $(1-5 \times 10^{-3} \text{ M})$. These data have been interpreted as suggesting that oxygenderived free radicals produced by xanthine oxidase could in part mediate vasoconstriction (Hill and Olson, 1987). Xanthine oxidase might be activated during vasoconstriction via an 'ischemia-reperfusion' mechanism, although this remains to be demonstrated. However, at high concentrations, allopurinol also has significant free radical scavenger properties; it could therefore inactivate free radicals generated by other systems than xanthine oxidase, e.g. by autoxidation of catecholamines.

Sympathetic hepatic nerves (Tables 4 and 5)

The response to sympathetic stimulation has been extensively studied in the isolated perfused rat liver by the group of Jungermann in Göttingen (Ballé and Jungermann, 1986; Ballé *et al.*, 1987; Beckh *et al.*, 1984; Beuers *et al.*, 1986; Ji *et al.*, 1984; Puschel *et al.*, 1987; Sannemann *et al.*, 1986). Bipolar platinum electrodes were placed around both the portal vein and hepatic artery and nerve stimulation was performed by applying rectangular monophasic impulses. Nerve stimulation increased intrahepatic vascular resistance, i.e. increased pressure at constant flow and decreased flow at constant pressure. The response was maximal 2–3 min after the stimulation and then decreased even when stimulation was maintained indicating an escape phenomenon.

Gardemann *et al.* (1987) have studied the effect of a separate stimulation of the arterial and venous portal plexus on arterial and portal resistance. Stimulation of the arterial plexus increases both portal and arte-

rial resistance and the response was stronger after portal stimulation. This reflects the higher density of the arterial nervous plexus. Interestingly, the responses obtained after joint portal and arterial stimulation did not differ significantly when the liver was perfused through the portal vein alone or through both the portal vein and hepatic artery.

Vasoconstriction induced by nervous stimulation is antagonized by phentolamine $(20 \ \mu M)$ and prazosin $(0.1 \ \mu M)$, while propranolol $(10 \ \mu M)$ and atropine $(10 \ \mu M)$ are ineffective. These results show that the vascular response is mediated through α_1 -adrenergic receptors and that hepatic cholinergic nerves do not influence significantly the sympathetic vascular response. This latter is inhibited when the extracellular Ca²⁺ level is lowered to 0.3 mM. However, it should be emphasized that in these conditions norepinephrine release can also be supressed. Papaverine $(1 \ mM)$ and sodium nitroprusside $(10 \ \mu M)$ also significantly inhibit the vascular sympathetic response (Table 5).

3.1.4.2. Circulating vasoactive hormones. A number of circulating vasoactive hormones have been shown to modulate intrahepatic portal resistance (reviewed in Richardson and Withrington, 1981b). In the isolated perfused rat liver, we have shown that angiotensin II significantly increases portal resistance (Ballet *et al.*, 1988; Hems *et al.*, 1976). However, dose-response curves to angiotensin II are bell-shaped suggesting an escape phenomenon. Vasopressin also increases intrahepatic resistance but the E_{max} is 10-fold lower than with angiotensin II (Ballet *et al.*, 1988; Hems *et al.*, 1976).

3.1.4.3. Autacoid mediators (Tables 4 and 5). In this section, we will examine the effects of a series of agents which elicit a vasoconstriction via mediators released by sinusoidal cells.

Platelet-activating factor (PAF)

Platelet-activating factor (PAF) is an alkyl phospholipid produced by and acting on a variety of cell types including neutrophils, eosinophils, monocytes, macrophages, platelets and endothelial cells. PAF exhibits a broad spectrum of biological effects. In addition to being a potent activator of platelets and leucocytes, it induces smooth muscle contraction and dramatically increases vascular permeability. PAF has been implicated in several pathological processes, including inflammation and ischemia (Braquet *et al.*, 1987).

In 1984, Mendlovic *et al.*, showed that PAF induces vasoconstriction in the isolated perfused rat liver. This effect was inhibited both by bromophenacyl bromide (**BPB**), a phospholipase A_2 inhibitor and indomethacine, a cyclo-oxygenase inhibitor, and was significantly reduced by nordihydroguaiaretic acid (NDGA), a 5-lipooxygenase inhibitor. These data were subsequently confirmed by others (Altin *et al.*, 1987; Buxton *et al.*, 1986a,b). These results suggest that PAF-induced vasoconstriction might be mediated by prostaglandins and/or leukotrienes formed from arachidonic acid and released by sinusoidal cells. Indeed, *in vitro* studies have

shown that PAF stimulates PGE_2 production by rat Kupffer cells. PAF alone does not appear to stimulate cysteinyl leukotriene production by Kupffer cells; however, it significantly potentiates the secretion of cysteinyl leukotrienes elicited by Ca²⁺ ionophore AA 23187 (Sakagami *et al.*, 1988).

Agents stimulating Kupffer cells

Subsequently, it was shown that a variety of agents known to stimulate Kupffer cells *in vitro* can induce vasoconstriction in the isolated perfused rat liver.

Phorbol myristate acetate (PMA), (Patel, 1987; Tran Thi et al., 1988a,b), zymosan, (Dieter et al., 1987a), heat-aggregated IgG, (Buxton et al., 1987b), and complement C3a fraction (Puschel et al., 1989) increase intrahepatic vascular resistance in the isolated perfused rat liver. The responses elicited by these agents are suppressed by inhibitors of the biosynthesis and antagonists of prostaglandins, thromboxanes and/or leukotrienes. The response to PMA is inhibited by TXA₂ antagonists BM 13177 and CGS 13084 (Tran Thi et al., 1988b). Vasoconstriction induced by heat-aggregated IgG is inhibited by indomethacin (Buxton et al., 1987a). The response to zymosan is significantly reduced by BPB, indomethacin and NDGA (Dieter et al., 1987a). Recently, responses to C3a have been shown to be suppressed by the TXA₂ antagonist BM 13177 (Puschel et al., 1989). The data suggest that intrahepatic vasoconstriction induced by these agents, which are wellknown activators of macrophages, could result from the secondary release of eicosanoids. In effect, it has been demonstrated that these agents stimulate PGE₂ and PGD₂ production by Kupffer cells in vitro (see Section 2.4.2.) while PMA has been shown to induce the production of PGD₂, PGE₂ and TXA₂ by the isolated perfused rat liver (Tran Thi et al., 1988a,b). Furthermore PGE_2 , PGF_{2n} and TXA_2 analogs are vasoconstrictors in the isolated perfused rat liver while PGE₁, PGD₂ and PGI₂ do not significantly affect intrahepatic vascular resistance in basal conditions (Altin and Bygrave, 1988a,b; Haussinger et al., 1987c; Iwai et al., 1988a; Meren et al., 1986; Fisher et al., 1987). The cysteinyl leukotrienes LTC₄ and LTD₄ also have potent vasoconstrictive properties, while LTE_4 and LTB_4 are inactive (Iwai and Jungermann, 1988; Iwai et al., 1988b). Of all the mediators studied, TXA₂ appears to be the most potent.

There is evidence that the response to eicosanoids involves intracellular Ca^{2+} mobilization. The response to prostaglandins characteristically consists of a brief and transient mobilization of intracellular Ca^{2+} (Haussinger *et al.*, 1987c) which resembles that obtained with α -adrenergic agonists and sympathetic stimulation (Haussinger *et al.*, 1987b), while the response to thromboxanes and leukotrienes consists of a slow and prolonged mobilization of intracellular Ca^{2+} (Haussinger *et al.*, 1987a; Haussinger, 1989).

In conclusion, these findings indicate that eicosanoids produced by sinusoidal cells play an important role in the regulation of hepatic microcirculation. This concept could have major implications in inflammatory conditions characterized by an increased production of eicosanoids and other lipid mediators. This will be discussed later.

Sympathetic stimulation, norepinephrine and ATP

By analogy, it has been suggested that the vasoconstriction induced by adrenergic agonists could also depend on the secondary release of autacoids. Mendlovic et al. (1984) have shown in the isolated perfused rat liver that vasoconstriction induced by epinephrine (10^{-5} M) in the presence of propranolol $(10^{-5} M)$ is inhibited by NDGA and BPB, while indomethacin is inactive. Subsequently, Dieter and colleagues (Dieter et al., 1987a) reported that NDGA, BPB and indomethacin do not modify the response to phenylephrine $(2 \mu M)$. Iwai and Jungermann (1987) found that BPB has a weak inhibitory effect on the vasoconstriction induced by $1 \,\mu M$ norepinephrine and that BPB and indomethacine are ineffective. The reason for these discrepancies are unclear but could be related to different experimental conditions. However, the overall data suggest that the response to adrenergic agonists is not mediated by eicosanoids.

The situation is different after sympathetic activation. In effect, indomethacin and BPB significantly inhibit vasoconstriction induced by sympathetic stimulation, whereas NDGA is inactive (Iwai and Jungermann, 1987). This suggests that the effect of sympathetic stimulation could be mediated at least in part by prostaglandins and/or thromboxane released secondarily from sinusoidal cells. This hypothesis has recently been supported by the finding that sympathetic stimulation elicits PGE_2 release by the liver (Tran Thi *et al.*, 1988c).

ATP is stored at high concentrations, associated with norepinephrine, in vesicles of the varicosities of terminal sympathetic fibers (Burnstock, 1985). ATP is liberated along with norepinephrine by exocytosis when sympathetic nerves are stimulated. Therefore, it has been suggested that the response to sympathetic stimulation could be mediated or modulated by ATP (Burnstock, 1988). ATP can also be released by platelets under the influence of a variety of mediators, several of which are produced during inflammation.

ATP induces vasoconstriction in the isolated perfused rat liver (Buxton *et al.*, 1986c). There is evidence indicating that the response to ATP is mediated via purinergic P_2 receptors present on smooth muscle and involves an intracellular Ca²⁺ pool identical to that mobilized by norepinephrine, prostaglandins and other Ca²⁺-mobilizing hormones (Haussinger *et al.*, 1987a; Haussinger, 1989). However, ATPinduced vasoconstriction is inhibited by BPB, indomethacine, the TXA₂ inhibitor BM 13177 and NDGA, suggesting that the effects of ATP on hepatic microcirculation could be mediated, at least in part, by eicosanoids released by sinusoidal cells.

UTP is a more potent hepatic vasoconstrictor than ATP (Haussinger *et al.*, 1987b). Interestingly, it has been shown that the response to UTP is mediated by a pyriminidergic receptor which differs from the P_2 receptor (Haussinger, 1989; Von Kugelgen *et al.*, 1987). Furthermore effects of UTP on Ca²⁺ fluxes are different from those of ATP but similar to those observed with cysteinyl-leukotrienes or TXA_2 analogs (Haussinger *et al.*, 1987a). In addition, UTPinduced vasoconstriction is inhibited by indomethacin and BM 13177. Lastly, ATP and UTP both elicit PGE₂, PGD₂ and TXA₂ release by the isolated perfused rat liver (Haussinger *et al.*, 1988a; Tran-Thi *et al.*, 1988c). All these findings suggest that the effects of ATP and UTP on hepatic microcirculation are mediated, in part, directly via their specific receptor on smooth muscle and partly by eicosanoids liberated from sinusoidal cells.

3.1.5. Location of Intrahepatic Portal Resistance

The location of portal resistance in basal conditions and under the influence of vasoactive agonists is unknown. It is important to emphasize that the site(s) of resistance may be different in basal conditions and after stimulation. Furthermore, the location may change according to the stimulating agent. Using microscopic methods in rats, Reilly et al. (1981, 1982) have demonstrated that all components of the microvasculature, including sinusoids and central venules, are able to constrict in response to agonist stimulation. However, direct measurement of pressure in the microcirculation in basal conditions indicates that, in the rat, most of the resistance is located in the portal venules, i.e. is presinusoidal (Nakata et al., 1960). The increased sinusoidal volume during retrograde as compared to anterograde perfusion of rat livers also supports the hypothesis that maximum resistance to perfusate flow is located at the presinusoidal level (Bass et al., 1989). In dogs and cats, a recent study suggests that, in basal conditions, the major resistance site is postsinusoidal in the hepatic veins (Lautt et al., 1986; Legare and Lautt, 1986). However after adrenergic stimulation, a presinusoidal component is observed (Lautt and Liegare, 1987; Lautt et al., 1987).

3.2. HEPATIC BLOOD VOLUME

Another important function of liver circulation is its role as a blood reservoir. This subject has been reviewed extensively and will be discussed only briefly (see Bennett and Rothe, 1981; Donald, 1981; Rothe, 1983, 1984).

The splanchnic vascular bed contains 35–40% of the circulating blood volume and is therefore the major blood reservoir. In dogs and cats, the spleen is an important component while in humans the intestine and the liver play the major role (Greenway, 1983).

Hepatic blood volume can be measured by means of plethysmography (Greenway, 1979). From volume-pressure curves, the compliance of the intrahepatic circulation can be estimated (Rothe, 1983, 1984). Hepatic blood volume has been estimated to range between 0.15–0.3 ml/g liver, i.e. approximately 10% of the circulating blood volume (Greenway, 1983). The hepatic vascular bed is highly compliant, as shown by the steep linear volume-pressure relationship. 30–40% of hepatic blood can be expelled into the systemic circulation after sympathetic nerve stimulation. This represents a major reflex mechanism to compensate for hypovolemia and to maintain cardiovascular homeostasis. Hepatic blood mobilization by the hepatic vascular bed is not a passive elastic phenomenon due to a decrease in portal pressure and/or portal flow but results from active venoconstriction. This occurs via a change in the unstressed volume (i.e. the volume at zeroflow pressure) but not the compliance of the system (the slope of the pressure-volume curve) (Greenway *et al.*, 1985, 1986a,b; Greenway, 1987).

3.3. FLUID AND SOLUTE EXCHANGES ACROSS THE SINUSOIDS

3.3.1. Control of Exchanges across the Sinusoids

It is generally agreed that vasoactive mediators control transvascular exchange of fluids and solutes (a) by regulating the number of open capillaries, (b) by modifying the permeability-surface product (PS) of individual capillaries and (c) by changing capillary hydrostatic pressure (Crone, 1986; Granger and Barrowman, 1983; Granger *et al.*, 1983).

By contracting portal venules and/or presinusoidal 'sphincters' and/or sinusoids, vasoactive mediators can reduce the number of perfused sinusoids and consequently the number of functioning hepatocytes. It is important to emphasize that vasoactive mediators could modify the number of perfused sinusoids without changing their critical closing pressure, only by changing liver blood flow. Accordingly, a reduction in liver blood flow could lead to a 'derecruitment' of sinusoids. However, as stated previously, it is not clear that this phenomenon can occur in normal conditions in the physiological range of liver blood flow values. Vasoactive mediators could also contract sinusoids without changing the number of perfused channels. However, it is unlikely that a reduction in the surface of sinusoids would significantly affect exchanges across the endothelial barrier inasmuch as sinusoids are perforated by large fenestrations and do not show significant resistance to dispersion (Goresky et al., 1970). However, it is possible that a marked contraction of endothelial fenestrae could restrict the movement of macromolecules. In the most extreme situation, where the fenestrae are completely closed, the dispersion of molecules into the space of Disse would change from flow-limited to diffusion-limited conditions (Schafer and Andreoli, 1986; Goresky et al., 1970). A change in sinusoidal hydrostatic pressure is unlikely to significantly affect exchanges across sinusoids since their permeability is infinitely high and sinusoidal pressure is identical to interstitial pressure. Any change in hydrostatic pressure would be transmitted to the surface of the hepatocytes and would directly affect lymphatic flow.

It should be emphasized that the effects of vasoactive mediators on capillary exchanges cannot be inferred from changes in vascular resistance. For example, in skeletal muscle, norepinephrine increases resistance and concomitantly augments the capillary filtration coefficient and O_2 extraction (Harper *et al.*, 1985). On the other hand, in the intestine, norepinephrine increases resistance, whereas the capillary filtration coefficient and O_2 extraction decrease significantly (Harper *et al.*, 1985; Richardson, 1984). This indicates clearly that resistance and capillary exchanges are regulated separately.

3.3.2. Effect of Sympathetic Stimulation and/or Adrenergic Agents on Exchanges across Sinuosids

A variety of methods have been used to study the effects of sympathetic stimulation and/or adrenergic agents on exchanges across sinusoids.

Methods based on the study of intrahepatic distribution of dyes or contrast medium have shown that sympathetic stimulation or norepinephrine administration cause a 'redistribution' of flow or a 'restricted' circulation, i.e. a strong reduction in flow accompanied by a possible closure of vessels in peripheral vs central regions of the liver (Daniel and Pritchard, 1951; Pritchard and Daniel, 1952). However, it should be noted that these methods show only gross variations in intrahepatic vascular volumes and do not rule out the possibility that contracted vessels are still perfused. A continuing uniform distribution of labeled 15 μ m microspheres injected via the hepatic artery or the portal vein in cats and dogs under these conditions suggests that large areas of exclusion are not present (Greenway and Oshiro, 1972). However, it remains possible that smaller areas of vascular collapse, undetectable with the microsphere technique, are present. Transillumination studies of the rat liver have shown that all parts of the microcirculation can contract under the influence of adrenergic agonists (Reilly et al., 1981). In one study, no closure of the sinusoids was seen (Koo et al., 1977). However, as stated previously, such studies are limited to the surface and edge of the liver where hepatic arterioles do not usually terminate.

Measurements of tissue flow and pO_2 with miniature probes positioned on the liver surface show that norepinephrine shifts flow and pO_2 distribution curves to the left. However, no zero-flow or pO_2 values are recorded, again suggesting that no closure of sinusoids occurs (Kessler *et al.*, 1978, 1986).

The capillary filtration coefficient (LpS) can be estimated from the fluid filtering across the surface of the liver and accumulating in a plethysmograph during raised venous pressure (Greenway, 1981). In one study in cats, LpS was not significantly modified by epinephrine. However, Greenway (1981) has shown that sympathetic stimulation decreases LpS when venous pressure is varied over the physiological range. This suggests that sympathetic stimulation impairs filtration across sinusoids but does not elucidate the mechanism of the reduction.

The vectorial transport and metabolism of substrates eliminated by the liver is determined by the number and permeability of perfused sinusoids. Therefore, the study of substrate elimination provides information about the constraints exerted by vasoactive agents on liver microcirculation. More than 30 years ago, Brauer (1958) showed in the isolated rat liver perfused at constant pressure, that the infusion of epinephrine results in progressive decreases in blood flow with no evidence of increased CrPO₄ colloid extraction which accompanies similar flow changes brought about by decreasing perfusion pressure. This indicated that epinephrine reduces the elimination efficiency of the liver. These findings were interpreted as being due to a decrease in the number of perfused sinusoids as well as to a reduction in vessel lumen.

Since that time, there have been few attempts to confirm these important findings. Boobis and Powis (1974) have shown that norepinephrine significantly decreases the rate of elimination of hexobarbitone in the isolated rat liver perfused at constant flow. As norepinephrine did not modify hexobarbitone metabolism in liver slices or microsomes, the data were interpreted as being due to an effect on liver microcirculation. Recently, we examined this subject in detail by studying the effect of norepinephrine on portal blood flow, hepatic extraction and the intrinsic clearance of taurocholate, the major bile acid in the rat (Ballet et al., 1987a). Intrinsic clearance is a flow-independent constant reflecting the maximal ability of the liver to remove substrates from the circulation. We found that norepinephrine induced a dose-dependent reduction in portal blood flow and a concomitant dose-dependent decrease in intrinsic taurocholate clearance. Interestingly, the effects of norepinephrine were significant in the physiological range of concentrations $(2 \times 10^{-9} \text{ and } 10^{-8} \text{ M})$. The data showed that norepinephrine impaired the vectorial transport of taurocholate from plasma to bile. These findings suggest that the reduction in taurocholate transport could result from vasoconstriction of the hepatic microvasculature. However, a direct effect on cellular transport was not ruled out. Very recently, Akerboom et al. (1987) have shown that Ca2+ ionophore A 23187 also induces vasoconstriction and a significant reduction in hepatic taurocholate transport. The impairment of taurocholate transport was corrected, in part by papaverine, suggesting again that it could have been secondary to vasoconstriction of the hepatic microvasculature.

Recently, we have used the multiple indicator dilution technique to study the effect of vasoactive agents on liver microcirculation (Ballet et al., 1987b). The technique consists of injecting vascular and extravascular reference tracers into the portal vein together with the substrate subjected to extraction. Labeled erythrocytes are confined to the vascular space (vascular reference) and plasma dissolved labeled substances gain access to the extravascular space (space of Disse and hepatocytes) through the fenestrae of endothelial cells: albumin (MW 69,000) and sucrose (MW 342) diffuse in extracellular spaces that are inversely related to their molecular weight and water diffuses in the cellular space. This produces a major delay in, and a decrease in the magnitude of, the labeled albumin, sucrose and water dilution curve recovered at the outflow with respect to that of labeled erythrocytes, which can be analyzed using the flow-limited model of Goresky (1963). Extravascular volumes can be calculated from the displacement of the outflow curves in relation to that of erythrocytes (peak-time method) or more directly from the differences in the mean transit times (transit-time method). The latter method will be accurate, even in a system with reduced permeability, as long as all the tracer is recovered at the outflow. Furthermore, from the dilution curve of tracers sequestrated intracellularly such as taurocholate, it is possible to estimate the

three unidirectional rate constants (influx, efflux and excretion into bile) using the three-compartment elimination model developed by Goresky (Goresky and Bach, 1970).

This technique was used to study the effect of norepinephrine in the isolated rat liver perfused at a constant flow rate (Ballet et al., 1987b). Norepinephrine was administered at a concentration of 10^{-8} M which can be reached during maximal stress (Cryer, 1980). Norepinephrine increased portal pressure and decreased sinusoidal volume, reflecting a vasoconstriction of liver microcirculation. In spite of these modifications, the interstitial space of albumin and sucrose was not modified and the cellular water space was slightly increased. Concomitantly, norepinephrine significantly reduced taurocholate extraction and the influx rate constant k_1 . The data therefore indicate that, in spite of its vasoconstrictive properties on hepatic microcirculation, norepinephrine did not close the sinusoids. Indeed, closure would have reduced concurrently the vascular and extravascular volumes.

Furthermore, extravascular volumes calculated according to the transit-time method (a modelindependent approach) do not differ significantly from those calculated according to the peak-time method (a model-dependent approach). This suggests that norepinephrine does not create a diffusional resistance across the endothelial cells. Thus, norepinephrine was unable to impair the dispersion of albumin and albumin-bound substrates such as taurocholate in the space of Disse. The reduction in taurocholate extraction was not the consequence of vasoconstriction but a specific effect of norepinephrine on the cellular uptake of taurocholate.

These findings are in agreement with those obtained *in vivo* by Cousineau *et al.* (1983, 1985) and Goresky *et al.* (1986), after the administration of norepinephrine or reflex sympathetic activation in dogs, i.e. a decrease in sinusoidal volume with no change in the water cellular space. Data concerning the interstitial sucrose space were less reproducible, possibly due to changes in liver blood flow. However, the above data are in discrepancy with those of Reichen *et al.* (1987c) who have recently shown in the isolated perfused rat liver that norepinephrine decreases both vascular and extravascular (albumin and sucrose) spaces, although norepinephrine was administered at supraphysiological concentrations.

The multiple indicator dilution technique has been used recently to study the effect of PAF on liver microcirculation. Lapointe and Olson (1989) have shown in the isolated perfused rat liver that PAF at concentrations of 0.2 and 20 nm significantly decreases vascular, sucrose interstitial and urea cellular spaces, suggesting that a substantial fraction of the hepatic parenchyma is excluded from the circulation. However, PAF acts mainly as a local mediator and not as a circulating homrone; thus the observed response to PAF administered intravascularly could be artefactual and irrelevant to the *in vivo* situation.

In summary, there is evidence that sympathetic nervous activation and/or circulating norepinephrine can induce marked contraction of the sinusoids. However, in physiological conditions this constraint does not appear to significantly affect the perfusion of the hepatic parenchyma. Therefore, during sympathetic activation, the redistribution of blood from the liver vascular space into the systemic circulation would not impair the exchange of substrates between plasma and hepatocytes, allowing an optimal metabolic response of the liver to stress.

In pathological conditions, the effects of sympathetic stimulation may be different. It is conceivable that in the case of a concomitant decrease in liver blood flow, sympathetic stimulation could lead to closure of sinusoids and the exclusion of a significant portion of the hepatic parenchyma. In inflammatory conditions, excessive production of vasoactive mediators by leucocytes migrating into the liver parenchyma could modify the effects of sympathetic stimulation on the hepatic microcirculation. Finally, in cirrhosis, the development of fibrosis can create a diffusional barrier in sinusoids, and could markedly change the dispersion regimen of molecules across the endothelium, thus modifying the hepatic response to stress.

3.4. ROLE OF THE MICROVASCULATURE IN THE MODULATION OF HEPATIC METABOLISM

A variety of agents with vasoconstrictive effects on hepatic microcirculation can induce glycogenolysis in the isolated perfused rat liver. The glycogenolysis induced by the administration of norepinephrine and other adrenergic agonists results from a direct effect on the hepatocytes, as demonstrated by the response of cultured or isolated hepatocytes (Hems and Whitton, 1980). An additional mechanism that could contribute to glycogenolysis is tissue hypoxia induced by vasoconstriction. In effect, anoxia is a potent activator of hepatic glycogenolysis (Hems and Witton, 1980; Sharma et al., 1980), and has been shown to be due to stimulation of phosphorylase a (Van de Broeck et al., 1988). However, sodium nitroprusside which inhibits the vasoconstriction induced by adrenergic agonists and sympathetic stimulation does not significantly modify the response, indicating that tissue hypoxia does not contribute to the glycogenolysis induced by adrenergic agonists (Hartmann et al., 1982).

Several agents known to stimulate Kupffer cells, such as PAF (Buxton et al., 1984b, 1986a,b; Fisher et al., 1984; Shukla et al., 1983) phorbol myristate acetate (Garcia-Sainz and Hernandez-Sotomayor, 1985; Patel, 1987) zymosan (Dieter et al., 1987b), heat-aggregated IgG (Buxton et al., 1984a, 1987a; Steinhelper and Olson, 1988a), and complement fraction C3a (Puschel et al., 1989) stimulate glucose production in the isolated perfused rat liver. As discussed previously, these agents concomitantly induce vasoconstriction. Glycogenolysis does not result from a direct effect on hepatocytes since these agents are inactive on cultured or isolated hepatocytes. A series of experimental data suggested that activation of glycogenolysis could result, just as vasoconstriction, from eicosanoids release by sinusoidal cells (Altin and Bygrave, 1988b; Garcia-Sainz, 1989): (a) responses are suppressed or significantly reduced by phospholipase A2, cyclo-oxygenase or 5-lipo-oxygenase inhibitors and TXA₂ antagonists (Dieter *et al.*, 1987b); (b) agents stimulating glycogenolysis can induce PGD_2 , PGE_2 and TXA_2 release by cultured sinusoidal cells and isolated perfused rat liver; (c) PGE_2 and PGF_{2x} induce glycogenolysis in the isolated perfused rat liver and cultured hepatocytes, while TXA_2 analogs and leukotrienes induce glycogenolysis in the isolated perfused rat liver but not in cultured hepatocytes (Altin and Bygrave, 1988a,b; Iwai *et al.*, 1988a; Fisher *et al.*, 1987).

There is evidence that endotoxins (Casteleijin *et al.*, 1988a,b,c) could stimulate glucose production by similar mechanisms. Glycogenolysis induced by ATP and UTP could result both from a direct effect on hepatocytes and from prostaglandin production by sinusoidal cells (Haussinger, 1989). Finally, glycogenolysis elicited by sympathetic stimulation could be mediated, at least in part, by prostaglandins (Iwai and Jungermann, 1987).

In summary, these findings show that the hepatic microvasculature can no longer be considered as a passive structure ensuring the dispersion of molecules in the liver but rather as a very sophisticated cellular network releasing a variety of mediators modulating liver metabolism. As discussed later, it is conceivable that an inappropriate production of such mediators, as occurs in inflammatory conditions, could contribute to the impairment of liver function (Hagmann *et al.*, 1984; Hagmann and Keppler, 1988; Keppler *et al.*, 1985).

4. HEPATIC MICROCIRCULATION IN DISEASE

Alterations of liver microcirculation and sinusoidal cells occur in many pathological states. Changes in the architecture of the microvasculature will 'passively' affect its hemodynamic properties, as well as the exchange processes. It has also recently been recognized that liver damage induced by a number of agents can be mediated by sinusoidal cells through 'active' mechanism(s). In this section, we will examine the extent and nature of the alteration of liver microvasculature in cirrhosis, alcoholic liver disease and several models of acute liver injury. We will also discuss the contribution of these modifications to the disease process.

4.1. CIRRHOSIS

Cirrhosis is the final common pathway of most types of chronic liver injury and is defined as a widespread fibrosis with the formation of regenerating nodules. It involves a dramatic and irreversible modification of liver architecture.

In cirrhosis, marked modifications of liver microcirculation have been demonstrated; it is widely accepted that these changes contribute to the increased resistance to portal flow and to the development of portal hypertension. There is also evidence that microcirculatory disturbances could contribute to the reduced function of the cirrhotic liver.

4.1.1. Morphology of Hepatic Circulation

We will give a brief overview of the major alterations of hepatic microcirculation that have been reported. The morphology of hepatic circulation in cirrhosis has been studied by means of radiological techniques, light microscopy, transmission electron microscopy and, more recently, by corrosion castscanning electron microscopy. These methods have been used in animals with experimentally-induced cirrhosis as well as in cirrhotic patients.

In cirrhosis, the branches of the portal vein are usually tortuous, irregular and slightly decreased in caliber but, in general, these modifications are slight (Shibayama and Nakata, 1985, 1989a,b). Portal venules are present in fibrous septa where they can proliferate around the regenerative nodules (particularly in macronodular cirrhosis with thin septa) and/or constitute intrahepatic porto-hepatic shunts (mainly in micronodular cirrhosis with thick septa) (Hirooka et al., 1986). A marked proliferation of hepatic arterioles and capillaries is also noted in fibrous septa around the regenerative nodules. The extent of the proliferation appears to be related to the degree of fibrosis. Accordingly, it has been suggested that in micronodular wide septal cirrhosis, regenerative nodules are perfused by terminal arterioles and capillaries while in macronodular thin septal cirrhosis nodules are perfused by both arterial capillaries, and portal venules (Hirooka et al., 1986). A marked hyperplasia of the peribiliary vascular plexus has also been observed in several studies, even in the absence of any proliferation of bile neoductules (Terada et al., 1989). Arterio-portal anastomoses have been reported to be significantly increased in cirrhosis, and anastomosis may develop between terminal arterioles or capillaries and terminal portal venules or sinuosids. There is no evidence that intrahepatic shunts can develop from arterioles (Hirooka et al., 1986).

Branches of hepatic veins are tortuous, irregular in caliber and show stenoses. Abnormalities are more pronounced than in the portal vein. Structural alterations are also found in the smallest hepatic venules which appear to be compressed by the surrounding nodules (Shibayama and Nakata, 1985).

Several structural modifications of sinusoids have also been reported. Morphometric studies have shown that the surface area and caliber of sinusoids are usually decreased (Reichen et al., 1987c; Vidins et al., 1985). There is a marked increase in collagen deposited in the space of Disse which, in consequence, appears widened (Martinez-Hernandez, 1985; Huet et al., 1982; Varin and Huet, 1985; Reichen et al., 1987a; Gross et al., 1987). However, the degree of perisinusoidal fibrosis can vary greatly inside a given region of the parenchyma (Stenger, 1966): some sinusoids have a normal structure, while others show perisinusoidal fibrosis with no significant structural modification. Finally, sinusoids can take on the appearance of capillaries with a continuous endothelium lacking fenestrae, supported by a continuous basement membrane (Martinez-Hernandez, 1985). Such 'capillarized' sinusoids are usually found at the periphery of the nodules near fibrous septa (Stenger, 1966).

These modifications may also vary according to the etiology of the cirrhosis. Capillarization of the sinusoids appears to be more marked in human alcoholic cirrhosis and in liver fibrosis induced in rabbits by cholesterol and stilbestrol (Huet *et al.*, 1986). In contrast, in CCl_4 -induced cirrhosis in rats or in dogs with chronic bile duct ligation, a significant fraction of the hepatic sinusoids may remain structurally unaltered (Huet *et al.*, 1986).

4.1.2. Intrahepatic Portal Resistance

A major consequence of the structural modifications of liver microcirculation in cirrhosis is an increase in intrahepatic portal resistance. However, the exact mechanism and location of portal resistance is not known. Initially, it was thought that the increase in resistance was postsinusoidal, secondary to the compression of hepatic venules by regenerating nodules. However, most of the recent evidence suggests that it is located mainly at the level of the sinusoids (Conn and Groszmann, 1982).

The site of increased vascular resistance in the cirrhotic liver has been studied in rats by Shibayama and Nakata (1985), who measured microvascular pressure by the direct insertion of a glass micropipette (10–20 μ m tip diameter) into the microvessels. Cirrhosis was induced by a choline-deficient diet for 6 months. Blood pressure in the portal vein and the terminal portal venules (30-40 μ m diameter) were 173 and 100 mm H₂O respectively, while those in the terminal hepatic venules and the inferior vena cava were only slightly above normal. These data suggest that the increase in vascular resistance was located in the intrahepatic portal veins, between the portal vein and the terminal portal venule, as well as in the sinusoids, between the terminal portal venule and the terminal hepatic venule, but not in the intrahepatic veins. It was suggested that the cause of increased portal resistance was the stenosis of most peripheral branches of the portal vein, while the cause of increased sinusoidal resistance was thought to be the narrowing of sinusoids by hepatocytes swollen by a marked accumulation of fat droplets. This hypothesis was subsequently confirmed in rats without steatosis. In effect, it was found that in cholinedeficient cirrhotic rats fed with an ordinary regimen for a further 2 months, in which steatosis was absent and the caliber of sinusoids was normal, increased sinusoidal resistance and elevated portal pressure were reduced markedly (Shibayama and Nakata, 1989b). These findings have recently been confirmed in the isolated rat liver perfused at constant pressure: in cirrhotic rats with steatosis, portal resistance was 2.7 times the normal while in cirrhotic rats without steatosis, portal resistance was only 1.5 times the normal (Shibayama and Nakata, 1989a).

Microvascular pressures have also been measured in CCl_4 -induced cirrhotic rats (Shibayama, 1988). Blood pressure in the portal vein, the terminal portal venules, the terminal hepatic venules and the inferior vena cava were 211, 112, 34 and 24 mm H₂O respectively. The data again show that the increased vascular resistance is in the intrahepatic portal vein and the sinusoids. The increase in sinusoidal resistance was associated with a narrowing of the sinusoids and was interpreted by the authors as a consequence of the enlargement of hepatocytes. The reduction in vascular volume of the cirrhotic liver has also been observed in rats with CCl_4 -induced cirrhosis using the multiple indicator dilution curve technique and was reported to range from -18 to -37% (Varin and Huet, 1985).

Another mechanism contributing to the narrowing of the sinusoids might be the enlargement of the space of Disse by perisinusoidal fibrosis. In effect, working on isolated perfused CCl_4 -induced cirrhotic rat livers, we have found a significant inverse correlation between intrahepatic portal resistance and liver weight that does not exist in normal livers (Ballet *et al.*, 1988). Since in cirrhosis liver volume is inversely correlated with the degree of fibrosis, intrahepatic portal resistance would appear to correlate with fibrosis. As discussed later, the finding that intrahepatic portal resistance can be modulated in this model by vasoactive agents suggests that part of the increased resistance could also be caused by the contraction of cellular structures.

In alcoholic cirrhosis, most of the evidence also suggests that the increased resistance is of sinusoidal origin. It is well known from hemodynamic studies in alcoholic cirrhotic patients that pressure measured in hepatic veins in the wedged position is identical to that measured directly in the portal vein. This has been generally interpreted as indicating that the main location of resistance is sinusoidal (Conn and Groszmann, 1982). Again, the cause of increased resistance could be the decrease in sinusoidal caliber by perisinusoidal fibrosis. Indeed, a very significant correlation exists between fibrosis in the space of Disse and portal pressure (Orrego *et al.*, 1981).

In alcoholic liver disease induced in baboons by alcohol feeding, early and selective fibrosis around the hepatic venules has been observed (Nakano et al., 1982). However, the contribution of such lesions to the increased resistance is unknown. Israel and Orrego (1987) have proposed that hepatocyte enlargement is the main cause of sinusoidal compression and increased intrahepatic resistance. According to them, the main arguments in favor of this hypothesis are the following: (a) morphometric studies show that hepatocyte size is increased and sinusoidal area is decreased in rats fed chronically with alcohol as well as in patients with alcoholic cirrhosis (Vindins et al., 1985), (b) the swelling of hepatocytes by perfusing isolated rat livers with a hypotonic medium is associated with a significant increase in intrahepatic resistance (Colman et al., 1983) and (c) in patients with alcoholic liver cirrhosis, there is a significant inverse correlation on the one hand between hepatocyte size and sinusoidal area and on the other hand between portal pressure and sinusoidal area, if reduced to values below 10% of normal (Vindins et al., 1985).

The 'cell enlargement' hypothesis has been challenged by Huet *et al.* (1987), who measured liver vascular and extravascular diffusion spaces using the multiple indicator dilution curve technique in isolated perfused livers from rats chronically intoxicated with alcohol. They found an increase in total liver volume, with an increase in cellular and interstitial volumes but no significant change in sinusoidal volume. Furthermore, intrahepatic portal resistance of the perfused liver and portal pressure *in vivo* (Mastaï *et al.*, 1989) were not significantly modified. Finally, administration of alcohol, in CCl₄-induced cirrhotic rats, did not further increase portal pressure measured in vivo in conscious animals, in spite of a significant increase in liver cell volume assessed by morphometry (Huet *et al.*, unpublished data). This indicates that cell enlargement is not necessarily associated with a reduction in sinusoidal volume and an increase in portal pressure.

In conclusion, most of the evidence suggests that in alcoholic cirrhosis, CCl₄-induced cirrhosis and cirrhosis induced by a choline-deficient diet, increased resistance is mainly due to the reduction in sinusoidal caliber and volume. However, there is some disagreement as to the cause of sinusoidal reduction, i.e. whether it results from hepatocyte enlargement or fibrosis in the space of Disse.

It is important to emphasize that the site of increased resistance may be different in other varieties of cirrhosis. In patients with biliary cirrhosis or posthepatitis macronodular cirrhosis, pressure measured in the portal vein is usually higher than in the hepatic veins in the wedged position, suggesting that in these conditions the main site of resistance is presinusoidal (Conn and Groszmann, 1982).

4.1.3. Physiopathology of Portal Hypertension

In cirrhosis, the main consequence of the increased intrahepatic vascular resistance is increased pressure in the portal system and the development of portosystemic shunts. Therefore, in this condition, portal resistance consists of two parallel resistance pathways, i.e. (a) intrahepatic resistance where resistance is high and (b) collateral resistance where resistance is low. In spite of the latter low resistance pathway, total portal resistance remains abnormally high (Sikuler et al., 1985; Sikuler and Groszmann, 1986a). Furthermore, a number of studies have found that in cirrhosis splanchnic blood flow, i.e. flow entering the portal system, is increased by approximately 40-50%; this has been shown in a variety of experimental models: partial ligature of the portal vein (Blanchet and Lebrec, 1982; Groszman et al., 1982; Lebrec and Blanchet, 1985; Vorobioff et al., 1984), chemicallyinduced cirrhosis (Fernandez-Munoz et al., 1985) and biliary cirrhosis (Bosch et al., 1983). The pressure-flow relationship in the portal system is impaired, as when flow is reduced to normal values, portal pressure remains high (Benoit et al., 1985; Kroeger and Groszmann, 1985a; Sikuler and Groszmann, 1986a). The increase in portal inflow is due to vasodilation of arterioles in the splanchnic territory (Benoit et al., 1984, 1986). However, vasodilation is not restricted to the splanchnic territory but also involves other organs such as muscle (Benoit et al., 1985). This leads to a reduction in peripheral vascular resistance and systemic arterial pressure and to an increase in cardiac output, i.e. an hyperkinetic syndrome (Blanchet and Lebrec, 1982; Vorobioff et al., 1983). The mechanism of vasodilation is unknown (Schrier and Caramelo, 1987) but a number of studies suggest that it could be secondary to an increased plasma concentration of a vasodilatory substance (Benoit et al., 1984; Korthuis et al., 1985; Sikuler and Groszmann, 1986b) and/or to a reduction in vascular response to vasoconstrictors (Bomzon and Blendis, 1987; Chiandussi et al., 1962;

Kiel et al., 1985; Laragh et al., 1963; Murray and Paller, 1985).

4.1.4. Pharmacology of Portal Hypertension

The major complication of portal hypertension is bleeding from esophageal varices which accompanies the development of porto-systemic shunts. The risk of bleeding in cirrhotic patients with esophageal varices who have never bled is estimated as approximately 30%, reaching 65% in patients with large varices. The mortality rate in this complication is 40% (Burroughs, 1986; Calès and Pascal, 1988). Bleeding is likely to recur in 50-70% of untreated patients, and the mortality rate in such patients is 30% (Calès and Pascal, 1988; Poynard and Chaput, 1989). Since there is evidence that increased portal pressure plays a major part in the development and rupture of esophageal varices (Garcia-Tsao et al., 1985), most of the research has been directed at finding pharmacological agents which lower portal pressure. Theoretically, portal pressure can be reduced either by decreasing splanchnic blood flow or by decreasing portal resistance (Groszmann et al., 1988).

4.1.4.1. Vasoconstrictors. A reduction in splanchnic blood flow can be obtained either by decreasing cardiac output or by inducing splanchnic vasoconstriction. Vasopressin decreases portal flow by inducing splanchnic vasoconstriction (Groszmann and Atterbury, 1985). Data suggest that somatostatin could act by a similar mechanism (Bosch, 1985; Morgan and Groszmann, 1989). These agents have been used in patients who bleed actively with similar efficacy to that obtained by balloon tamponade. However, the evidence shows conclusively that these drugs do not significantly influence survival.

4.1.4.2. Beta-blockers. In 1981, Lebrec and coworkers in France showed that propranolol, at doses that decrease the heart rate by 25%, significantly reduced the risk of rebleeding in cirrhotic patients in good overall condition. This study was a landmark in the therapy of portal hypertension, hitherto considered inaccessible to medical therapy. The mechanism of action of propranolol is still unknown but a number of clues have been obtained in experimental studies (Bosch, 1985; Groszmann and Atterbury, 1985). Propranolol has been shown to reduce portal pressure both as an antagonist of β_1 -adrenergic cardiac receptors, decreasing cardiac output, and as an antagonist of β_2 -adrenergic splanchnic receptors inducing vasoconstriction via α -adrenergic receptors unopposed by β_2 -vasodilatory receptors (Kroeger and Groszmann, 1985a,b). Both mechanisms decrease portal flow and, consequently, portal pressure.

So far, seven controlled trials have studied the effect of beta-blockers on the risk of rebleeding in cirrhotic patients (Lebrec and Hadengue, 1989); however, although it was reduced in four studies, in the other three it was not significantly modified. Survival was significantly improved in only one study. The reasons for the discrepancies between these studies have been extensively examined but remain unclear (Lebrec, 1987). For example, alterations in β -adrenergic receptor responsiveness have been demonstrated in these patients and are correlated to the severity of the liver disease (Caujolle *et al.*, 1988; Gerbes *et al.*, 1986, 1987; Ramond *et al.*, 1986). However, the role of this factor in the therapeutic efficacy of beta-blockers is unknown (Caujolle *et al.*, 1988).

Meta-analysis of the trials has shown that betablockers decrease the risk of bleeding after two years from 66% in the placebo group to 49% in the treated group. However, heterogeneity among the groups is significant and no definitive conclusion can be drawn (Pignon *et al.*, 1988). By contrast, it remains clear that survival is not significantly modified. These studies show that the efficacy of propranolol in the prevention of rebleeding is nil or, at the most, very modest. However, it remains possible that a subgroup of cirrhotics, so far unidentified, could benefit from the treatment.

 β -Adrenergic agents have also been evaluated in the prophylaxis of variceal bleeding in patients who had never bled. Five controlled trials have been published (Conn, 1988; Lebrec and Hadengue, 1989). All show a highly significant reduction in the risk of bleeding. It is generally admitted that, in this group of patients, the risk of bleeding is reduced by approximately 30–40%. Furthermore, a significant effect on one-year survival was found by meta-analysis of the published studies (Pignon *et al.*, 1988).

In conclusion, although the efficacy of propranolol in the prevention of rebleeding is still disputed, it is generally accepted that the drug is beneficial in the prophylaxis of variceal bleeding in high risk patients who have never bled.

4.1.4.3. Vasodilators. An alternative approach to reducing portal pressure is to decrease intrahepatic vascular resistance. Although it had generally been accepted that the vascular resistance of the cirrhotic liver was fixed and insensitive to vasoactive agents, this concept was challenged by Bhatal and Grossman in 1985. These authors showed in isolated perfused livers from rats with CCl₄-induced cirrhosis that some vasodilators were able to decrease intrahepatic portal resistance. Livers were perfused at a constant pressure (16 mm Hg) with a buffer solution containing albumin. Sodium nitroprusside $(3 \times 10^{-3} \text{ M})$, magnesium sulfate $(6 \times 10^{-2} \text{ M})$, papaverine $(6.4 \times 10^{-4} \text{ M})$ and cytochalasine B (6.3×10^{-5} M) decreased portal resistance by approximately 15%, while prostaglandin E₁ and isoprenaline reduced it by approximately 5% (Bhatal and Grossman, 1985). In the isolated perfused normal rat liver, most of these agents were unable to decrease resistance significantly, only magnesium sulfate and papaverine reducing it by about 5%. According to the authors, a series of arguments suggested that the reduction of resistance by vasodilators could be secondary to the relaxation of myofibroblasts. In effect (a) myofibroblasts have been shown to occur around sinusoids and vessels embedded in fibrous septa (Rudolph et al., 1979), (b) preparations containing myofibroblasts can maintain tonic contractions in vitro and (c) strips of granulation tissue can relax in vitro under the influence of prostaglandin E_1 , papaverine and cytochalasine B.

Other data were subsequently provided by Reichen and Le (1986) who studied the effect of the calcium channel blocker verapamil on the isolated perfused liver from rats with CCl₄-induced cirrhosis. Livers were perfused with a system where both flow and pressure can vary when changes in intrahepatic resistance occur. The perfusion medium contained 20% human erythrocytes and albumin. Verapamil at concentrations ranging from 8 to 16 mg/100 ml (1.6 to 3.2×10^{-4} M) decreased the resistance of the livers by approximately 22% while the resistance of normal livers was reduced by 14%. Oxygen consumption of the cirrhotic livers increased significantly by approximately 21%. Intrahepatic shunts, estimated from the recovery of labeled microspheres at the liver outflow, were significantly reduced from $4.9 \pm 3.3\%$ to $3 \pm 3\%$. Interestingly, verapamil did not significantly modify the sinusoidal volume as estimated from the labeled erythrocyte dilution curve. This suggested that the reduction in resistance was not due to an increase in the sinusoidal caliber throughout the length. Subsequently, Reichen et al. (1986) studied the effect of chronic administration of verapamil in rats with CCl₄-induced cirrhosis via the drinking water for 9-11 days. The plasma concentration of verapamil was 81 + 65 ng/ml (1.6×10^{-7} M). Systemic arterial pressure was not significantly modified, but intrasplenic pressure, which provides an estimate of portal pressure, was reduced by approximately 28%. Again, the sinusoidal volume measured on the isolated perfused rat liver was not significantly modified. These findings suggested that chronic administration of verapamil was able to decrease portal pressure in cirrhotic rats in vivo. However, other mechanisms than a decrease in intrahepatic resistance could have explained these findings, e.g. a decrease in the resistance of portosystemic collaterals or a decrease in portal flow induced by reflex splanchnic vasoconstriction.

These reports led us to investigate the vascular response of the cirrhotic liver to vasoactive agents. The effects of norepinephrine, angiotensin II and vasopressin were studied in isolated perfused livers from CCl4-induced cirrhotic rats vs normal livers (Ballet et al., 1988). Livers were perfused at constant pressure. In basal conditions, intrahepatic vascular resistance was 2-3-fold higher than that of normal livers. Norepinephrine, angiotensin II and vasopressin induced a dose-dependent increase in vascular resistance in normal as well as in cirrhotic livers. Interestingly, we found that the maximal effect (E_{max}) of normal and cirrhotic livers did not differ significantly. The sensitivity to norepinephrine (ED_{s_0}) was even increased in cirrhotic livers while that to angiotensin II was decreased and that to vasopressin was not significantly modified. Overall, these data showed that the resistance of the cirrhotic liver could be modulated by the three major circulating vasoactive hormones. This further suggested that the high plasma concentration of these mediators which has been demonstrated in cirrhosis could contribute to increased intrahepatic vascular resistance. Subsequently, we studied the effects of a series of vasodilators using the same experimental model (Marteau et al., 1989). The vasodilators studied were an α_1 adrenergic antagonist (prazosin), an α_2 -adrenergic

agonist (clonidine), a $\beta_1-\beta_2$ -adrenergic agonist (isoproterenol), calcium antagonists (verapamil, diltiazem and nifedipine), nitrovasodilators (sodium nitroprusside and nitroglycerin) and vasodilators with miscellaneous pharmacological properties, i.e. papaverine, pentoxifylline and diazoxide. In basal conditions, isoproterenol, sodium nitroprusside, nitroglycerin, papaverine and pentoxifylline significantly decreased resistance. However, the maximal response was weak (-3 to 19%) and isoproterenol was the only drug active in the therapeutic range of plasma concentrations ($10^{-7}-10^{-6}$ M). Prazosin, propranolol, verapamil, diltiazem, nifedipine and diazoxide were ineffective (Marteau *et al.*, 1989).

Plasma concentrations of norepinephrine are increased in cirrhotic patients (Arroyo et al., 1983; Bernardi et al., 1983; Bichet et al., 1982; Henriksen et al., 1984, 1985; Lenz et al., 1985; Nicholls et al., 1985; Ring-Larsen et al., 1982; Tage-Jensen, 1988; Willet et al., 1985) and, as discussed previously, norepinephrine significantly increases intrahepatic resistance in cirrhotic livers. We therefore examined the effects of vasodilators after the induction of vasoconstriction by norepinephrine. Prazosin, papaverine and pentoxifylline significantly reduced vasoconstriction induced by norepinephrine while it was not significantly modified by clonidine, isoproterenol and propranolol (Marteau et al., 1989). The lack of effect of clonidine in the cirrhotic liver contrasts with its inhibitory effect in the normal liver, suggesting that a significant modification of α -adrenergic activity occurs during the development of cirrhosis.

The lack of response to calcium antagonists was in discrepancy with the results obtained by Reichen and Le (1986), and could be related to differences in experimental conditions. In the Reichen study, perfusion flow and pressure were able to vary with resistance, while in our system pressure was maintained constant. Also, our perfusion medium contained rat erythrocytes, while in the Reichen study human erythrocytes were used. Since the diameter of rat erythrocytes is much smaller than that of human erythrocytes, verapamil, which increases erythrocyte deformability, would affect resistance more when the liver is perfused with human erythrocytes than with rat erythrocytes.

Rheological factors could also explain the decrease in resistance induced by pentoxifylline in the cirrhotic liver. Pentoxifylline also increases red blood cell deformability; however, at the low hematocrit level (15%) used in our study, the change in viscosity was probably too small and insufficient to account for the decrease in resistance.

In conclusion, these studies show that in spite of fibrosis, the vascular resistance of the cirrhotic liver can be modulated by vasoactive agents. However, the reduction in resistance induced by vasodilators is small and is reduced in the presence of norepinephrine. Furthermore, the effect *in vivo* of vasodilators on portosystemic collaterals or on the splanchnic circulation could antagonize their potential beneficial effect on portal pressure (Blei, 1989). In effect, isoproterenol has been shown to increase portal pressure in normal dogs (Seaman and Greenway, 1984), while clonidine decreases portal pressure in cirrhotic patients (Willet *et al.*, 1986). It has been suggested that this latter effect could result from a decrease in intrahepatic portal resistance (Willet *et al.*, 1986); however, our experimental studies suggest that it may be due to alternative mechanisms. Nitroglycerin and nitrates also decrease portal pressure in cirrhotic patients (Blei *et al.*, 1988); however, experimental studies have demonstrated that this is due to a reduction in both splanchnic flow and in portal collateral resistance (Blei and Gottstein, 1986). Finally, hemodynamic studies in cirrhotic patients have shown that verapamil and nifedipine do not significantly modify portal pressure (Navasa *et al.*, 1988).

4.1.5. Vascular Factors in Decreased Liver Function in Cirrhosis

The role of the structural modifications of the microcirculation in the diminished function of the cirrhotic liver is unclear.

Various theories have been proposed to explain the decreased clearance observed in cirrhosis. The 'sick cell' hypothesis states that the function of individual hepatocytes is decreased. The 'capillarization' hypothesis considers that the loss of fenestrations of endothelial cells and the constitution of a continuous basal layer beneath the endothelial cells decreases the permeability of sinusoids to diffusible substances in the plasma (Huet *et al.*, 1982; Villeneuve and Huet, 1987). The 'intact cell' hypothesis holds that intrahepatic shunts account for a reduced number of normally functioning perfused hepatocytes (Wood *et al.*, 1979).

Different approaches have been used to discriminate between the models. It is possible to compare the observed values for different pharmacokinetic parameters under conditions of varying flow, or varying protein binding with the values predicted from the model. For example, the lack of increase in the hepatic extraction of propranolol when flow is reduced has been interpreted as indicating that intravascular shunting is present since, in case of a uniform reduction of enzyme activity, a reduction in flow should increase extraction (Wood et al., 1979). Similarly, the reduction in hepatic blood flow induced by lysine-vasopressin in cirrhotic patients is accompanied by a decrease in the intrinsic clearance of indocyanin green (Barbare et al., 1984). This reduction is consistent with an increase in intrahepatic shunting when flow decreases. For substances bound to proteins in the plasma, another experimental approach is to study the influence of varying unbound protein fractions on hepatic elimination parameters. According to the 'intact cell' model, a highly extracted drug will maintain its clearance regimen in spite of decreased extraction: its extraction will only be slightly affected by the variation in the unbound fraction, due to liver regions with normally functioning hepatocytes. By contrast, in the 'sick cell' model, a highly extracted substance would show a modified clearance regimen since all hepatocytes are supposed to have a low extraction: in these conditions, extraction will be low and will vary closely with the unbound fraction. In the 'capillarization model' substrates whose diffusion across the sinusoidal barrier is impaired will behave similarly, i.e.

their extraction will be reduced and highly dependent upon the fraction unbound to proteins. In the isolated perfused liver from rats with CCl_4 -induced cirrhosis, we found that the extraction of taurocholate, a substrate bound to albumin, was decreased and strongly influenced by the unbound fraction. These data were consistent either with the 'sick cell' or the 'capillarization' model (Petit and Ballet, unpublished data).

More direct evidence for the 'sick cell' hypothesis has been provided by studying the function of hepatocytes isolated from the cirrhotic liver. It has been shown that the in vitro metabolism of a propranolol was impaired and that this is accompanied by a reduction in the cytochrome P-450 content (Villeneuve et al., 1978). Recently, reduced cellular uptake of taurocholate and ouabaine, together with reduced oxygen consumption, have been demonstrated (Reichen et al., 1987b). However, it must be pointed out that in vitro, numerous artifacts or experimental constraints may limit the meaning of the data. For example, the very low yield of the dissociation procedure may induce sampling artifacts. In favor of the 'intact cell' hypothesis, Reichen et al. (1987a) have found that reduced aminopyrine N-demethylation assessed by the aminopyrine breath test in rats with CCl4-induced cirrhosis correlated with liver cell volume. Microsomal aminopyrine N-demethylase and cytochrome P-450 activities expressed per unit of hepatocyte volume were maintained, indicating that the function of individual cells remained unaltered. The galactose elimination capacity has also been found to correlate with liver cell volume in both CCl_4 -induced and biliary cirrhosis in the rat (Gross *et al.*, 1987).

The multiple-indicator dilution technique has been used by Huet and Goresky in Montreal to study the influence of microcriculatory alterations on exchange processes in cirrhosis (Huet et al., 1982; Varin and Huet, 1985). As stated previously, the hepatic vascular volume estimated from the diffusion space of labeled red blood cells was significantly reduced. A major finding was that extravascular diffusion space of albumin was decreased in proportion to the degree of fibrosis in the space of Disse. This indicated that fibrosis was able to restrict the extravascular diffusion of albumin (Fig. 8). At least in some cirrhotic patients, the albumin diffusion space can even be superimposed on that of red blood cells, thus providing a direct demonstration of the capillarization of sinusoids (Fig. 8) (Huet et al., 1982). By contrast, in CCl₄-induced cirrhosis in the rat, such a capillarization pattern was uncommon in the study of Varin and Huet (1985), while it was present in most cirrhotic livers in the studies of Reichen and Le (1986) and Reichen et al. (1986, 1988). These discrepancies are probably explained by differences in the severity of liver fibrosis obtained after the administration of CCl₄. In cirrhotic patients, the hepatic extraction of ICG, a dye highly protein-bound is decreased and strongly correlated with the diffusion space of albumin (Huet et al., 1982). This suggests that the restricted diffusion of albumin across the endothelial barrier affects the uptake of the protein-bound dye.



FIG. 8. Schematic representation of the liver microcirculation in a normal liver (left hand panel) and in a cirrhotic liver (right hand panel). In normal liver, the entry of ^{99m} Tc albumin (^{99m} Tc ALB) into the space of Disse produces a major delay in and decrease in magnitude of the albumin curve with respect to that of ⁵¹ Cr red blood cells (⁵¹ Cr RBC). In the cirrhotic liver, capillarization limits the diffusion of albumin into the space of Disse and the ^{99m} Tc ALB curve is only slightly delayed in relation to the corresponding ⁵¹ Cr RBC curve. From Huet *et al.*, 1985. Reprinted with permission of the authors and copyright holder, W. B. Saunders, Philadelphia.

The modifications of the diffusion space of sucrose and water are more difficult to analyze since, at least in some cases, their diffusion in the extravascular space does not appear to be flow-limited, indicating a diffusional barrier at the level of the sinusoid (Huet *et al.*, 1982).

In some cirrhotic patients, as well as in most cirrhotic dogs with chronic bile duct ligation, labeled erythrocyte, water and lidocaine appear as an early peak, related to a bulge on the erythrocyte upslope curve, superimposed with that of 15 μ m microsphere (Huet et al., 1986). This early peak has been interpreted as representing predominantly throughput, material coming through vascular shunts poorly permeable to small molecules which diffuse freely across membranes, such as lidocaine and water. In CCl₄induced cirrhosis, lidocaine outflow patterns have the form of a dilution curve slightly delayed in relation to that of labeled red blood cells (Varin and Huet, 1985). This pattern differed systematically from that observed in noncirrhotic rats, in which unchanged lidocaine emerged substantially later and only in trace amounts. In contrast, only $0.25 \pm 0.34\%$ (range 0-12%) of 15 μ m microspheres were recovered in the outflow. These findings were consistent with the development of small ($< 15 \,\mu$ m) intrahepatic shunts. In other studies, intrahepatic shunting measured by the passage of $15 \,\mu$ m microspheres was higher: $3.8 \pm 2.85\%$ and $2.2 \pm 2.6\%$ but highly variable ranging from 0-10% (Reichen and Le, 1986; Reichen et al., 1986, 1988). Again, the discrepancies may be related to differences in the severity of cirrhosis produced in rats using CCl₄.

In hepatic fibrosis induced in rabbits with a cholesterol-supplemnted diet (1%) and stilbestrol (10 mg twice weekly s.c.) for 12 weeks (Mastai et al., 1988a,b) the albumin diffusion space was markedly decreased. By contrast, the water diffusion space and lidocaine outflow curve were unchanged and the recovery of $15\,\mu m$ microspheres was less than 1%. These data suggest that, in this model, extensive fibrosis of sinusoids restricts the diffusion of albumin but does not affect the diffusion of water and lidocaine, i.e. intrahepatic shunting does not occur. Interestingly, it was found that taurocholate extraction was much more strongly decreased (-45.9%) than propranolol extraction (-3%), suggesting that capillarization selectively impairs the diffusion of hydrophilic protein-bound substances such as taurocholate, by opposition to lipophilic drugs such as propranolol (Mastai et al., 1988b).

In conclusion, data obtained with the multipleindicator dilution technique suggests different kinds of microcirculation alterations in cirrhosis, i.e. (a) a reduction in the vascular space, (b) a reduction in extravascular diffusion space of albumin with a pattern consistent with sinusoidal capillarization when fibrosis in the space of Disse is extensive and (c) the development of large and small intrahepatic shunts.

The consequences of these alterations for hepatic elimination are unclear. The data suggest that sinusoidal capillarization could affect the uptake of protein-bound hydrophilic substrates such as ICG or taurocholate, without significantly impairing the transport of lipophilic molecules such as propranolol or lidocaine. Intrahepatic shunting may be the major determinant in the decreased extraction of lidocaine. Finally, the decreased extraction of propranolol is probably the consequence of both reduced metabolic cellular activity and intrahepatic shunts.

Therefore, it is clear that in cirrhosis, a multiplicity of factors such as (a) sick cells, (b) intrahepatic shunts, (c) decreased cellular mass and (d) anatomical barriers, all contribute to reduce liver function. However, the relative contribution of each factor may vary according to the duration of the disease and to superimposed events.

Finally, the main interest of these studies is to identify factors that could be the target for therapeutic intervention. In view of the possible pharmacologic modulation of hepatic microcirculation in cirrhosis, it is obvious that microcirculatory factors are of major interest.

The role of microcirculatory disturbances in the impaired function of cirrhotic livers has been examined by Reichen and Le (1986) by studying the effect of verapamil $(1.6-3.2 \times 10^{-4} \text{ M})$, a calcium channel blocker, on vascular and extravascular diffusion spaces and liver function. On isolated perfused livers from rats with CCl₄-induced cirrhosis, it was found that verapamil did not affect the hepatic vascular space but significantly increased the albumin extravascular space. This was associated with a 38% reduction in intrahepatic shunting. Concomitantly, a significant improvement in oxygen consumption (+21%) and antipyrine clearance (+20%), but not propranolol clearance, was observed. It was suggested that verapamil could relax endothelial cells and lead to a redistribution of flow to sinusoids with selectively well-maintained exchange characteristics.

These findings were subsequently confirmed in cirrhotic rats *in vivo* after oral administration of verapamil $(1.6 \times 10^{-7} \text{ M})$ for 9–11 days (Reichen *et al.*, 1986). A significant improvement in hepatic microsomal function assessed by the aminopyrine and caffeine breath-test was observed. The data again suggest that the improvement in liver function could result from the effect of verapamil on liver microcirculation.

4.2. Alcoholic Liver Disease

The mechanism by which chronic alcoholism induces cirrhosis is still controversial. There is a general agreement that cirrhosis is preceded by alcoholic hepatitis, a lesion characterized by hepatocyte necrosis in conjunction with an inflammatory cell infiltrate predominantly composed of neutrophils and pericellular fibrosis (Popper, 1974). Necrosis in alcoholic hepatitis occurs characteristically in the hepatic acinus zone 3 (or centrilobular area).

We still do not understand how alcohol causes liver damage, but it is unlikely that the disease results from a single factor. Two interactive mechanisms appear to play a predominant role (Israel and Orrego, 1987): (a) acetaldehyde-induced damage and (b) hypoxic necrosis.

It is generally agreed that liver injury induced by ethanol results from the production of acetaldehyde by NAD⁺-dependent alcohol dehydrogenase at low blood ethanol levels ($K_m = 0.2-2 \text{ mM}$) and by cytochrome P-450 isozymes (the 'microsomal ethanol oxidizing system') at high ethanol levels ($K_m = 10-15 \text{ mM}$) (Lieber, 1988). The latter pathway predominates after long-term use of alcohol which has been shown to be associated with a marked proliferation of hepatic microsomal membranes and increased activity of the microsomal ethanol oxidizing system and in the elimination rate of ethanol. The cytochrome P-450 system requires NADPH and oxygen.

Acetaldehyde is an electrophilic species that can react with nucleophilic sites of other molecules. A number of studies have demonstrated that acetaldehyde can bind in vitro to a number of macromolecules such as cysteine, albumin, membrane proteins, hemoglobin, lipids and nucleic acids (Lauterburg and Bilzer, 1988; Lieber, 1988). Furthermore, acetaldehyde adducts with proteins have been demonstrated in alcoholic patients. It is not clear however how these interactions lead to cell necrosis. It has been proposed that acetaldehyde-mediated cell death might have an immunological component. An immune cytotoxic response could be directed towards cellular proteins altered by acetaldehyde. Acetaldehyde could damage either intracellular proteins subsequently transported to the cell surface, or plasma membrane proteins themselves, or both (Lauterburg and Bilzer, 1988).

As stated previously, a characteristic feature of alcoholic liver injury is the predominance of lesions in the centrilobular region of the hepatic acinus. Several factors could account for this pattern (Lieber, 1988): (a) low oxygen pressure, normally prevailing in perivascular zones, may exaggerate the oxidationreduction shift produced by ethanol which results in various deleterious metabolic effects, (b) a higher level of alcohol-metabolizing enzymes in the perivenular zone could produce higher concentrations of acetaldehyde in these regions.

To account for the centrilobular location of the lesions, it has also been suggested that hepatocellular necrosis could result from hypoxia. According to this hypothesis, centrilobular hypoxia would occur as the consequence of an imbalance between increased oxygen demand and an inadequate oxygen delivery to the liver (Israel *et al.*, 1975; Israel and Orrego, 1987; Thurman *et al.*, 1986).

Indeed, it has been demonstrated that acute and chronic ethanol administration increase the rate of oxygen uptake by the liver. The mechanism of such an increased oxygen demand has not been fully elucidated (Thurman et al., 1986). It has been proposed that the increased availability of NADH for mitochondrial NADH oxidation increases oxidative phosphorylation. Increased oxygen consumption could also result from the increased activity of the microsomal ethanol-oxidizing system which has a direct requirement for oxygen. Alternatively, the increased oxygen uptake could be caused by the release of catecholamines, since (a) epinephrine mimicks the increase observed with ethanol (Thurman et al., 1986), (b) the increased O₂ uptake can be blocked both by α - and β -adrenergic agents (Thurman et al., 1986) and (c) chronic alcoholism is associated with sympathetic hyperactivity, particularly during ethanol withdrawal. Finally, thyroid hormone function appears to be permissive for such an effect to occur. While T4 or T3 levels are unchanged after acute or chronic ethanol administration, thyroidectomy or the administration of the antithyroid drug propylthiouracil (PTU) suppresses or abolishes the ethanol-induced hypermetabolic state (Israel and Orrego, 1987).

The increased O₂ consumption induced by ethanol administration is associated with a steeper oxygen gradient in the liver lobule. This has been demonstrated by Thurman in perfused livers from ethanoltreated rats by measuring NADH fluorescence and tissue pO_2 in periportal and perivenous regions with micro-light guides and miniature oxygen electrodes (Thurman et al., 1986). The increased oxygen gradient along the sinusoids would lead to centrilobular necrosis in conditions that reduce oxygen availability. In support of this postulate, Israel et al. (1975) have shown that brief exposure to hypoxia produces more centrilobular necrosis in ethanol-treated rats than in controls. Pretreatment of rats with propylthiouracil significantly reduces tissue damage. On the other hand, it has been shown that ethanol increases hepatic blood flow by 50-60%. This has been shown to be attributable to vasodilation in the splanchnic territory and has been interpreted as a compensatory mechanism that could play an important role in protecting the liver against hypoxic necrosis (Carmichael et al., 1987; McKaigney et al., 1986). Accordingly, in ethanol-fed rats with minimal liver injury, the enhanced hepatic oxygen consumption is adequately compensated by a concomitant increase in hepatic oxygen delivery (Bredfeldt et al., 1985). However, in a rat model with alcoholic centrilobular necrosis it has recently been shown that the increase in oxygen delivery was much too small to compensate for the marked increase in oxygen consumption (French et al., 1988; Tsukamoto and Xi, 1989). This suggested that centrilobular necrosis could result from enhanced, uncompensated hepatic oxygen consumption.

In conclusion, there is evidence that alcoholinduced liver necrosis could be due to anoxic injury of centrilobular hepatocytes resulting from an imbalance between the increased oxygen consumption and reduced oxygen delivery to the liver.

Theoretically, drugs that decrease oxygen demand and/or increase oxygen delivery to the liver should thus be beneficial.

As stated previously, propylthiouracil decreases oxygen uptake by the liver. Two short-term studies have yielded conflicting results (Orrego *et al.*, 1979; Israel *et al.*, 1978) but a recent long-term study reported lower mortality in patients with alcoholic liver disease (Orrego *et al.*, 1987). It is tempting to speculate that the beneficial effect of propranolol in liver cirrhosis could be related in part to its inhibitory effect on the increase in hepatic oxygen uptake due to ethanol. Drugs that have been shown to be effective in preventing or reducing hypoxic liver injury could also be beneficial in alcoholic liver disease. Finally, drugs that increase liver blood flow and oxygen delivery, i.e. vasodilators, should be tested.

4.3. EXPERIMENTALLY-INDUCED ACUTE LIVER INJURY

4.3.1. Ischemia- and Hypoxia-Induced Liver Injury

The liver is highly sensitive to ischemia. In circulatory shock, a rise in serum transaminase, sometimes accompanied by a significant increase in serum bilirubin, is frequently observed (Lefkowitch and Mendez, 1986). Histological studies show sinusoidal dilation with a variable degree of congestion and hemorrhage together with centrilobular necrosis (Lefkowitch and Mendez, 1986). Experimentally in isolated perfused livers from rats fasted for 24 hr, hypoxia induced by a 75% decrease in portal flow for 60 min or by a stopping flow for 45 min followed by reperfusion, induces damage in pericentral regions of the liver lobule (Bradford et al., 1986). The sequence of changes in cell structure has been extensively studied by Lemasters and Thurman (1981) and Lemasters et al. (1983, 1987). The first lesions to occur are blebs that develop exclusively on the sinusoidal surface of hepatocytes and that project through the fenestrations of the endothelium into the sinusoids. Subsequently, blebs detach from the cells and are released into the microcirculation with a concomitant release of cytosolic enzymes, such as lactate dehydrogenase, into the effluent. Finally, breaks appear in the plasma membrane which leads to membrane hyperpermeability and cellular staining by dyes that are normally excluded, such as trypan blue or propidium iodide. These events indicate an abrupt transition from reversible to irreversible injury (Lemasters et al., 1987).

The sensitivity of the liver to ischemia also accounts for the impossibility of extending the preservation time of liver allografts by cold storage beyond 10 hr with standard preservation solutions (Belzer and Southard, 1988).

4.3.1.1. Mechanism of cell necrosis. The mechanism(s) of hypoxia- or ischemia-induced hepatocyte necrosis are poorly understood (Bonventre, 1988; Leaf et al., 1986). It has generally been assumed that the primary target in injury is the hepatocyte. It has been proposed that cell death could occur as the result of the generation in situ of oxygen-derived free radicals (Bonventre, 1988; McCord, 1983; Parks and Granger, 1988; Granger, 1988). According to this hypothesis, ischemia triggers the conversion of xanthine dehydrogenase to the oxygen radical producing xanthine oxidase (McKelvey et al., 1988). Concomitantly, cellular ATP is catabolized during the hypoxia period to hypoxanthine. On reperfusion or reoxygenation, molecular oxygen reacts with hypoxanthine and xanthine oxidase to produce the highly cytotoxic reactive metabolites, superoxide (O_2^-) , hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and hydroxyl radical (OH). This is mainly based on the observation that allopurinol, a xanthine oxidase inhibitor prevents ischemia- or hypoxia-induced liver injury (McCord, 1983). It has also been proposed that hepatocyte death could result from a massive cellular influx of calcium. According to this hypothesis, the resulting increase in cytosolic calcium could activate several Ca²⁺-dependent enzymes such as phospholipases, proteases and endonucleases. The activated

enzymes could secondarily induce cell killing by mechanisms that have been extensively reviewed (Bonventre, 1988; Orrenius and Bellomo, 1986; Pounds and Rosen, 1988). Accordingly, it has been shown that several Ca²⁺-channel blockers have protective effects during liver ischemia or hypoxia (Lefer and Stahl, 1987; Lefer and Papanicolaou, 1985; Peck and Lefer, 1981; Thurman *et al.*, 1987, 1988a).

It is well established that, in addition to lesions of parenchymal cells, ischemia and hypoxia induce alterations of the microcirculation. It has been shown in a number of experimental models that ischemia increases vascular resistance and capillary permeability (Korthuis et al., 1988). Different degrees of endothelial cell damage have been demonstrated (Burton et al., 1984): cells swelling, breaks in the cytoplasmic processes extending from the cell body, bulging in the vascular space and, finally, detachment. The increased resistance has been attributed to several factors, i.e. (Braunwald and Kloner, 1985) (a) occlusion of vessels by leucocyte plugging, resulting from their adhesion to the endothelium, (b) swelling of endothelial cells and (c) pericapillary edema. The increased capillary permeability has been attributed to the disruption or widening of intercellular junctions either 'passively', due to cytoskeletal alterations, or 'actively', by cell contraction induced by vasoactive mediators (Svensjo and Grega, 1986). However, it has also been reported that increased capillary permeability can be observed without any structural modifications of interendothelial junctions (Rasio et al., 1987).

Endothelial cell injury has been attributed to the production of oxygen-derived free radicals by xanthine oxidase present in endothelial cells (Burton et al., 1984; Ratych et al., 1987; Rosen and Freeman, 1984; Zweier et al., 1988). Endothelial cells could also be damaged by the joined action of oxygen-derived free radicals and proteases secreted by neutrophils that migrate into the interstitium (Fig. 9) (Ratych et al., 1987; Hernandez et al., 1987; Granger, 1988). Very importantly, it has been shown in different models that the alterations of microvasculature occur early and appear to precede lesions of epithelial cells (Burton et al., 1984; Braunwald and Kloner, 1985). This suggests that parenchymal cell injury could be the consequence of alteration in the microcirculation.

4.3.1.2. Microcirculatory factors in ischemia/hypoxiainduced liver injury

Normothermic ischemia/hypoxia

Experimental evidence also suggests that ischemia and hypoxia induce early and selective damage of the liver microcirculation that could significantly contribute to parenchymal cell lesions. Lesions of endothelial cells have been demonstrated in rat livers stored at 37° C for 1 or 2 hr in a 0.9% NaCl solution containing 2 mM CaCl₂ (McKeown *et al.*, 1988). After 1 hr, endothelial cells were swollen and the number and size of fenestrations was increased. After 2 hr, large disruptions in the continuity of the endothelium were seen. Recently, we have shown (Chazouillères and Ballet, unpublished data) using isolated perfused livers from fasted rats that 1 hr of ischemia followed



FIG. 9. Proposed endothelial cell trigger mechanism. With the onset of ischemia, xanthine dehydrogenase (XD) is converted to xanthine oxidase (XO) within the endothelial cell. Xanthine oxidase catalyzes superoxide (O_2^-) generation within the endothelial cell itself from molecular oxygen which is reintroduced at reperfusion. This endothelial-cell-generated superoxide can produce direct cellular injury independent of other elements. Neutrophils (PMN) are then attracted to the area secondarily, either by the chemotactic properties of the superoxide and/or by the injured endothelial cell itself. The neutrophils may then undergo activation and serve as an important, but secondary, amplifying system that results in further cellular injury to both endothelial and parenchymal cells. From Ratych *et al.*, 1987. Reprinted with permission of the authors and copyright holder, the C.U. Mosby CO., St Louis.

by 30 min reperfusion induces mediolobular parenchymal cell death, as assessed by trypan blue staining, in agreement with a recent study (Marotto et al., 1988). Significant endothelial cell injury was also observed which, interestingly, was not restricted to midzonal regions but involved the whole lobule. These abnormalities were accompanied by marked alterations in liver microcirculation, as indicated by the reduction in liver blood flow and an increase in intrahepatic vascular resistance, as well as by the heterogenous staining of the liver after trypan blue perfusion (Chazouillères and Ballet, unpublished data). Very recently, Komatsu et al. (1989), and Koo et al. (1989) using an in vivo model of ischemiareperfusion in the rat with in vivo microscopic techniques have shown that during reperfusion, leucocyte velocity is significantly decreased in the sinusoids, with adhesion of leucocytes to the endothelium and cessation of blood flow in many sinusoids. These abnormalities were prevented, in part, by the administration of superoxide dimutase, thus confirming the role of the superoxide anion in these alterations.

The protective effect of calcium antagonists in various models of hypoxic or ischemic liver injury has been interpreted as being the consequence of a direct effect on hepatocytes (Thurman *et al.*, 1988a). However, there is no evidence that voltage-dependent calcium channels binding dihydropyrimidins exist in hepatocytes (Mauger and Claret, 1988). By contrast, such channels are present in smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells and macrophages. Therefore, the hepatoprotective properties of these agents could be related to their effect on microcirculation and/or sinusoidal cells. A similar mechanism could also account for the protective effect of prostaglandins (Alvares-Lopez *et al.*, 1987; Araki and Lefer, 1980; Mora *et al.*, 1987; Sikugara *et al.*, 1983). In conclusion, several lines of evidence suggest that, in addition to necrosis of parenchymal cells, liver ischemia/hypoxia induces marked abnormalities of liver microcirculation together with lesions of endothelial cells. However, both phenomena occur simultaneously and it must be emphasized that the data presented are insufficient to establish a cause-effect relationship.

Hypothermic preservation

Microcirculatory disturbances have also been demonstrated after preservation of the liver by hyperthermic ischemia.

Otto et al. (1986) have observed the effect of graft cooling on the minipig liver ultrastructure. Administration of Ringer's at 2°C for initial flushing of the donor liver induced a complete desquamation of the endothelium together with minor hepatocyte lesions. By contrast, after flushing with Ringer's at 15°C, only minor alterations occurred. After preservation in Eurocollins or in a protein solution for 5-6 hr, the extent of the damage was similar. However, after transplantation and reperfusion of the liver, endothelial damage was more pronounced and parenchymal necrosis was apparent. The authors suggested that liver parenchymal cells were damaged mainly during reflow, as the consequence of microcirculatory disturbances. Myagkaya et al. (1987) have also shown that, after flushing rat livers at 17°C with Eurocollins and preserving small pieces of perfused liver in Eurocollins at 4°C, selective lesions of endothelial cells can occur. After 12 hr, interruptions in the continuity of the endothelial lining were regularly observed and the nuclear chromatin of these cells showed pronounced clumping. After 45 hr, necrosis and desquamation of endothelial cells was seen.

Again, the data suggest that hepatocyte injury could be related to endothelial cell damage. Iu et al. (1987) have shown that after 8 hr preservation at 4°C in a 0.9% saline solution containing 2 mm calcium, rat liver grafts are nonviable (100% mortality in recipient animals). When the livers preserved in such conditions were perfused at constant pressure, a significant decrease in flow was observed as compared with control nonpreserved livers. Ultrastructural studies demonstrated necrosis and desquamation of endothelial cells, while hepatocyte lesions were minimal, consisting of blebs with a mild vacuolization (McKeown et al., 1988). It is important to emphasize that in this work the ultrastructural abnormalities were present after ischemia in the absence of reperfusion. This suggests that ischemia alone is able to damage endothelial cells. When the duration of preservation did not extend beyond 4 hr, rat liver grafts were viable (100% survival at 15 days in the recipients). In these conditions, flow was maintained and endothelial cell alterations were minimal (McKeown et al., 1988). These data clearly demonstrate that sinusoidal damage and microcirculatory disturbances are critical determinants in graft failure after transplantation. These findings have been confirmed by other groups. Caldwell-Kenkel et al. (1987) have shown that, after 20 hr preservation in Eurocollins at 4°C followed by reperfusion for 15 min, approximately one third of sinusoidal cells are nonvizable as indicated by trypan blue uptake (Belinsky et al., 1984). When the duration of reperfusion was limited to 8 min, only 4% of sinusoidal cells were stained, suggesting that endothelial damage occurred during reperfusion and not during preservation. Thurman et al. (1988c) subsequently observed that after a short (<60 min) preservation in cold Ringer's, a spotty and uneven distribution of trypan blue occurred in the liver 24 hr after transplantation: 15-20% of the hepatocytes were nonviable. In contrast, untransplanted livers were judged normal by the criteria of uniform distribution of dye and dye uptake. The altered microcirculation and cell death were reduced markedly when livers were perfused briefly with nitrogen-saturated buffer for 5 min prior to transplantation. This suggests that oxygen-derived free radicals are involved in parenchymal injury. Protection was even greater if the perfusion medium contained verapamil, a calcium antagonist. As stated previously, the protection offered by verapamil could be related to its effect on microcirculation and/or sinusoidal cells. Interestingly, it was shown that in spite of these lesions, the transplanted animals were able to survive for up to 30 days. This important observation suggests that the extent of cell damage is too modest and/or that other factors are necessary to induce graft failure after transplantation (Thurman et al., 1988c).

In conclusion, endothelial cell injury and microcirculatory abnormalities appear to play a major role in the pathogenesis of liver failure after prolonged cold preservation and/or orthotopic transplantation in the rat.

These obsrvations led us to investigate the effect of two vasodilators, papaverine and a methyl-xanthine derivative, pentoxifylline, on liver hemodynamics and function immediately after 5 and 19 hr preservation (Chazouillères et al., 1989). Rat livers were cooled by in situ portal flushing with Ringer-lactate solution and preservation solution (Eurocollins) at 4°C. They were then excized and stored in Eurocollins at 4°C for 5 or 19 hr. Livers were reperfused for 70 min at 37°C, at a constant pressure $(10 \text{ cm } H_2 \text{O})$ through the portal vein in a recirculating perfused organ system. After 5 hr preservation, liver hemodynamics and function were not significantly modified. After 19 hr, bile flow and intrinsic taurocholate clearance were significantly reduced; transaminases and potassium release were markedly increased and histological studies showed mild centrilobular necrosis. Concomitantly, liver blood flow was significantly reduced and intrahepatic vascular resistance was increased. Papaverine and pentoxifylline administered during preservation (10^{-4} m) and at the time of reperfusion (10^{-5} M) significantly improved all parameters. The improvement was more pronounced after pentoxifylline administration, and this group showed no significant difference in any of the studied parameters vs control livers. Thus, papaverine and pentoxifylline significantly protected the liver during long hypothermic preservation. This provides more evidence that abnormalities of liver microcirculation are of major importance in the pathogenesis of liver injury after hypothermic storage (Chazouillères et al., 1989).

However, the precise mechanism by which papaverine and pentoxifylline exert hepatoprotective effects under our experimental conditions can only be speculated on. In view of the increased intrahepatic resistance after hypothermic storage and the vasodilatory properties of both compounds, two mechanisms can be proposed: (a) an inhibitory effect on intrahepatic vasoconstriction of portal venules and/or sinusoidal sphincters preventing the closure of sinusoids, and (b) an action on the sinusoidal endothelium possibly involving relaxation of contracted endothelial cells.

Intrahepatic vasoconstriction may be elicited during preservation by the high potassium concentration in Eurocollins solution (114 mM) and it may persist after reperfusion (Hill and Olson, 1987; Taylor *et al.*, 1985). Vasoconstriction of portal venules or sphincters can lead to closure of sinusoids. This could restrict the vascular and extravascular diffusion of the preservation solution and consequently reduce the number of protected cells. After reperfusion, it might also impair nutrient supply to cells and taurocholate uptake, resulting in decreased bile flow and intrinsic taurocholate clearance.

Microcirculatory disturbances can also result from endothelial cell injury. The swelling of endothelial cells may contribute to increased vascular resistance. Endothelial cell contraction could also be an important mechanism contributing to the increase in portal resistance and sinusoidal injury. Sinusoidal endothelial cells contain actin and myosin and can contract under the influence of vasoactive agonists (Grega, 1986a,b; Grega *et al.*, 1986; Svensjo and Grega, 1986). During reperfusion, active contraction could also be induced by a massive influx of calcium and/or the production of free radicals in endothelial cells. Activated Kupffer cells can secrete vasoactive mediators such as leukotrienes and platelet-activating factor, which might induce endothelial cell contraction. This would lead to cell bulging and protrusion into the sinusoidal lumen, increasing vascular resistance and facilitating endothelial cell separation and detachment under the influence of the shearing force of the flow. Parenchymal cell injury could occur secondarily as the result of a no-reflow phenomenon worsening cellular ischemia. It is therefore tempting to speculate that papaverine and pentoxifylline act by antagonizing endothelial cell contraction. Indeed, it has been proposed that β -adrenergic agonists, calcium antagonists and xanthine derivatives which inhibit the increase in vascular permeability induced by inflammatory mediators could act by relaxation of mediator-contracted endothelial cells (Grega, 1986b).

Other mechanisms could account for the protection offered by the two agents. Endothelial cells could be damaged by free radicals produced in situ or by free radicals and proteolytic enzymes secreted by activated Kupffer cells. Accordingly the inhibition of Kupffer cells could prevent liver injury induced by prolonged preservation. Papaverine and pentoxifylline are potent inhibitors of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase which can increase intracellular cyclic AMP. Agents increasing cyclic AMP are known to inhibit the secretory response of neutrophils and macrophages. We have shown that pentoxifylline inhibits superoxide production by human alveolar macrophages in vitro in a dose-dependent fashion (Housset et al., 1988). These findings suggest that the inhibition of Kupffer cells could explain the beneficial effect of pentoxifylline. Very recently, it has been demonstrated that after 24 hr preservation in Eurocollins at 4°C followed by 15-20 min reperfusion, Kupffer cells present morphological modifications consistent with a functional activation (Caldwell-Kenkel et al., 1988). These alterations were not observed in the absence of reperfusion, suggesting that cellular activation is triggered by reperfusion. The same group has also shown in rat livers perfused after 24 hr preservation that hepatic clearance of colloidal carbon is increased two-fold (Thurman et al., 1988b). This again indicates that cold preservation followed by reperfusion activates Kupffer cells and that this mechanism could contribute to endothelial cell damage and microcirculatory disturbances.

4.3.2. Liver Injury Induced by Endotoxins

4.3.2.1. Endotoxins. The effects of infection by gramnegative bacteria are mediated by endotoxins. Endotoxins are lipopolysaccharides that reside in the outer membrane of bacteria and consist of a polysaccharide chain associated with lipid A (Van Deventer et al., 1988). The polysaccharide region can be divided into the O-antigenic polysaccharide side chain which is near the nonreducing end, and the 'core' polysaccharide region which binds with lipid A and is near the reducing end. Lipid A has a more constant molecular structure and is thought to mediate most biological effects of endotoxins. In spite of the tremendous concentration of bacteria in the gut, there is little evidence that a physiological portal endotoxemia occurs (Van Deventer et al., 1988). By contrast, in diseases of the gut, particularly the large bowel, endotoxins can be absorbed through the intestinal wall and reach the liver (Van Deventer *et al.*, 1988). The liver and more specifically, sinusoidal cells are responsible for the uptake and inactivation of endotoxins (Nolan and Cohen, 1988). Kupffer cells appear to be mainly responsible for uptake which is mediated through a specific membrane receptor (Van Bossuyt and Wisse, 1988). In spite of their phagocytic properties, endothelial cells do not appear to play a role in endotoxin uptake in the liver, at least in normal conditions. Van Bossuyt *et al.* (1988) have recently shown that endotoxins taken up by Kuppfer cells are subsequently transferred to hepatocytes and excreted in the bile.

Endotoxins activate Kupffer cells. It has been shown *in vitro* that endotoxins induce the release of PGE₂ by Kupffer cells, whereas in basal conditions the major prostaglandin secreted is PGD₂ (Brouwer *et al.*, 1988; Kuiper *et al.*, 1988; Decker *et al.*, 1989). This effect is inhibited by dexamethasone (Dieter *et al.*, 1986). Endotoxins alone do not stimulate superoxide production (Dieter *et al.*, 1986) but they increase superoxide release induced by zymosan (Rieder *et al.*, 1988). They do not affect the secretion of lysosomal enzymes (Dieter *et al.*, 1988). Recently, it has been shown that endotoxins selectively trigger TNF secretion by Kupffer cells. This response is inhibited by dexamethasone and PGE₂ (Karck *et al.*, 1988; Decker *et al.*, 1989).

When clearance of endotoxins by the liver is decreased, significant amounts may reach the systemic circulation and lead to harmful effects such as circulatory shock, intravascular coagulation and metabolic alterations, e.g. increased protein catabolism and lipolysis.

There are some discrepancies as to hepatic alterations caused by endotoxins. It is generally admitted that endotoxins produce cholestasis without evidence of parenchymal cell necrosis. However, liver parenchymal injury has been reported after in vivo administration of endotoxins to animals (Fraker et al., 1988). In vivo liver damage could result not from a direct effect of endotoxins on the liver, but from shock and/or intravascular coagulation. Indeed, in the isolated perfused rat liver and in hepatocytes in vitro, endotoxin administration does not cause cytotoxic effects (Utili et al., 1976). In baboons, mortality and liver necrosis induced by injection of E. coli are prevented by administration of C protein, a substance that participates in the endothelial cell anticoagulant function (Taylor et al., 1987). Furthermore, hepatic necrosis induced in rats by endotoxins is prevented by a thrombin inhibitor (Arai et al., 1988). These findings suggest that activation of coagulation plays a role in liver injury. The invasion of liver parenchyma by neutrophils could also contribute to liver damage by endotoxins. Endotoxins have been shown to induce inflammatory reactions in many organs. The major events which follow the administration of endotoxins in a variety of experimental models include (Cybulsky et al., 1988) (Fig. 10) (a) neutrophil adhesion to endothelial cells; this step appears to be mediated by interleukin 1 (IL 1) and tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) secreted by macrophages, (b) emigration of neutrophils through the endo-



FIG. 10. Diagrammatic representation of events which follows entry of *E. coli* into tissues. The bacteria shed endotoxin (LPS) which TNF α . Through action on the endothelium, IL-1 and TNF α induce neutrophil emigration and accumulation at the site of bacterial multiplication. Endothelium can also synthesize and release IL-1. The emigrated neutrophils release lysosomal enzymes and oxygen radicals. The severely injured microvessels exhibit increases in vasopermeability, hemorrhage and thrombosis. From Cybulsky *et al.*, 1988. Reprinted with permission of the authors and copyright holder, Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore.

thelium and accumulation into the tissue interstitium and (c) release of oxygen radicals and proteases by migrating neutrophils, leading to microvascular hemorrhage and thrombosis.

These mechanisms have been recently explored in the liver. Schlayer et al. (1987) have shown that endotoxins induce neutrophil adhesion to sinusoidal endothelial cells in vitro (Schlayer et al., 1987) and that this effect is mediated by $TNF\alpha$ (Schlaver et al., 1988). TNF α could act by directly activating neutrophils and/or by an indirect mechanism which depends on TNF α binding to endothelial cells. McCuskey (1988b) has studied the effects of endotoxins on hepatic microcirculation using in vivo microscopy and has found that endotoxins trigger neutrophil adhesion to endothelial cells. This leads to partial or complete plugging of sinusoids as well as to a reduction or cessation of blood flow. However, given the highly anastomotic nature of the sinusoidal network this results in a redistribution of flow into adjacent sinusoids. Anastomotic sinusoids eventually become plugged and regions of the liver parenchyma may become ischemic.

The effect of endotoxins on liver hemodynamics are unclear. Endotoxins increase intrahepatic vascu-

lar resistance in isolated rat livers perfused in recirculating systems (Gaeta et al., 1986; Nolan and O'Connell, 1965; Utili et al., 1976, 1981, 1987) but not in single pass systems (Chrétien and Ballet, unpublished data). In one study, vasoconstriction was observed only when the perfusion solution contained whole blood or a mixture of leucocytes, platelets and plasma (Filkins, 1969). In contrast, no response was obtained when the perfusion medium contained only plasma, Krebs buffer, erythrocytes or leucocytes (Filkins, 1969). In other studies, a weak response was obtained when the liver was perfused with simple buffer solutions (Gaeta et al., 1986; Nolan and O'Connell, 1965). In one, the increase in resistance was inhibited by hydrocortisone (Nolan and O'Connell, 1965). By analogy with their metabolic effect in the intact liver (see Section 4) and taking into account their effects on Kupffer cells in vitro, it is conceivable that the effect of endotoxins on liver microcirculation could result from the release of eicosanoids by sinusoidal cells. PGD₂ appears to have no vasoactive effect in the liver. In contrast, TXA₂ and/or LT have potent vasoactive properties and could mediate the hemodynamic response to endotoxins in the liver.

In summary, microcirculatory factors play a major role in the pathogenesis of endotoxin-induced liver injury. Adhesion of neutrophils to the endothelium could stop flow in the sinusoids and lead to parenchymal ischemia. Migration of neturophils through the endothelial lining and their accumulation in liver parenchyma could secondarily induce endothelial injury, thereby increasing the alterations of liver perfusion and activating coagulation mechanisms in the sinusoids.

Although endotoxins *per se* appear to induce moderate liver injury, it has been shown that a massive necrosis of the liver can result in two conditions, i.e. when the susceptibility threshold of hepatocytes is lowered by pretreatment of animals with D-galactosamine at low, noncytotoxic doses, and when the number of hepatic macrophages is increased.

4.3.2.2. Hepatic necrosis induced by galactosamine and endotoxins. Pretreatment by galactosamine at low, noncytotoxic doses dramatically increases the sensitivity of animals to endotoxins in vivo by more than 10⁵-fold (Galanos et al., 1979). In this model, the hypersensitivity induced by galactosamine is not the consequence of increased macrophage activity but results from a lowering of the susceptibility threshold of hepatocytes. Other activators of Kupffer cells do not induce necrosis when associated with galactosamine, indicating that cytotoxicity is induced by the secretion of a mediator specifically triggered by endotoxins. Administration of TNFa reproduces liver necrosis in mice pretreated with galactosamine whether they are sensitive (C3H/He N) or resistant (C3H/He J) to endotoxins (Lehmann et al., 1987) implying that in this model, the effect of endotoxins in vivo is mediated by TNF α and that resistance to endotoxins results from a deficit in TNFa synthesis by macrophages (Fraker et al., 1988). Tiegs et al. (1989) have also known that the administration of TNF α reproduces the cytotoxic effect of endotoxins and that the response to $TNF\alpha$ is dose-dependent. Furthermore, plasma concentrations of TNF are significantly increased and are maximal 2 hr after the administration of endotoxins in this model. The plasma concentrations reach levels that are in the cytotoxic range. Interestingly, TNF alone is not cytotoxic. Again, it has been shown in this model that endotoxins induce a dramatic accumulation of neutrophils in the liver parenchyma (Schlayer et al., 1988). Furthermore, it has been shown that fibrin deposits are often present in sinusoids. These data again suggest that activation of neutrophils and coagulation pathways contribute to liver injury (Schlayer et al., 1988). Endotoxins could stimulate TNF secretion by Kupffer cells, trigger endothelial procoagulant activity and induce adhesion of neutrophils to endothelial cells, leading to plugging of sinusoids and altered microcirculation. After migration into the liver parenchyma, neutrophils could induce hepatocyte and endothelial cell necrosis. This would produce microthrombus formation, microcirculatory disturbances and, finally, tissue ischemia, further aggravating parenchymal necrosis.

Interestingly, it has been shown in this model that hepatic necrosis can be prevented by allopurinol, an inhibitor of xanthine oxidase (Wendel et al., 1987). This implies that a mechanism similar to that seen in ischemia reperfusion-induced damage could occur. The prostacylin analog iloprost antagonizes liver injury when given simultaneously with galactosamine/endotoxin (Wendel et al., 1987). The phospholipase A_2 inhibitor, dexamethasone, the lipooxigenase inhibitors BW 755 C, nafazatrom, RV 5901 and Ebselen, and the LTA₄ biosynthesis inhibitor, diethylcarbazine, also prevent galactosamineendotoxin hepatitis (Tiegs and Wendel, 1988). This suggests that leukotriene synthesis is involved in the mechanism of injury. Cytotoxicity is also decreased when the hepatic glutathione content is decreased by more than 90% following the administration of phorone or diethylmaleate, suggesting that glutathione-derived cysteinyl leukotrienes may be the pathogenic mediators. The gamma glutamyl transpeptidase inhibitor AT 125 which prevents the conversion of LTC₄ to LTD₄ significantly reduces liver injury. Furthermore, the LTD₄ receptor antagonist FPL 55712 has a significant protective effect, while damage is replicated when LTD₄ is substituted for the endotoxins. This strongly supports LTD₄ as a major pathogenic mediator in this model. LTD_4 could induce transitory liver vasoconstriction leading to ischemia followed by liver injury at the time of reperfusion (Tiegs and Wendel, 1988). According to this hypothesis, the protective effect of the PGI₂ analog iloprost could be related to the inhibition of vasoconstriction. More recently, Tiegs et al. (1989) have shown that allopurinol, iloprost, dexamethasone, BW 755 C and FPL 55712 are ineffective when TNF is substituted for the endotoxins (Tiegs et al., 1989). This indicates that these agents could also act by inhibiting the secretion of TNF and/or by antagonizing its activity. Similarly, the calcium channel blockers verapamil and nifedipine, which significantly prevent liver injury in this model, are ineffective when TNF is substituted for the endotoxins. This indicates that these agents too could act by inhibiting the secretion of TNF and/or by antagonizing its activity. According to the authors, the data suggest that the secretion of TNF could result from the generation of oxygen-derived free radicals at the time of reperfusion following activation of xanthine oxidase during ischemia. According to this hypothesis, ischemia could result from vasoconstriction induced by LTD₄. Again, the protective effect of calcium channel blockers could be related to the inhibition of vasoconstriction (Tiegs et al., 1989). However, other mechanisms may be involved. As discussed previously, TNF is not directly cytotoxic but can trigger endothelial procoagulant activity, adhesion of neutrophils to endothelial cells and the secretion of oxygen-derived free radicals by neutrophils. Cysteinyl leukotrienes could increase the permeability of the sinusoids and facilitate the migration of neutrophils into the liver parenchyma (Ford-Hutchinson, 1987; Lewis and Austen, 1984; Samuelsson et al., 1987).

4.3.2.3. Hepatic necrosis induced by Corynebacterium parvum or Propionibacterium acnes followed by endotoxin. Endotoxins can trigger a massive liver necrosis when the hepatic macrophage content is increased by prior injection of Corynebacterium parvum in rats (Tanner et al., 1981) or Propionibacterium acnes in mice (Mizoguchi et al., 1987). Liver necrosis is significantly reduced by the administration of superoxide dismutase (Arthur et al., 1985). Furthermore, endotoxins stimulate superoxide release by hepatic macrophages isolated from rats pretreated with C. parvum (Arthur et al., 1988). These data suggest that oxygen-derived free radicals secreted by hepatic macrophages under the influence of endotoxins could induce liver injury. Mizoguchi et al. (1987) have shown in hepatitis induced by P. acnes-endotoxin in mice, that a PGE_1 analog decreases liver injury and mortality significantly. The mechanism by which PGE₁ exerts hepatoprotective properties is unclear. PGE₁ inhibits the production of cytotoxic mediator(s) by adherent liver cells in vitro and also prevents the cytotoxic effect of the supernatant medium conditioned by adherent cells (Mizoguchi et al., 1987). This indicates that PGE₁ could not only inhibit the release of cytotoxic mediators by liver macrophages but could also exert a 'cytoprotective' effect on hepatocytes. Recently, it has been shown that antithrombin III administration induces a significant biological and histological improvement in this model. These findings again suggest that activation of coagulation plays a role in the physiopathology of liver damage (Yamada et al., 1989).

4.3.3. Liver Injury Induced by Viruses

There is also evidence that sinusoidal cells and microvascular factors are involved in two experimental models of hepatitis induced by viruses: Murine Hepatitis Virus 3 (MHV 3) and Frog Virus 3 (FV 3).

4.3.3.1. Hepatitis induced by MHV 3. MHV 3 is coronavirus known to exert a direct cytopathic effect on hepatocytes in vitro. In susceptible mice, MHV 3 induces focal parenchymal necrosis surrounded by an inflammatory infiltrate. The extent of necrosis varies according to the susceptibility of the strain. Accordingly, the spectrum of liver damage may range from fulminant hepatitis leading to death in 5 days to chronic aggressive hepatitis progressing to death in 6-9 months. Direct observation of the microcirculation by in vivo microscopy has shown that marked alterations may occur (McPhee et al., 1985). Importantly, they appear to precede lesions of hepatocytes. An early finding was the deposition of fibrin microthrombi in sinusoids associated with a reduction in sinusoidal flow, the formation of clumped erythrocytes and the dilatation of sinusoids, a pattern qualified as 'granular blood flow'. Subsequently, avascular parenchymal areas occurred, corresponding to necrotic foci. Studies of microcirculation by corrosion cast-SEM techniques have confirmed that sinusoids are obstructed as early as 48 hr after inoculation, leading to the complete occlusion of small spherical zones of liver parenchyma (McPhee et al., 1988). The mean diameter of the lesions was $83 \,\mu m$ which represents the width of about 6 hepatocytes. Sinusoidal obstruction was induced by protrusion of sinusoidal cells and plugging by clumped erythrocytes and/or platelets and/or cellular debris. Subsequently, the ischemic foci increased in size and reached near-confluence at the time of death 5-7 days postinfection. Importantly, the lesions appeared to predominate in periportal regions. A significant increase in macrophage procoagulant activity correlated with the degree of parenchymal injury in this model (McPhee et al., 1985; Abecassis et al., 1987). Finally, it has been shown that the administration of dimethyl-PGE₂ prevents the stimulation of macrophage procoagulant activity and significantly reduces liver injury (Abecassis et al., 1987). These data suggest the following sequence: MHV 3 infection and/or lesions of endothelial cells could trigger procoagulant activity and activate coagulation. Formation of fibrin microthrombi in sinusoids impairs microcirculation. Concomitantly, the release of oxygen-derived free radicals by Kupffer cells could contribute to sinusoidal and parenchymal damage, in accord with the predominant periportal localization of the lesions. Lesions of sinusoids could lead to their obstruction and to the formation of foci of ischemic necrosis in the liver parenchyma. However, it is also clear that the infection of hepatocytes by MHV 3 can directly damage the cells.

4.3.3.2. Hepatitis induced by FV 3. Infection of rats or mice by FV 3 leads to a fulminant hepatitis and death in less than 30 hr. Liver injury predominates in periportal and mid-lobular regions. An early and selective necrosis of endothelial and Kupffer cells has been observed in this model that leads to the destruction of sinusoids (Kirn et al., 1983). The lesions result from the infection of sinusoidal cells by the virus. Parenchymal lesions occur secondarily, with nuclear modifications followed by cytoplasmic lesions leading to hepatocyte necrosis. The sequence of lesions suggests that parenchymal lesions could be secondary to the alterations of sinusoids (Kirn et al., 1983). Data also suggest that endotoxins, normally inactivated by Kupffer cells and endothelial cells, could contribute to this liver injury: (a) endotoxin administration aggravates liver lesions and inoculation with sublethal doses of virus increases the susceptibility of animals to endotoxins; (b) liver injury is significantly reduced by colectomy which suppresses the pool of enteric endotoxins, in germ-free animals, by the administration of polymyxin B which inactivates endotoxins, following the development of endotoxin tolerance by repeated administration of nonlethal doses. However, as discussed previously, endotoxins per se are not cytotoxic for normal hepatocytes. The inhibition of RNA synthesis by FV 3 proteins in hepatocytes could thus increase their susceptibility to endotoxins (Kirn et al., 1983).

Recent studies have shown that cysteinyl leukotrienes also contribute to the pathogenesis of FV3induced hepatitis. In effect, the secretion of cysteinyl leukotrienes into bile is significantly increased and reaches levels similar to those observed after severe traumatic injury (Denzlinger *et al.*, 1985; Hagmann *et al.*, 1987). Furthermore, inhibition of leukotriene biosynthesis by the lipooxigenase inhibitors AA 861 and BW 755 C, significantly decreases liver injury (Hagmann *et al.*, 1987). Finally, it is important to emphasize that endotoxins are potent stimulators of leukotriene synthesis and secretion in a variety of experimental systems. However, the origin of the leukotrienes secreted into the bile during FV 3induced hepatitis is unknown. As stated previously, Kupffer cells are the only liver cells known to produce significant amounts of leukotrienes (Keppler *et al.*, 1985, 1988; Hagmann and Keppler, 1988). Accordingly, Kupffer cells could produce leukotrienes early after infection by FV 3, before their destruction by the virus. Another possibility is that leukotrienes are released by polymorphonuclear cells and/or monocytes circulating in the blood or infiltrating the liver parenchyma (Mullane *et al.*, 1988).

The mechanism by which leukotrienes could trigger liver injury is unclear. Leukotrienes could impair microcirculation. In effect, observation of the liver microcirculation by in vivo microscopy has revealed abnormalities in FV3-infected animals similar to those observed after administration of endotoxins. Furthermore, it has been shown that abundant cellular debris resulting from necrosis of sinusoidal cells obstructs the sinusoids and aggravates microcirculatory disturbances (McCuskey, 1988b). Leukotrienes could also exert deleterious effects by increasing the permeability of sinusoids and facilitating the migration of neutrophils and macrophages into the liver parenchyma and/or by activating inflammatory cells (Ford-Hutchinson, 1987; Lewis and Austen, 1984; Samuelsson et al., 1987).

4.3.4. Liver Injury Induced by Chemicals

The contribution of sinusoidal cells and/or microvascular factors to the liver injury induced by toxic agents has also been explored.

4.3.4.1. *Galactosamine*. Administration of galactosamine to most animal species usually induces an acute hepatitis within 24 hr with histological features similar to those observed in patients with viral hepatitis. Lesions consist of foci of parenchymal necrosis disseminated in the liver lobule surrounded by inflammatory infiltrates mainly composed of polymorphonuclear cells and lymphocytes (Decker and Keppler, 1974).

The mechanism of liver injury has been extensively studied (Decker and Keppler, 1974). Administration of galactosamine leads to the formation of UDPderivatives of galactosamine together with a depletion in UTP and UDP-hexoses in hepatocytes. This produces an inhibition of macromolecule synthesis dependent on uracil nucleotides, lesions of cellular organelles and, finally, cell necrosis. A major argument supporting this hypothesis is the prevention of liver injury by uridine given in the 3 hr following galactosamine has a direct cytotoxic effect on isolated or cultured hepatocytes. These data indicate that the hepatotoxicity of galactosamine *in vivo* may result from its direct cytotoxic effect on hepatocytes.

However, there is also evidence that circulating endotoxins and hepatic macrophages could be involved in the pathogenesis of this liver injury. As discussed previously, liver damage induced by galactosamine is significantly increased by the administration of endotoxins (Galanos et al., 1979). Conversely, liver lesions are markedly reduced when prior colectomy is performed (Nolan and Cohen, 1988). Furthermore, the inhibition of Kupffer cells by methylpalmitate (Al Tuwaijri et al., 1981) or administration of latex particles before the administration of galactosamine (Shiratori et al., 1988) significantly decreased liver injury. In contrast, necrosis is significantly increased when Kupffer cells are stimulated by latex particles after the administration of galactosamine (Shiratori et al., 1988). These data suggest that the activation of Kupffer cells by circulating endotoxins plays a major role in the pathogenesis of parenchymal necrosis. Furthermore, the hepatoprotective effect of superoxide dismutase suggests that liver lesions could be mediated by oxygenderived free radicals released by macrophages. An additional argument was provided by Chojkier and Fierer (1985). It was shown that strains of mice resistant to endotoxins were also partially resistant to galactosamine. Furthermore, the transfer of splenic macrophages isolated from susceptible animals to resistant irradiated animals induced susceptibility to galactosamine. This suggests that parenchymal necrosis induced by galactosamine can result, at least in part, from an activation of hepatic macrophages. Accordingly, it is possible that the protective effect of prostaglandin analogs dimethyl-PGE₂ (Stachura et al., 1980), PGI₂ (Noda et al., 1986) and PGD₂ in this model, could be related to their inhibitory effect on liver macrophages and, more generally, on the inflammatory reaction (Bray, 1987; Grygelwski et al., 1987; Ogawa et al. 1988). Muller-Berghaus et al. (1975) have shown that fibrin microthrombi can form in sinusoids during galactosamine-induced hepatitis in rabbits. The administration of heparin prevents the formation of microthrombi but does not affect liver lesions or animal survival, indicating that activation of coagulation processes occur in sinusoids during galactosamine-induced hepatitis but that this phenomenon does not contribute significantly to liver injury.

4.3.4.2. Carbon tetrachloride (CCl_4) . The administration of CCl₄ induces parenchymal necrosis predominating in perivenous regions. Lesions are accompanied by inflammatory infiltrates consisting of polymorphonuclear and mononuclear cells and by fatty changes which can sometimes be extensive (Zimmerman, 1976). Lesions are usually maximal between 24 and 36 hr. CCl₄-induced hepatic injury was probably the first model in which microcirculatory factors were considered to play a role in cell necrosis. An early concept attributed hepatic necrosis to centrilobular ischemia secondary to the decrease in sinusoidal flow. While early transillumination studies provided evidence that microcirculation was impaired after CCl₄ intoxication, subsequent studies showed that microcirculatory disturbances occurred only after centrilobular injury (Brauer, 1963). Furthermore, the demonstration by Brauer (1963) that in the isolated perfused rat liver, administration of CHCl₃ led to centrilobular necrosis even when blood flow was reversed indicated clearly that necrosis was independent of any vascular changes and indeed preceded the latter by several hours. It is generally thought that CCl_4 hepatotoxicity occurs via a direct cytotoxic effect on hepatocytes. A number of studies indicate that CCl_4 toxicity is related to its conversion by cytochrome P-450 to the highly reactive trichloromethyl radical (CCl_3) (Anders, 1984).

However, while Brauer (1963) recognized that CCl₄-induced cell necrosis results from a direct cytotoxic effect, he emphasized that impaired microcirculation could lead to tissue ischemia and thus to liver injury. This mechanism could account for the finding that liver lesions produced after CCl₄ administration can be greatly reduced by procedures which interfere with sympathetic activation (Zimmerman, 1976). Indeed, it is conceivable that liver vasoconstriction induced by sympathetic activation could contribute to the microcirculatory disturbances observed after CCl₄ administration. However, alternative mechanisms have been proposed, i.e. (a) a cytotoxic effect of catecholamines resulting from their conversion into free radicals (Singal et al., 1981) and (b) a depletion of hepatic glutathione resulting from the stimulation of glutathione cellular efflux by catecholamines (Sies and Graf, 1985).

Recent studies suggest that endotoxins could also contribute to liver damage. Development of endotoxin tolerance or administration of polymyxin B significantly reduce the extent of liver lesions. Furthermore, Nolan and Cohen (1988) have shown that endotoxin clearance is significantly reduced after administration of CCl₄ which suggests that sinusoidal cells could be injured in this model. In contrast, Fujiwara *et al.* (1988a,b) found neither sinusoidal lesions nor fibrin microthrombus formation. Furthermore, administration of antithrombin III did not significantly modify liver damage. These data suggest that lesions of the sinusoids and activation of coagulation are not a primary event in the pathogenesis of liver lesions in this model.

Prostaglandin analogs dmPGE₂, PGI₂ and PGF₂^{α} have been shown to have hepatoprotective properties in CCl₄-induced liver injury (Guarner *et al.*, 1983; Rush *et al.*, 1986; Stachura *et al.*, 1981). It has been suggested that the protection offered by prostaglandins could result from their effect on liver microcirculation. However, it has been shown that dmPGE₂ decreases the formation of the reactive metabolite CCl₃ (Rush *et al.*, 1986). Furthermore, prostaglandins have been shown to prevent the cytotoxicity of CCl₄ on isolated or cultured hepatocytes (Bang *et al.*, 1988). Therefore alternative mechanisms not directly involving the liver microvasculature could account for the effects of prostaglandins.

4.3.4.3. Other models. Recent data suggest that microcirculatory factors could play a role in hepatic injury induced by acetaminophen. Jaeschke and Mitchell (1989) have reported that hepatic injury produced in mice by the arylating metabolite of acetaminophen leads to a rapid 15-fold increase in neutrophil accumulation with a consequent plugging of the hepatic microvasculature. It was suggested that these secondary microcirculatory changes exacerbate the original injury and expand the region of necrosis through an ischemic infarction of the periacinal region. Interestingly, this component of injury was prevented by treatment with antioxidants such as allopurinol without decreasing the formation of the toxic metabolite of acetaminophene or preventing glutathione depletion.

Fujiwara *et al.* (1988b) recently showed that lesions of endothelial and fat-storing cells, together with fibrin microthrombi formation in sinusoids, occur in a model of acute liver damage induced by dimethylnitrosamine in rats. Liver injury was accompanied by increased plasma concentrations of soluble fibrin monomer complexes with decreased concentrations of antithrombin III and coagulation factor VIIIc. Administration of antithrombin III significantly decreased liver injury and prevented intravascular coagulation suggesting a cause-effect relationship.

5. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, abnormalities of the microcirculation and sinusoidal cell function occur in several types of acute liver injury. This raises the question as to the role of these modifications in hepatocyte injury. Although several findings suggest that in ischemic or hypoxic liver injury and in hepatitis induced by FV 3, lesions of the microvasculature could be a primary event that leads to hepatocyte injury, most evidence indicates that in other types of liver damage the primary liver lesion is independent of microcirculatory factors. However, as emphasized in 1963 by Brauer this is a vicious circle with "liver injury causing impaired hepatic blood supply, this causing more liver injury, which causes yet more circulatory embarrassment, and so on to tissue death or to resolution by some event breaking the cycle".

Since Brauer, it has been recognized that sinusoids represent a much more complex system than passive channels ensuring the dispersion of molecules. Sinusoidal cells form a very complex network that protects and regulates parenchymal cells through a multiplicity of lipid mediators and cytokines. Sinusoidal cells and, particularly, Kupffer cells also have the potential to cause injury by releasing cytotoxic substances, activating coagulation processes or recruiting inflammatory cells. However, delicate feedback mechanisms exist between the different cell types, maintaining an equilibrium between cytotoxic and inhibitory mechanisms. Disturbances in the regulation of this system, be they excessive stimulation by mediators or critical reduction in inhibitory factors, will cause or amplify tissue injury.

The concept that liver injury is not the consequence of a single factor but results from disturbances in a regulatory network, was recognized by Popper (1987, 1988) who stated that "the response to injury in experimental animals and in humans is usually not a one-step reaction.... It is not even a series of stepwise reactions or a cascade but rather a network of interacting events under the influence of regulatory factors and mediators, secondary messengers and transducing signals which determine the response."

If this hypothesis is correct, the complex multicomponent nature of the processes suggests that the most successful therapeutic strategies may consist of combinations of drugs rather than a single pharmacological agent directed at a putative 'key mechanism', e.g. a mediator antagonist.

Finally, as biological and physiological research reveals the existence of systems of increasing complexity, it becomes essential, in order to understand and to modulate the complex dynamic behavior of such systems, to develop new theories and new models. This is, in the opinion of the author, the major challenge for the investigator at the end of the twentieth century.

Acknowledgements-I would like to thank many colleagues, post doctoral fellows and students who, over the years, have contributed to our studies and whose helpful discussions made possible the writing of this review, in particular: Raoul Poupon, P-Michel Huet, Yvon Calmus, Yves Chrétien, Philippe Marteau, Olivier Chazouillères, Danielle Petit, Bénèdicte Jolivet, Eric Savier, Jérome Guéchot, Michel Vaubourdolle and Ricardo Mastaï. In addition I am indebted to Colette Rey, Marie-Thérèse Bonnefis, and Antoine Brault for their technical assistance and Laurence Grivot for assistance in the preparation of the manuscript. It was not possible to cover all the aspects of hepatic circulation in this review and I would like to apologize to researchers who have contributed to our understanding of this subject and whose contribution has been omitted. Supported by Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale, Fondation pour la Recherche Médicale, Faculté de Médecine Saint-Antoine, Ministère des Affaires Etrangères, Medical Research Council of Canada.

REFERENCES

- ABECASSIS, M., FALK, J. A., MAKOWKA, L., DINDZANS, V. J., FALK, R. E. and LEVY, G. Z. (1987) 16,16 dimethyl prostaglandin E₂ prevents the development of fulminant hepatitis and blocks the induction of monocyte/ macrophage procoagulant activity after murine hepatitis virus strain 3 infection. J. clin. Invest. 80: 881–889.
- AHMAD, A. B., BENNETT, P. N. and ROWLAND, M. (1984) Influence of route of hepatic administration on drug availability. J. Pharmac. exp. Ther. 230: 718-725.
- AKERBOOM, T., LENZEN, R., SCHNEIDER, I. and SIES, H. (1987) Cholestasis and changes in the microcirculation of perfused rat liver caused by the calcium ionophore A 23187 and type I antiarrhythmic drugs. *Biochem. Pharmac.* 36: 3037–3042.
- ALTIN, J. G. and BYGRAVE, F. L. (1988a) Prostaglandin $F_2\alpha$ and the thromboxane A_2 analogue ONO-11113 stimulate Ca^{2+} fluxes and other physiological responses in rat liver. *Biochem. J.* **249:** 677–685.
- ALTIN, J. G. and BYGRAVE, F. L. (1988b) Non-parenchymal cells as mediators of physiological responses in liver. *Molec. cell. Biochem.* 83: 3-4.
- ALTIN, J. G., DIETER, P. and BYGRAVE, F. L. (1987) Evidence that Ca²⁺ fluxes and respiratory, glycogenolytic and vasoconstrictive effects induced by the action of plateletactivating factor and L- α -lysophosphatidylcholine in the perfused rat liver are mediated by products of the cyclooxygenase pathway. *Biochem. J.* **245**: 145–150.
- AL TUWAIJRI, A., AKDAMA, K. and DI LUZIO, N. (1981) Modification of galactosamine-induced liver injury in rats by reticuloendothelial system stimulation or depression. *Hepatology* 1: 107–113.
- ALVAREZ-LOPEZ, A., DE HEMPTINNE, B., HOEBEKE, Y. and LAMBOTTE, L. (1987) Prostaglandin E_2 increases the tolerance of the rat liver to warm ischemia in absence of splanchnic congestion. *Transp. Proc.* **19:** 4105–4109.
- ANDERS, M. W. (1984) Biotransformation of halogenated hydrocarbons. In: Drug Metabolism and Drug Toxicity,

pp. 55-70, MITCHELL, J. R. and HORNING, M. G. (eds) Raven Press, New York.

- ARAI, M., OKUNO, F., KOBAYASHI, T., ISHII, H. and TSUCHIYA, M. (1988) Endotoxin hepatotoxicity: a possible key role of intravascular coagulation. *Hepatology* 8: 1397 (Abstr.).
- ARAKI, H. and LEFER, A. M. (1980) Cytoprotective action of prostacyclin during hypoxia in the isolated perfused cat liver. Am. J. Physiol. 238: H176-H18.
- ARENSON, D. M., FRIEDMAN, S. L. and BISSEL, D. M. (1988) Formation of extracellular matrix in normal rat liver: lipocytes as a major source of proteoglycans. *Gastro-enterology* 95: 441-447.
- ARROYO, V., PLANAS, R., GAYA, J., DEULOFEU, R., RIMOLA, A., PEREZ-AYOSO, R. M., RIVERA, F. and RODES, J. (1983) Sympathetic nervous activity renin-angiotensin system and renal excretion of prostaglandin E_2 in cirrhosis. Relationship to functional renal failure and sodium and water excretion. *Eur. J. clin. Invest.* **13**: 271–278.
- ARTHUR, M. J.P., BENTLEY, I. S., TANNER, A. R., SAUNDERS, P. K., MILLWARD-SADLER, G. H. and WRIGHT, R. (1985) Oxygen-derived free radicals promote hepatic injury in the rat. *Gastroenterology* 89: 1114–1122.
- ARTHUR, M. J. P., SAUNDERS, P. K. and WRIGHT, R. (1988) Effect of endotoxin on release of reactive oxygen intermediates by rat hepatic macrophages. *Gastroenterology* 95: 1588-1594.
- BALLÉ, C. and JUNGERMANN, K. (1986) Control of urea production, glutamine release and ammonia uptake in the perfused rat liver by the sympathetic innervation. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 158: 13–18.
- BALLÉ, C., BEUERS, U., ENGLELHARDT, R. and JUNGERMANN, K. (1987) Intracellular mechanism of action of sympathetic hepatic nerves on glucose and lactate balance in perfused rat liver. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 170: 193–199.
- BALLET, F., CHRETIEN, Y., LHOSTE, F. and POUPON, R. (1985) Hepatic clearance of norepinephrine in the isolated perfused rat liver. J. Hepatol. 2: S188 (Abstr.).
- BALLET, F., CHRETIEN, Y., REY, C. and POUPON, R. (1987a) Norepinephrine: a potential modulator of the hepatic transport of taurocholate. A study in the isolated perfused rat liver. J. Pharmac. exp. Ther. 240: 303-307.
- BALLET, F., MASTAI, R., BRAULT, A. and HUET, P. M. (1987b) Norepinephrine-induced alteration of taurocholate transport: a vascular or a cellular effect. *Hepatology* 7: 1037 (Abstr.).
- BALLET, F., CHRETIEN, Y., REY, C. and POUPON, R. (1988) Differential response of normal and cirrhotic liver to vasoactive agents. A study in the isolated perfused rat liver. J. Pharmac. exp. Ther. 244: 233-235.
- BANG, S., MYREN, J., NAESS, O., BERAKI, K., SERCK-HANSSEN, A. and ARNESEN, K. (1988) Prostaglandins and CCl₄induced liver cell mortality. Scand. J. Gastroenterol. 23: 931-934.
- BARBARE, J. C., POUPON, R., JAILLON, P., BORIES, P., AUSSANAIRE, M., DARNIS, F., MICHEL, H. and CHEYMOL, G. (1984) The influence of vasoactive agents on metabolic activity of the liver in cirrhosis: a study of the effects of posterior pituitary extract, vasopressin and somatostatin. *Hepatology* 4: 59-62.
- BARROWMAN, J. A., PERRY, M. A., KVIETYS, P. R. and GRANGER, D. N. (1982) Exclusion phenomenon in the liver interstitium. Am. J. Physiol. 243: G410-G414.
- BASS, N. M., MANNING, J. A. and WEISIGER, R. A. (1987) Increased sinusoidal volume and solute extraction during retrograde liver perfusion. Am. J. Physiol. 256: G1041-G1048.
- BECKH, K., BALKS, H. J. and JUNGERMANN, K. (1982) Activation of glycogenolysis and norepinephrine overflow in the perfused rat liver during repetitive perivascular nerve stimulation. FEBS Lett. 149: 261-265.
- BECKH, K., HARTMANN, H., JUNGERMANN, K. and SHOLZ, R. (1984) Regulation of oxygen consumption in perfused rat

liver: decrease by α -sympathetic nerve stimulation and increase by the α -agonist phenylephrine. *Pfügers Arch.* **401:** 104–106.

- BELINSKY, S. A., POPP, J. A., KAUFFMAN, F. C. and THURMAN, R. G. (1984) Trypan blue uptake as a new method to investigate hepatotoxicity in periportal and pericentral regions of the liver lobule: stuides with allyl alcohol in the perfused liver. J. Pharmac. exp. Ther. 230: 755-760.
- BELZER, F. O. and SOUTHARD, J. H. (1988) Principles of solid-organ preservation by cold-storage. *Transplantation* 45: 673–676.
- BENNETT, T. D. and ROTHE, C. F. (1981) Hepatic capacitance responses to changes in flow and hepatic venous pressure in dogs. Am. J. Physiol. 246: H525-H531.
- BENOIT, J. N., BARROWMAN, J. A., HARPER, S. L., KVIETYS, P. R. and GRANGER, D. N. (1984) Role of humoral factors in the intestinal hyperemia associated with chronic portal hypertension. Am. J. Physiol. 247: G486–G493.
- BENOIT, J. N., WOMACK, W. A., HERNANDEZ, L. and GRANGER, D. N. (1985) 'Forward' and 'backward' flow mechanisms of portal hypertension. *Gastroenterology* 89: 1092-1096.
- BENOIT, J. N., WORMACK, W. A., KORTHIUS, R. J., WILBORN, W. H. and GRANGER, D. N. (1986) Chronic portal hypertension: effects on gastrointestinal blood flow distribution. Am. J. Physiol. 250: G535-G539.
- BERNARDI, M., TRIVISANI, F., SANTINI, C., ZOLI, G., BARALDINI, M., LIGABUE, A. and GASBARRINI, G. (1983) Plasma norepinephrine, weak neurotransmitters, and renin activity during active tilting in liver cirrhosis: relationship with cardiovascular homeostasis and renal function. *Hepatology* 3: 56-64.
- BEUERS, U., BECKH, K. and JUNGERMANN, K. (1986) Control of ketogenesis in the perfused rat liver by the sympathetic innervation. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **158**: 19–24.
- BEVAN, J. A. (1979) Some bases of differences in vascular response to sympathetic activity. *Circ. Res.* 45: 161-171.
- BEVAN, J. A. (1985) Vascular myogenic or stretch-dependent tone. J. cardiovasc. Pharmac. 7: S129–S136.
- BHATAL, P. S. and GROSSMAN, J. H. (1985) Reduction of the increased portal vascular resistance of the isolated perfused cirrhotic rat liver by vasodilators. *J. Hepatol.* 1: 325-337.
- BICHET, D. G., VANPUTTEN, V. J. and SCHRIER, R. W. (1982) Potential role of increased sympathetic activity in impaired sodium and water excretion in cirrhosis. *New Engl.* J. Med. 307: 1552–1557.
- BIOULAC-SAGE, P. and BALABAUD, C. (1985) La cellule périsinusoïdale (ou cellule de Ito) Gastroenterol. clin. Biol. 9: 312-322.
- BIOULAC-SAGE, P., LAFON, M. E., LE BAIL, B. and BALABAUD, C. (1988) Perisinusoidal and pit cells in liver sinusoids. In: Sinusoids in Human Liver: Health and Disease, pp. 39–63, BIOULAC-SAGE, P. and BALABAUD, C. (eds) Kupffer cells Foundation, Rijswijk.
- BIOULAC-SAGE, P., LAFON, M. E., SARIC, J. and BALABAUD, C. (1990) Nerves and perisinusoidal cells in human liver. J. Hepatol. 10: 105-112.
- BIRMELIN, M. and DECKER, K. (1984) Synthesis of prostanoids and cyclic nucleotides by phagocytosing rat Kupffer cells. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 142: 219–225.
- BLANCHET, L. and LEBREC, D. (1982) Changes in splanchnic blood flow in portal hypertensive rats. *Eur. J. clin. Invest.* 12: 327-330.
- BLEI, A. T. (1989) Vasodilator therapy of portal hypertension: focus on the liver. *Hepatology* 6: 896-899.
- BLEI, A. T. and GOTTSTEIN, J. (1986) Isosorbide dinitrate in experimental portal hypertension: a study of factors that modulate the haemodynamic response. *Hepatology* 6: 107-111.
- BLEI, A. T., GRANGER, D. and FUNG, H. L. (1988) Organic

nitrates in portal hypertension. Eur. Heart. J. 9A: 205-211.

- BLOCH, E. H. (1970) The termination of hepatic arterioles and the functional unit of the liver as determined by microscopy of the living organ. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 170: 78–87.
- BOMZON, A. and BLENDIS, L. M. (1987) Vascular reactivity in experimental portal hypertension. *Am. J. Physiol.* 252: G158-G162.
- BONVENTRE, J. V. (1988) Mediators of ischemic renal injury. Ann. Rev. Med. 39: 531-544.
- BOOBIS, A. R. and POWIS, G. (1974) The effects of catecholamines upon the metabolism of foreign compounds and upon the distribution of perfusate in the isolated liver of the rat. *Biochem. Pharmac.* 23: 3377–3384.
- Bosch, J. (1985) Effect of pharmacological agents on portal hypertension: a haemodynamic appraisal. *Clin. Gastroenterol.* 14: 169–184.
- BOSCH, J., ENRIQUEZ, R., GROSZMANN, R. J. and STORER, E. H. (1983) Chronic bile duct ligation in the dog: hemodynamic characterization of a portal hypertensive model. *Hepatology* 3: 1002–1007.
- BRADFORD, B. U., MAROTTO, M., LEMASTERS, J. J. and THURMAN, R. G. (1986) New, simple models to evaluate zone-specific damage due to hypoxia in the perfused rat liver: time course and effect of nutritional state. J. Pharmac. exp. Ther. 236: 263-268.
- BRAQUET, P., TOUQUI, L., SHEN, T. Y. and VARGAFTIG, B. B. (1987) Perspectives in platelet-activating factor research. *Pharmac. Rev.* **39**: 97–133.
- BRAUER, R. W. (1958) Blood flow distribution in the liver and the circulatory control of liver function. In: *Liver Function*, pp. 113–127, BRAUER, R. W. (ed.) Am. Inst. Biol. Sci. Monograph.
- BRAUER, R. W. (1963) Liver circulation and function. Physiol. Rev. 43: 116-192.
- BRAUER, R. W., MCELROY, R. F. and HOLLOWAY, R. J. (1956) Hemodynamics of the vascular tree of the isolated rat liver preparation. Am. J. Physiol. 535-542.
- BRAUNWALD, E. and KLONER, R. A. (1985) Myocardial reperfusion: a double-edged sword. J. clin. Invest. 76: 1713-1719.
- BRAY, M. A. (1987) Prostaglandins and leukotrienes: fine tuning of the immune response. ISI Atlas Sci.: Pharmac. 1: 101-106.
- BREDFELDT, J. E., RILEY, E. M. and GROSZMANN, R. J. (1985) Compensatory mechanisms in response to an elevated hepatic oxygen consumption in chronically ethanol-fed rats. Am. J. Physiol. 248: G507–G511.
- BROUWER, A., BARELDS, R. J., DE LEEUW, A. M., BLAUW, E., PLAS, A., YAP, S. H., VAN DEN BROEK, A. M. W. C. and KNOOK, D. L. (1988) Isolation and culture of Kupffer cells from human liver. Ultrastructure, endocytosis and prostaglandin synthesis. J. Hepatol. 6: 36-49.
- BURNSTOCK, G. (1985) Neurohumoral control of blood vessels: some future directions. J. cardiovasc. Pharmac. 7: S137–S146.
- BURNSTOCK, G. (1988) Sympathetic purinergic transmission in small blood vessels. TIPS 9: 116–117.
- BURRIDGE, R. (1981) Are stress fibres contractile? Nature 294: 691-692.
- BURROUGHS, A. K. (1986) Pitfalls in studies of prophylactic therapy for variceal bleeding in cirrhotics. *Hepatology* 6: 1407-1413.
- BURTON, K. P., MCCORD, J. M. and GHAI, G. (1984) Myocardial alterations due to free-radical generation. *Am. J. Physiol.* 15: H776-H783.
- BUXTON, D. B. (1988) Potentiation of the glycogenolytic and haemodynamic actions of adenosine in the perfused rat liver by verapamil. *Eur. J. Pharmac.* 146: 121-127.
- BUXTON, D. B., HANAHAN, D. J. and OLSON, M. S. (1984a) Stimulation of glycogenolysis and platelet-activating factor production by heat-aggregated immunoglobin G in the perfused rat liver. J. biol. Chem. 259: 13758-13761.

- BUXTON, D. B., SHKLA, S. D., HANAHAN, D. J. and OLSON, M. S. (1984b) Stimulation of hepatic glycogenolysis by acetylglyceryl ether phosphorylcholine. J. biol. Chem. 259: 1468-1471.
- BUXTON, D. B., FISHER, R. A., HANAHAN, D. J. and OLSON, M. S. (1986a) Platelet-activating factor-mediated vasoconstriction and glycogenolysis in the perfused rat liver. *J. biol. Chem.* 261: 644–649.
- BUXTON, D. B., HANAHAN, D. J. and OLSON, M. D. (1986b) Specific antagonists of platelet activating factor-mediated vaosconstriction and glycogenolysis in the perfused rat liver. *Biochem. Pharmac.* 35: 893–897.
- BUXTON, D. B., ROBERTSON, S. M. and OLSON, M. S. (1986c) Stimulation of glycogenolysis by adenine nucleotides in the perfused rat liver. *Biochem. J.* 237: 773–780.
- BUXTON, D. B., FISHER, R. A., BRISENO, D. L., HANAHAN, D. J. and OLSON, M. D. (1987a) Glycogenolytic and haemodynamic responses to heat-aggregated immunoglobulin G and prostaglandin E₂ in the perfused rat liver. *Biochem. J.* 243: 493-498.
- BUXTON, D. B., FISHER, R. A., ROBERTSON, S. M. and OLSON, M. D. (1987b) Stimulation of glycogenolysis and vasoconstriction by adenosine and adenosine analogues in the perfused rat liver. *Biochem. J.* 248: 35–41.
- CALDWELL-KENKEL, J. C., THURMAN, R. G. and LEMASTERS, J. J. (1987) Selective loss of nonparenchymal cell viability after cold ischemic storage of rat livers. *Transplantation* 45: 834–837.
- CALDWELL-KENKEL, J. C., CURRIN, R. T., TANAKA, Y. and THURMAN, R. G. (1988) Morphological evidence for activation of Kupffer cells after reperfusion of rat livers stored in Euro-Collins solution. *Hepatology* 8: 1291 (Abstr.).
- CALÈS, P. and PASCAL, J. P. (1988) Histoire naturelle des varices oesophagiennes au cours de la cirrhose (de la naissance à la rupture). *Gastroenterol. clin. Biol.* 12: 245-254.
- CARMICHAEL, F. J., SALDIVIA, V., ISRAEL, Y., MCKAIGNEY, J. P. and ORREGO, H. (1987) Ethanol-induced increase in portal hepatic blood flow: interference by anesthetic agents. *Hepatology* 7: 89-94.
- CASTELEIJN, E., KUIPER, J., VAN ROOIJ, H. C. J., KAMPS, J. A. A. M., KOSTER, J. F. and VAN BERKEL, T. J. C. (1988a) Endotoxin stimulated glycogenolysis in the liver by means of intercellular communication. J. biol. Chem. 263: 6953-6955.
- CASTELEIJN, E., KUIPER, J., VAN ROOIJ, H. C. J., KAMPS, J. A. A. M., KOSTER, J. F. and VAN BERKEL, T. J. C. (1988b) Hormonal control of glycogenolysis in parenchymal liver cells by Kupffer and endothelial liver cells. *J. biol. Chem.* 263: 2699–2703.
- CASTELEIJN, E., KUIPER, J., VAN ROOIJ, H. C. J., KAMPS, J. A. A. M., KOSTER, J. F. and VAN BERKEL, T. J. C. (1988c) Prostaglandin D_2 mediates the stimulation of glycogenolysis in the liver by phorbol ester. *Biochem. J.* **250**: 77–80.
- CAUJOLLE, B., BALLET, F. and POUPON, R. (1988) Relationship among beta-adrenergic blockade, propranolol concentration and liver function in patients with cirrhosis. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* 23: 925–928.
- CAUVIN, V. A. and VAN BREEMAN, C. (1987) Vascular effects of organic calcium antagonists. *ISI Atlas Sci.* 1: 13–19.
- CAUVIN, C., TEJERINA, M., HWANG, O., KAI-YAMAMOTO, M. and VAN BREEMAN, C. (1988) The effects of Ca⁺⁺ antagonists on isolated rat and rabbit mesenteric resistance vessels. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. **522**: 338–350.
- CHAZOUILLÈRES, O., BALLET, F., CHRÉTIEN, Y., MARTEAU, P., REY, C., MAILLARD, D. and POUPON, R. (1989) Protective effect of vasodilators on liver function after long hypothermic preservation: a study on the isolated perfused rat liver. *Hepatology* 9: 824–829.
- CHIANDUSSI, L., VACCARINO, A., GRECO, F., MURATORI, F., CESANO, L. and INDOVINA, D. (1962) Effect of drug

infusion on the splanchnic circulation I. Angiotensin infusion in normal and cirrhotic subjects. *Proc. Soc. exp. Biol. Med.* 112: 324–326.

- CHOJKIER, M. and FIERER, J. (1985) D-Galactosamine hepatotoxicity is associated with endotoxin sensitivity and mediated by lymphoreticular cells in mice. *Gastroenterology* 88: 115-121.
- COLMAN, J. C., BRITTON, R. S., ORREGO, H., SALDIVIA, V., MEDLINE, A. and ISRAEL, Y. (1983) Relation between osmotically induced hepatocyte enlargement and portal hypertension. Am. J. Physiol. 245: G382-G387.
- CONDON, R. E., CHAPMAN, N. D., NYHUS, L. M. and HARKINS, H. N. (1962) Hepatic arterial and portal venous pressure-flow relationship in isolated, perfused liver. Am. J. Physiol. 202: 1090-1094.
- CONN, H. O. (1988) Prophylactic propranolol: the first big step? Hepatology 8: 167-170.
- CONN, H. O. and GROSZMANN, R. J. (1982) The pathophysiology of portal hypertension. In: *The Liver: Biology and Pathobiology*, pp. 821–848, ARIAS, I. M., POPPER, H., SCHACHTER, D. and SHAFRITZ, D. A. (eds) Raven Press, New York.
- COUSINEAU, D., GORESKY, C. A. and ROSE, C. P. (1983) Blood flow and norepinephrine effects on liver vascular and extravascular volumes. *Am. J. Physiol.* 244: H495-H504.
- COUSINEAU, D., GORESKY, C. A., ROSE, C. P. and LEE, S. (1985) Reflex sympathetic effects on liver vascular space and liver perfusion in dogs. *Am. J. Phsyiol.* 248: H186-H192.
- CRONE, C. (1986) Modulation of solute permeability in microvascular endothelium. Fedn Proc. 45: 77-83.
- CRYER, P. E. (1980) Physiology and pathophysiology of the human sympathoadrenal neuroendocrine system. New Engl. J. Med. 303: 436-444.
- CYBULSKY, M. I., CHAN, M. K. W. and MOVAT, H. Z. (1988) Acute inflammation and microthrombosis induced by endotoxin, interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor and their implication in Gram-negative infection. *Lab. Invest.* 58: 365-378.
- DAN, C. and WAKE, K. (1985) Modes of endocytosis of latex particles in sinusoidal endothelial and Kupffer cells of normal and perfused rat liver. *Expl Cell Res.* 158: 75-85.
- DANIEL, P. M. and PRITCHARD, M. M. L. (1951) Effects of stimulation of the hepatic nerves and of adrenaline upon the circulation of the portal venous blood within the liver. J. Physiol. 114: 538-548.
- DARLINGTON, D. N., SHIN SAKO, J. and DALLMAN, M. F. (1986) Responses of ACTH, epinephrine, norepinephrine and cardiovascular system to hemorrhage. Am. J. Physiol. 251: H612-H618.
- DECKER, K. and KEPPLER, D. (1974) Galactosamine hepatitis: key role of the nucleotide deficiency period in the pathogenesis of cell injury and cell death. *Rev. Physiol. Biochem. Pharmac.* 71: 78-106.
- DECKER, T., LOHMANN-MATTHES, M. L., KARCK, U., PETERS, T. and DECKER, K. (1989) Comparative study of cytotoxicity, tumor necrosis factor, and prostaglandin release after stimulation of rat Kupffer cells, murine Kupffer cells and murine inflammatory liver macrophages. J. Leuk. Biol. 45: 139-146.
- DENZLINGER, C., RAPP, S., HAGMANN, W. and KEPPLER, D. (1985) Leukotrienes as mediators in tissue trauma. *Science* 230: 330-332.
- DIETER, P., SCHULZE-SPECKING, A. and DECKER, K. (1986) Differential inhibition of prostaglandin and superoxide production by dexamethasone in primary cultures of rat Kupffer cells. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **159**: 451–457.
- DIETER, P., ALTIN, J. G. and BYGRAVE, F. L. (1987a) Possible involvement of prostaglandins in vasoconstriction induced by zymosan and arachidonic acid in the perfused rat liver. FEBS Lett. 213: 174-178.

- DIETER, P., ALTIN, J. G., DECKER, K. and BYGRAVE, F. L. (1987b) Possible involvement of eicosanoids in the zymosan and arachidonic acid-induced oxygen uptake, glycogenolysis and Ca⁺⁺ mobilization in the perfused rat liver. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **165**: 455–460.
- DIETER, P., SCHULZE-SPECKING, A. and DECKER, K. (1988) Release of lysosomal enzymes is not correlated with superoxide and prostaglandin production by stimulated rat Kupffer cells in primary culture. J. Hepatol. 6: 167-174.
- DONALD, D. E. (1981) Mobilization of blood from the splanchnic circulation. In: *Hepatic Circulation in Health* and Disease, pp. 193–201, LAUTT, W. W. (ed.) Raven Press, New York.
- DUMONT, A. E. (1981) Liver lymph. In: *Hepatic Circulation* in *Health and Disease*, pp. 55–67, LAUTT, W. W. (ed.) Raven Press, New York.
- ESLER, M., JENNINGS, G., KORNER, P., BLOMBERY, P., SACHARIAS, N. and LEONARD, P. (1984) Measurements of total and organ-specific norepinephrine kinetics in humans. *Am. J. Physiol.* 247: E21–E28.
- Exton, J. H. (1985) Mechanisms involved in α-adrenergic phenomena. Am. J. Physiol. 248: E633-E647.
- EXTON, J. H. (1986) Mechanisms involved in calciummobilizing agonist responses. Adv. Cycl. Nucleot. Res. 20: 211-262.
- EXTON, J. H. (1988) Role of phosphoinositide in the regulation of liver function. *Hepatology* 8: 152–166.
- EYHORN, S., SCHLAYER, H. J., DIETER, P., HERMANN, R., WOORT-MENKER BECKER, H., SCHAEFFER, H. E. N. and DECKER, K. (1988) Rat hepatic sinusoidal endothelial cells in monolayer culture. Biochemical and ultrastructural characteristics. J. Hepatol. 6: 23-35.
- EZZAT, W. R. and LAUTT, W. W. (1987) Hepatic arterial pressure-flow autoregulation is adenosine mediated. Am. J. Physiol. 252: H836-H845.
- FAHIMI, H. D. (1982) Sinusoidal endothelial cells and perisinusoidal fat-storing cells. Structure and function. In: *The Liver: Biology and Pathology*, pp. 495–506, ARIAS, I., POPPER, H., SCHACHTER, D. and SHAFRITZ, D. A. (eds) Raven Press, New York.
- FERNANDEZ-MUNOZ, D., CARAMELO, C., SANTOS, H. C., BLANCHAT, A., HERNANDO, L. and LOPEZ-NOVOA, J. M. (1985) Systemic and splanchnic hemodynamic disturbances in conscious rats with experimental liver cirrhosis without ascites. Am. J. Physiol. 249: G316–G320.
- FILKINS, J. P. (1969) Hepatic vascular response to endotoxin. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol. Med. 131: 1235–1238.
- FISHER, R. A., SHUKLA, S. D., DEBUYSERE, M. S., HANAHAN, D. J. and OLSON, M. S. (1984) The effect of acetylglyceryl ether phosphorylcholine on glycogenolysis and phosphatidylinositol 4.5-biphosphate metabolism in rat hepatocytes. J. biol. Chem. 259: 8685-8688.
- FISHER, R. A., KUMAR, R., HANAHAN, D. J. and OLSON, M. S. (1986) Effects of β -adrenergic stimulation on 1-O-hexadecyl-2-acetyl-Sn-glycero-3-phosphocholinemediated vasoconstriction and glycogenolysis in the perfused rat liver. J. biol. Chem. **261**: 8817–8823.
- FISHER, R. A., ROBERTSON, S. M. and OLSON, M. S. (1987) Stimulation of glycogenolysis and vasoconstriction in the perfused rat liver by the thromboxane A_2 analogue U-46619. J. biol. Chem. **261**: 8817–8823.
- FISHER, R. A., ROBERTSON, S. M. and OLSON, M. S. (1987) Stimulation of glycogenolysis and vasoconstriction in the perfused rat liver by the thromboxane A_2 analogue U-46619. J. biol. Chem. **262**: 4631–4638.
- FORD-HUTCHINSON, A. W. (1987) Leukotrienes as mediators of inflammation. ISI Atlas Sci.: Pharmac. 1: 25-27.
- FRAKER, D. L., STOVROFF, M. C., MERINO, M. J. and NORTON, J. A. (1988) Tolerance to tumor necrosis factor in rats and the relationship to endotoxin tolerance and toxicity. J. exp. Med. 168: 95-105.
- FRENCH, S. W., MIYAMOTO, K., OHTA, Y. and GEOFFRION, Y.

(1988) Pathogenesis of experimental alcoholic liver disease in the rat. In: *Kinetics and Patterns of Necrosis*, pp. 181–207, JASMIN, G. (ed.) Karger, Basel.

- FRIEDMAN, M. I. (1982) Hepatic nerve function. In: The Liver: Biology and Pathobiology, pp. 663–673, ARIAS, H., SCHACHTER, D. and SHAFRITZ, D. A. (eds) Raven Press, New York.
- FUJIWARA, K., OGATA, I., HIRATA, K., OHTA, Y. and OKA, H. (1988a) Factors contributing to fibrin formation in the hepatic sinusoids in acute liver failure. *Hepatology* 8: 1401.
- FUJIWARA, K., OGATA, I., OHTA, Y., HIRATA, K., OKA, Y., YAMADA, S., SATO, Y., MASAKI, N. and OKA, H. (1988b) Intravascular coagulation in acute liver failure in rats and its treatment with antithrombin III. Gut 29: 1103–1108.
- GAETA, G. B., ADINOLFI, I. E., UTILI, R., TRIPODI, M. F. and ALBERNATHY, C. O. (1986) Prevention of the toxicity of erythromycin estolate in the perfused rat liver by endotoxin. *Life Sci.* 39: 453–460.
- GALANOS, C., FREUDENBERG, M. A. and REUTTER, W. (1979) Galactosamine-induced sensitization to the lethal effects of endotoxin. *Proc. natn. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 76: 5939–5943.
- GARCEAU, D., YAMAGUCHI, N., GOYER, R. and GUITARD, F. (1984) Correlation between endogenous noradrenaline and glucose released from the liver upon hepatic sympathetic nerve stimulation in anesthetized dogs. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmac. 62: 1086–1091.
- GARCEAU, D., YAMAGUCHI, N. and GOYER, R. (1985) Heaptic adrenoreceptors involved in the glycogenolytic response to exogenous-norepinephrine in the dog liver *in* vivo. Life Sci. 37: 1963–1970.
- GARCIA-SAINZ, J. A. (1989) Intercellular communication within the liver has clinical applications. TIPS 10: 10-11.
- GARCIA-SAINZ, J. A. and HERNANDEZ-SOTOMAYOR, S. M. T. (1985) Stimulation of hepatic glycogenolysis by 12-Otetradecanoyl-phorbol-13-acetate (TPA) via cycloxygenase products. *Biochem. biophys. Res. Commun.* 132: 204-209.
- GARCIA-TSAO, G., GROSZMANN, R. J., FISHER, R. L., CONN, H. O., ATTERBURY, C. E. and GLICKMAN, M. (1985) Portal pressure, presence of gastroesophageal varices and variceal bleeding. *Hepatology* 5: 419–424.
- GARDEMANN, A. and JUNGERMANN, K. (1986) Control of glucose balance in the perfused rat liver by the parasympathetic innervation. *Biol. Chem. Hoppe-Seyler* 367: 559-566.
- GARDEMANN, A., STRULIK, H. and JUNGERMANN, K. (1987) Nervous control of glycogenolysis and blood flow in arterially and portally perfused liver. *Am. J. Physiol.* 253: E238-E245.
- GENDRAULT, J. L., STEFFAN, A. M., BINGEN, A. and KIRN, A. (1988) Kupffer and endothelial cells. In: Sinusoids in Human Liver: Health and Disease, pp. 17–39, BIOULAC-SAGE, P. and BALABAUD, C. (eds) Kupffer Cell Foundation, Rijswitk.
- GERBES, A. L., REMIEN, J., JUNGST, D., SAUERBRUCH, T. and PAUMGARTNER, G. (1986) Evidence for down regulation of β_2 -adrenoreceptor stimulation in cirrhotic patients with ascites and diuretic treatment. *Lancet* 1: 1409–1411.
- GERBES, A. L., DEGENHARDT, F., PAUMGARTNER, G. and REMIEN, J. (1987) cAMP response to β_2 -adrenoreceptor stimulation is reduced in cirrhotic patients with ascites and diuretic treatment. *Gastroenterology* **92**: 1735 (Abstr.).
- GODFRIND, T. (1988) Calcium channels in smooth muscle. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 522: 312-327.
- GORESKY, C. A. (1963) A linear method for determining liver sinusoidal and extravascular volumes. *Am. J. Physiol.* 204: 626–640.
- GORESKY, C. A. and BACH, G. C. (1970) Membrane transport and the hepatic circulation. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 170: 18–47.

- GORESKY, C. A., ZIEGGLER, W. H. and BACH, G. C. (1970) Capillary exchange modeling. Barrier-limited and flowlimited distribution. Circ. Res. 27: 739-763.
- GORESKY, C. A., COUSINEAU, D., ROSE, C. P. and LEE, S. (1986) Lack of liver vascular response to carotid occlusion in mildly acidotic dogs. *Am. J. Physiol.* **251**: H991–H999.
- GORESKY, C. A., BACH, G. G., COUSINEAU, D., SCHWAB, A. J., ROSE, C., LEE, S. and GORESKY, S. (1989) Handling of tracer norepinephrine by the dog liver. *Am. J. Physiol.* **256:** G107–G123.
- GRANGER, D. N. (1988) Role of xanthine oxidase and granulocytes in ischemia-reperfusion injury. Am. J. Physiol. 225: H1269-H1275.
- GRANGER, D. N. and BARROWMAN, J. A. (1983) Microcirculation of the alimentary tract. I. Physiology of transcapillary fluid and solute exchange. *Gastroenterology* 84: 846–868.
- GRANGER, D. N., MILLER, T., ALLEN, R., PARKER, R. E., PARKER, J. C. and TAYLOR, A. E. (1979) Permselectivity of cat liver blood-lymph barrier to endogenous macromolecules. *Gastroenterology* 77: 103-109.
- GRANGER, D. N., PERRY, M. A. and KVIETYS, P. R. (1983) The microcirculation and fluid transport in digestive organs. *Fedn Proc.* 42: 1667–1672.
- GREENWAY, C. V. (1979) Hepatic plethysmography. In: Hepatic Circulation in Health and Disease, pp. 41-56, LAUTT, W. W. (ed.) Raven Press, New York. GREENWAY, C. V. (1981) Hepatic fluid exchange. In: Hepatic
- GREENWAY, C. V. (1981) Hepatic fluid exchange. In: Hepatic Circulation in Health and Disease, pp. 153–170, LAUTT, W. W. (ed.) Raven Press, New York.
- GREENWAY, C. V. (1983) Role of splanchnic venous system in overall cardiovascular homeostasis. *Fedn Proc.* 42: 1678–1684.
- GREENWAY, C. V. (1987) Effects of hemorrhage and hepatic nerve stimulation on venous compliance and unstressed volume in cat liver. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmac. 65: 2168–2174.
- GREENWAY, C. V. and STARK, R. D. (1971) Hepatic vascular bed. *Physiol. Rev.* 51: 23-65.
- GREENWAY, C. V. and OSHIRO, G. (1972) Comparison of the effects of hepatic nerve stimulation on arterial flow, distribution of arterial and portal flows and blood contingent in the livers of anaesthetized cats and dogs. J. Physiol. 227: 487-501.
- GREENWAY, C. V., LAWSON, A. E. and MELLANDER, S. (1967) The effects of stimulation of the hepatic nerves, infusions of noradrenaline and occlusion of the carotid arteries in liver blood flow in the anaesthetized cat. J. Physiol. 192: 21-41.
- GREENWAY, C. V., SEAMAN, K. L. and INNES, I. R. (1985) Norepinephrine on venous compliance and unstressed volume in cat liver. Am. J. Physiol. 248: H468-H475.
- GREENWAY, C. V., BURCZYNSKI, F. and INNES, I. R. (1986a) Effects of bromocryptine on hepatic blood volume responses to hepatic nerve stimulation in cats. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmac.* 64: 621–624.
- GREENWAY, C. V., DETTMAN, R., BURCZYNSKI, F. and SITAR, D. S. (1986b) Effects of circulating catecholamines on hepatic blood volume in anesthetized cats. *Am. J. Physiol.* **250**: H992–H997.
- GREGA, C. J. (1986a) Role of the endothelial cell in the regulation of microvascular permeability to molecules. *Fedn Proc.* **45**: 75–76.
- GREGA, C. J. (1986b) Contractile elements in endothelial cells as potential targets for drug action. *TIPS* 452-457.
- GREGA, C. J., ADAMSKI, S. W. and DOBBINS, D. E. (1986) Physiological and pharmacological evidence for the regulation of permeability. *Fedn Proc.* 45: 96–100.
- GRESSNER, A. M. and HAARMAN, R. (1988) Regulation of hyaluronate synthesis in rat liver fat storing cell cultures by Kupffer cells. J. Hepatol. 7: 310-318.
- GRISHAN, J. N. and NOPANITAY, A. (1979) Scanning electron microscopy of casts of hepatic microvessels: review of

method and results. In: *Hepatic Circulation in Health and Disease*, pp. 87–105, LAUTT, W. W. (ed.) Raven Press, New York.

- GROSS, J. B., REICHEN, J., ZELTNER, T. B. and ZIMMERMANN, A. (1987) The evolution of changes in quantitative liver function tests in a rat model of biliary cirrhosis: correlation with morphometric measurement of hepatocyte mass. *Hepatology* 7: 457–463.
- GROSSMAN, H. J. and BHATHAL, P. S. (1984) Application of the isolated perfused rat liver preparation to pharmacological studies of the intrahepatic portal vascular bed. *Meth. Find. exp. clin. Pharmac.* 6: 33-40.
- GROSSMAN, H. J. and BHATAL, P. S. (1989) Analysis of pressure-flow curve in the isolated perfused rat liver. Critical closing pressure and viscous resistance of the normal liver. *Hepatology* 8: 1244 (Abstr.).
- GROSZMANN, R. J. and ATTERBURY, C. E. (1985) The pharmacologic treatment of portal hypertension. Ann. Rev. Med. 36: 81-91.
- GROSZMANN, R. J., VOROBIOFF, J. and RILEY, E. (1982) Splanchnic hemodynamics in portal-hypertensive rats: measurement with γ-labeled microspheres. Am. J. Physiol. 242: G156–G160.
- GROSZMANN, R. J., BLEI, A. T. and ATTERBURY, C. E. (1988) Portal hypertension. In: *Liver—Biology and Pathobiology*, pp. 1147–1161, ARIAS, I. M., JAKOBI, W. B., POPPER, H., SCHACHTER, D. and SHAFRITZ, D. A. (eds) Raven Press, New York.
- GRYGELWSKI, R. J., SZCZEKLIK, A. and WANDZILAK, M. (1987) The effect of six prostaglandins, prostacyclin and iloprost on generation of superoxide anions by human polymorphonuclear leucocytes stimulated by zymosan or formylmethionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine. *Biochem. Pharmac.* 36: 4209–4213.
- GUARNER, F., FREMONT-SMITH, M. W., CORZO, J., QUIROGA, J., RODRIGUEZ, J. L. and PRIETO, J. (1983) In vivo and in vitro effects of arachidonic acid products on liver cell integrity following carbon tetrachloride poisoning. In: Advances in Prostaglandin, Thromboxane and Leukotriene Research, pp. 75–82, SAMUELSSON, B., PAOLETTI, R. and RAMWELL, P. (eds) Raven Press, New York.
- GUMUCIO, J. J. and MILLER, D. L. (1981) Functional implications of liver cells heterogeneity. *Gastroenterology* 80: 393-403.
- HAGMANN, W. and KEPPLER, D. (1988) Leukotrienes and other eicosanoids in liver pathophysiology. In: *The Liver: Biology and Pathobiology*, pp. 793–806, ARIAS, I. M., JAKOBY, W. B., POPPER, H., SCHACHTER, D. and SHAFRITZ, D. A. (eds) Raven Press, New York.
- HAGMANN, W., DENZLINGER, C. and KEPPLER, D. (1984) Role of peptide leukotrienes and their hepatobiliary elimination in endotoxin action. *Circ. Shock* 14: 223–235.
- HAGMANN, W., STEFFAN, A. M., KIRN, A. and KEPPLER, D. (1987) Leukotrienes as mediators in Frog Virus 3-induced hepatitis in rats. *Hepatology* 7: 732–736.
- HARPER, S. L., BOHLEN, H. G. and GRANGER, D. N. (1985) Vasoactive agents and the mesenteric microcirculation. *Am. J. Physiol.* 249: G309–G315.
- HARTMANN, H., BECKH, K. and JUNGERMANN, K. (1982) Direct control of glycogen metabolism in the perfused rat liver by the sympathetic innervation. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **123:** 521–526.
- HAUSSINGER, D. (1989) Regulation of hepatic metabolism by extracellular nucleotides and eicosanoids. J. Hepatol. 8: 259–266.
- HAUSSINGER, D. and STEHLE, T. (1988) Hepatocyte heterogeneity in response to icosanoids. Eur. J. Biochem. 175: 395-403.
- HAUSSINGER, D., STEHLE, T. and GEROK, W. (1987a) Actions of extracellular UTP and ATP in perfused rat liver. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 167: 65-71.
- HAUSSINGER, D., STEHLE, T., GEROK, W. and SIES, H. (1987b)

Perivascular nerve stimulation and phenylephrine responses in rat liver. Eur. J. Biochem. 163: 197-203.

- HAUSSINGER, D., STEHLE, T., TRAN-THI, T. A., DECKER, K. and GEROK, W. (1987c) Prostaglandin responses in isolated perfused rat liver: Ca⁺⁺ and K⁺ fluxes, hemodynamic and metabolic effects. *Biol. Chem. Hoppe-Seyler* **368:** 1509–1513.
- HAUSSINGER, D., BUSSHART, E., STEHLE, T., STOLL, B., WETTSTEIN, M. and GEROK, W. (1988a) Stimulation of thromboxane release by extracellular UTP and ATP from perfused rat liver. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 178: 249-256.
- HAUSSINGER, D., STEHLE, T. and GEROK, W. (1988b) Effects of leukotrienes and the thromboxane A_2 analogue U-46619 in isolated perfused rat liver. *Biol. Chem. Hoppe-Seyler* **369**: 97–107.
- HEMS, D. A. and WHITTON, P. D. (1980) Control of hepatic glycogenolysis. *Physiol. Rev.* **60:** 2–38.
- HEMS, D. A., RODRIGUES, L. M. and WHITTON, P. D. (1976) Glycogen phosphorylase, glucose output and vasoconstriction in the perfused rat liver. *Biochem. J.* 160: 367-374.
- HENDRIKS, H. F. J., BROUWER, A. and KNOOK, D. L. (1987) The role of hepatic fat-storing (stellate) cells in retinoid metabolism. *Hepatology* 7: 1368–1371.
- HENRIKSEN, J. H., RING-LARSEN, H. and CHRISTENSEN, N. J. (1984) Sympathetic nervous activity in cirrhosis. A survey of plasma cathecholamine studies. J. Hepatol. 1: 55-65.
- HENRIKSEN, J. H., RING-LARSEN, H. and CHRISTENSEN, N. J. (1985) Circulating noradrenaline and central hemodynamics in patients with cirrhosis. Scand. J. Gastroent. 20: 1185–1190.
- HERNANDEZ, L. A., GRISHAM, M. B., TWOHIG, B., ARFORS, K. E., HARLAN, J. M. and GRANGER, D. N. (1987) Role of neutrophils in ischemia-reperfusion-induced microvascular injury. Am. J. Physiol. 253: H699-H703.
- HILL, E. C. and OSLON, M. S. (1987) Stimulation of uric acid release from the perfused rat liver by platelet activating factor or potassium. *Biochem. J.* 247: 207-214.
- HILL, E. C., PRYOR, J. S., OLSON, M. S. and DAWSON, A. P. (1987) Potassium-mediated stimulation of hepatic glycogenolysis. J. biol. Chem. 262: 6623–6627.
- HIROOKA, N., IWASAKI, I., HORIE, H. and IDE, G. (1986) Hepatic microcirculation of liver cirrhosis studied by corrosion cast/scanning electron microscope examination. *Acta Path. Jap.* **36:** 375–387.
- HJEMDAHL, P., BELFRAGE, E. and DALESKOG, M. (1979) Vascular and metabolic effects of circulating epinephrine and norepinephrine. Concentration-effect study in dogs. J. clin. Invest. 64: 1221–1228.
- HOUSSET, B., HURBAIN, I. and DERRENE, J. PH. (1988) Xanthine derivatives inhibit H_2O_2 release by human alveolar macrophages. *Eur. Res. J.* 1 (Suppl. 1): 335 (Abstr.).
- HUET, P. M., GORESKI, C. A., VILLENEUVE, J. P. and MARLEAU, D. (1982) Assessment of liver microcirculation in human cirrhosis. J. clin. Invest. 70: 1234–1244.
- HUET, P. M., VILLENEUVE, J. P., POMIER-LAYRARGUES, G. and MARLEAU, D. (1985) Hepatic circulation in cirrhosis. *Clin. Gastroent.* 14: 155–184.
- HUET, P. M., POMIER-LAYRARGES, G., VILLENEUVE, J. P., VARIN, F. and VIALET, A. (1986) Intrahepatic circulation in liver diseases. *Semin. Liver Dis.* 6: 277–286.
- HUET, P. M., MASTAI, R. and BRAULT, A. (1987) The rat liver microcirculation in alcohol induced hepatomegaly. *Hepatology* 7: 1032 (Abstr.).
- ISRAEL, Y. and ORREGO, H. (1987) Hypermetabolic state, hepatocyte expansion and liver blood flow: an interaction triad in alcoholic liver injury. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 492: 303-323.
- ISRAEL, Y.H., KALANT, H., ORREGO, H., KHANNA, J. M., VIDELA, L. and PHILLIPS, M. J. (1975) Experimental alcohol-induced hepatic necrosis: suppression by propylthiouracil. Proc. natn. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 72: 1137–1141.

- ISRAEL, Y., WALFISH, P. G., ORREGO, H., BLAKE, J. and KALAND, H. (1978) Thyroid hormones in alcoholic liver disease. Effect of treatment with 6-n-propylthiouracil. *Gastroenterology* 76: 116-121.
- IU, S., HARVEY, P. R. C., MAKOWKA, L., PETRUNKA, C. N., ILSON, R. G. and STRASBERG, S. M. (1987) Markers of allograft viability in the rat. *Transplantation* 44: 562–569.
- IWAI, M. and JUNGERMANN, K. (1987) Possible involvement of eicosanoids in the actions of sympathetic hepatic nerves on carbohydrate metabolism and hemodynamics in perfused rat liver. FEBS Lett. 221: 155–160.
- IWAI, M. and JUNGERMANN, K. (1988) Leukotrienes increase glucose and lactate output and decrease flow in perfused rat liver. *Biochem. biophys. Res. Commun.* 151: 283-290.
- IWAI, M. and JUNGERMANN, K. (1989) Mechanism of action of cysteinyl-leukotrienes on glucose and lactate balance and on flow in perfused rat liver. Comparison with the effects of sympathetic nerve stimulation and noradrenaline. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 180: 273–281.
- IWAI, M., GARDEMANN, A., PUSCHEL, G. and JUNGERMANN, K. (1988a) Potential role for prostaglandin $F_2\alpha$; D_2 , E_2 and thromboxane A_2 in mediating the metabolic and hemodynamic actions of sympathetic nerves in perfused rat liver. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **175**: 45–50.
- IWAI, M., HAGMANN, W., KEPPLER, D. and JUNGERMANN, K. (1988b) Leukotriene C4 metabolism during its action on glucose and lactate balance and flow in perfused rat liver. *Biol. Chem. Hoppe-Seyler* 369: 1131–1136.
- JAESCHKE, H. and MITCHELL, J. R. (1989) Neutrophil accumulation exacerbates acetaminophen-induced liver injury. *FASEB J.*, in press.
- JETLEY, M. and WESTON, A. H. (1980) Some effects of sodium nitroprusside, methoxyverapamil and nifedipine on rat portal vein. Br. J. Pharmac. 68: 311-319.
- JI, S., BECKH, K. and JUNGERMAN, K. (1984) Regulation of oxygen consumption and microcirculation by α sympathetic nerves in isolated perfused rat liver. *FEBS Lett.* **167**: 117-122.
- JOHANSSON, B. and LJUNG, B. (1967) Spread of excitation in the smooth muscle of the rat portal vein. *Acta physiol. scand.* **70:** 312-322.
- JOHANSSON, B. and MELLANDER, S. (1975) Static and dynamic components in the vascular myogenic response to passive changes in length as revealed by electrical and mechanical recordings from the rat portal vein. Circ. Res. 36: 76-83.
- KAMP, T. J. and MILLER, R. J. (1987) Voltage sensitive calcium channels and calcium antagonists. *ISI Atlas Sci.*: *Pharmac.* 1: 87–176.
- KARCK, U., PETERS, T. and DECKER, K. (1988) The release of tumor necrosis factor from endotoxin-stimulated rat Kupffer cells is regulated by prostaglandin E_2 and dexamethasone. J. Hepatol. 7: 352–361.
- KARDON, R. H. and KESSEL, R. G. (1980) Three dimensional organization of the hepatic microcirculation in the rodent as observed by scanning electron microscopy of corrosion casts. *Gastroenterology* **79:** 72–81.
- KEPPLER, D., HAGMANN, W., RAPP, S., DENZLINGER, C. and KOCH, H. K. (1985) The relation of leukotrienes to liver injury. *Hepatology* 5: 883–891.
- KEPPLER, D., HUBER, M., HAGMANN, W., BALL, H. A., GUHLMANN, A. and KASTNER, S. (1988) Metabolism and analysis of endogenous cysteinyl-leukotrienes. In: *Biology* of Leukotrienes, pp. 68–74, LEVI, R. and KRELL, R. D. (eds) Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.
- KESSLER, M., HOPER, J. and JI, S. (1978) Action of norepinephrine on microcirculation and PO₂ distribution in the isolated perfused rat liver. *Gerontology* 24: 55-65.
- KESSLER, M., HARRISON, D. K. and HOPER, J. (1986) Tissue oxygen measurement techniques. In: *Microcirculatory Technology*, pp. 391-425, BAKER, CH. and NASTUK, W. L. (eds) Academic Press, New York.

- KIEL, J. W., PITTS, V., BENOIT, J. N., GRANGER, D. N. and SHEPHERD, A. P. (1985) Reduced vascular sensitivity to norepinephrine in portal-hypertensive rats. Am. J. Physiol. 248: G192-G195.
- KIRN, A., GUT, J. P., BINGEN, A. and STEFFAN, A. M. (1983) Murine hepatitis induced by Frog Virus 3: a model for studying the effect of sinusoidal cell damage on the liver. *Hepatology* 3: 105-111.
- KOLB-BACHOFEN, V., SCHLEPPER-SCHAFER, J. and KOLB, H. (1983) Receptor-mediated particle uptake by liver macrophages. *Expl Cell Res.* 148: 173–182.
- KOMATSU, H., KOO, A., CHAN, E., INOUE, M., KAPLOWITZ, N, and GUTH, P. H. (1989) Hepatic microvascular "noreflow" induced by ischemia-reperfusion in the rat: role of superoxide free radicals. *Gastroenterology* 96: A266 (Abstr.).
- KOO, A., LIANG, Y. S. and CHENG, K. K. (1975) The terminal hepatic microcirculation in the rat. Q. Jl exp. Physiol. 60: 261–266.
- KOO, A., LIANG, I. Y. S. and CHENG, K. K. (1977) Adrenergic mechanisms in the hepatic microcirculation in the rat. Q. Jl exp. Physiol. 62:1 199-208.
- KOO, A., KOMATSU, H., CHAN, E., GUTH, P. H., INOUE, M. and KAPLOWITZ, N. (1989) Long-acting superoxide dismutase decreases the incidence of leukocyte-endothelium adhesion in ischemic, reperfused rat liver. *Gastroenterol*ogy 96: A615 (Abstr.).
- KORTHUIS, R. J., BENOIT, J. N., KVIETYS, P. R., TOWNSLEY, M. I., TAYLOR, A. E. and GRANGER, D. N. (1985) Humoral factors may mediate increased rat hindquarter blood flow in portal hypertension. Am. J. Physiol. 249: H827–H833.
- KORTHUIS, R. J., GRISHAM, M. B., ZIMMERMAN, B. J., GRANGER, D. N. and TAYLOR, A. E. (1988) Vascular injury in dogs during ischemia-reperfusion: improvement with ATP-MgCl₂ pretreatment. Am. J. Physiol. 254: H702-H708.
- KROEGER, R. J. and GROSZMANN, R. J. (1985a) Increased portal venous resistance hinders portal pressure reduction during the administration of β -adrenergic blocking agents in a portal hypertensive model. *Hepatology* 5: 97-101.
- KROEGER, R. J. and GROSZMANN, R. J. (1985b) Effect of selective blockade of β_2 -adrenergic receptors on portal and systemic hemodynamics in a portal hypertensive rat model. *Gastroenterology* **88**: 896–900.
- KUIPER, J., ZIJLSTRA, F. J., KAMPS, J. A. A. M. and VAN BERKEL, T. J. C. (1988) Identification of prostaglandin D_2 as the major eicosanoid from liver endothelial and Kupffer cells. *Biochem. biophys. Acta* **959**: 143–152.
- LANGER, S. Z. and ARMSTRONG, J. M. (1984) Prejunctional receptors and the cardiovascular system: pharmacological and therapeutic relevance. In: *Cardiovascular Pharmacol*ogy, pp. 197–213, ANTONACCIO, M. (ed.) Raven Press, New York.
- LANGER, S. Z. and HICKS, P. E. (1984) α -Adrenoreceptor subtypes in blood vessels: physiology and pharmacology. J. cardiovasc. Pharmac. 6: S547–S558.
- LAPOINTE, D. S. and OLSON, M. S. (1989) Alteration of hepatic tissue spaces by platelet-activating factor and phenylephrine. *Hepatology* 9: 278-284.
- LARAGH, J.H., CANNON, P. J., BENTZEL, C. J., SICINSKI, A. M. and MELTZER, J. I. (1963) Angiotensin II, norepinephrine and renal transport of electrolytes and water in normal rats and cirrhosis with ascites. J. clin. Invest. 42: 1179-1192.
- LAUTERBURG, B. H. and BILZER, M. (1988) Mechanisms of acetaldehyde hepatotoxicity. J. Hepatol. 7: 384-390.
- LAUTT, W. W. (1977) Hepatic vasculature: a conceptual review. Gastroenterology 73: 1163-1169.
- LAUTT, W. W. (1980) Hepatic nerves: a review of their functions and effects. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmac. 58: 105-123.
- LAUTT, W. W. (1981) Role and control of the hepatic artery. In: Hepatic Circulation in Health and Disease,

pp. 203-226, LAUTT, W. W. (ed.) Raven Press, New York.

- LAUTT, W. W. (1983) Relationship between hepatic blood flow and overall metabolism: the hepatic arterial buffer response. *Fedn Proc.* **42:** 1662-1666.
- LAUTT, W. W. (1985) Mechanism and role of intrinsic regulation of hepatic arterial blood flow: hepatic arterial buffer response. Am. J. Physiol. 249: G549-G556.
- LAUTT, W. W. and GREENWAY, C. V. (1987) Conceptural review of the hepatic vascular bed. *Hepatology* 7: 952-963.
- LAUTT, W. W. and LEGARE, D. J. (1987) Effect of histamine, norepinephrine and nerves on vascular pressures in dog liver. Am. J. Physiol. 252: G472-G478.
- LAUTT, W. W., LEGARE, D. J. and D'ALMEIDA, M. S. (1985) Adenosine as putative regulator of hepatic arterial flow (the buffer response). Am. J. Physiol. 248: H331-H338.
- LAUTT, W. W., GREENWAY, C. V., LEGARE, D. J. and WEISMAN, H. (1986) Localization of antrahepatic portal vascular resistance. Am. J. Physiol. 251: G375-G381.
- LAUTT, W. W., GREENWAY, C. V. and LEGARE, D. J. (1987) Effect of hepatic nerves, norepinephrine, angiotensin and elevated central venous pressure on postsinusoidal resistance sites and intrahepatic pressures in cats. *Microvasc. Res.* 33: 50-61.
- LEAF, A., MACKNIGHT, A. D. C., CHEUNG, J. Y. and BONVENTRE, J. V. (1986) The cellular basis of ischemic acute renal failure. In: *Physiology of Membrane Disorders*, ANDREOLI, T. E., HOFFMANN, J. F., FANESTIL, D. D. and SCHULTZ, S. G. (eds) Plenum, New York.
- LEBREC, D. (1987) Beta-bloquants et hémorragies digestives. Gastroent. clin. Biol. 11: 37-40.
- LEBREC, D. and BLANCHET, L. (1985) Effect of two models of portal hypertension on splanchnic organ blood flow in the rat. *Clin. Sci.* 68: 23-28.
- LEBREC, D. and HADENGUE, A. (1989) Traitements pharamcologiques de l'hypertension portale. In: *Hypertension Portale*, pp. 165–188, BENHAMOU, J. P. and LEBREC, D. (eds) Doin, Paris.
- LEBREC, D., POYNARD, T., HILLON, P. and BENHAMOU, J. P. (1981) Propranolol for prevention of recurrent gastrointestinal bleeding in patients with cirrhosis of the liver and esophageal varices. *New Engl. J. Med.* **305**: 1371-1374.
- LEE, S. S., GIROD, C., VALLA, D., GOEFFROY, P. and LEBREC, D. (1985) Effects of pentobarbital sodium anesthesia on splanchnic hemodynamics of normal and portalhypertensive rats. Am. J. Physiol. 249: G528-G532.
- LEFER, A. M. and PAPANICOLAOU, G. (1985) Beneficial actions of two novel calcium entry blockers in the isolated perfused hypoxic cat liver. *Meth. Find. exp. clin. Pharmac.* 7: 59-63.
- LEFER, A. M. and STAHL, G. L. (1987) Mechanisms of the hepatoprotective effect of nitrendipine in the isolated perfused cat liver. J. cardiovasc. Pharmac. 9: S66-S70.
- LEFKOWITCH, J. H. and MENDEZ, L. (1986) Morphologic features of hepatic injury in cardiac disease and shock. J. Hepatol. 2: 313-327.
- LEGARE, D. J. and LAUTT, W. W. (1986) Hepatic venous resistance site in the dog: localization and validation of intrahepatic pressure measurements. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmac.* **65**: 352-359.
- LEHMANN, V., FREUDENBERG, M. A. and GALANOS, C. (1987) Lethal toxicity of lipopolysaccharide and tumor necrosis factor in normal and D-galactosamine-treated mice. J. exp. Med. 165: 657-663.
- LEMASTERS, J. J. and THURMAN, R. G. (1981) Centrilobular injury following hypoxia in isolated, perfused rat liver. *Science* 313: 661-662.
- LEMASTERS, J. J., STEMKOWSKI, C. J., JI, S. and THURMAN, R. G. (1983) Cell surface changes and enzyme release during hypoxia and reoxygenation in the isolated, perfused rat liver. J. cell. Biol. 97: 778-786.

- LEMASTERS, J. J., DIGUISEPPI, J., NIEMINEN, A. L. and HERMAN, B. (1987) Blebbing, free Ca²⁺ and mitochondrial membrane potential preceding cell death in hepatocytes. *Nature* 325: 78-81.
- LENZ, K., HORTNAGEL, H., MAGOMETSCHNIGG, D., KLEINBERGER, G., DRUML, W. and LAGGNER, A. (1985) Function of the autonomic nervous system in patients with hepatic encephalopathy. *Hepatology* 5: 831-836.
- LEWIS, R. A. and AUSTEN, K. F. (1984) The biologically active leukotrienes. J. clin. Invest. 73: 889-897.
- LIEBER, C. S. (1988) Biochemical and molecular basis of alcohol induced injury to liver and other tissues. *New Engl. J. Med.* **319**: 1639-1650.
- LOUTSENHISER, R. and EPSTEIN, M. (1985) Effects of calcium antagonists on renal hemodynamics. *Am. J. Physiol.* 249: F619-F629.
- LOUTSENHISER, R. and EPSTEIN, M. (1988) Calcium antagonists and the renal hemodynamic response to vasocontrictors. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. **522:** 771-784.
- MAJNO, G., SHEA, S. M. and LEVENTHAL, M. (1969) Endothelial contraction induced by histamine-type mediators. J. cell. Biol. 42: 647-672.
- MAROTTO, M. E., THURMAN, R. G. and LEMASTERS, J. J. (1988) Early midzonal cell death during low-flow hypoxia in the isolated perfused rat liver: protection by allopurinol. *Hepatology* 8: 585-590.
- MARTEAU, P., BALLET, F., CHRÉTIEN, Y., REY, C., JAILION, P. and POUPON, R. (1988a) Effect of vasodilators on hepatic microcirculation: a study of the inhibition of norepinephrine-induced vasoconstriction in the isolated perfused rat liver. *Hepatology* 8: 228-231.
- MARTEAU, P., BALLET, F., CHRÉTIEN, Y., REY, C. and POUPON, R. (1988b) Evidence for α_2 -adrenergic receptors in hepatic microcirculation: a study in the isolated perfused rat liver. *Hepatology* **9**: 1344 (Abstr.).
- MARTEAU, P., BALLET, F., CHRÉTIEN, Y., REY, C., PETIT, D. and POUPON, R. (1989) Effect of vasodilators on hepatic microcirculation in cirrhosis: a study in the isolated perfused rat liver. *Hepatology* 9: 820-823.
- MARTINEZ-HERNANDEZ, A. (1984) The hepatic extracellular matrix I. Electron immunohistochemical studies in normal rat liver. Lab. Invest. 51: 57-74.
- MARTINEZ-HERNANDEZ, A. (1985) The hepatic extracellular matrix II. Electron immunohistochemical studies in rats with CCl₄-induced cirrhosis. *Lab. Invest.* 53: 166–168.
- MASTAÏ, R., LAGANIÈRE, S., ROCHELEAU, B., GIROUX, L. and HUET, P. M. (1988a) Hemodynamic characterization of a new model of cirrhosis and portal hypertension in conscious rabbits. *Gastroenterology* 94: A569.
- MASTAÏ, R., ROCHELEAU, B., GIROUX, L., BRAULT, A. and HUET, P. M. (1988b) A new model of sinusoidal capillarization in the rabbit: influence of protein bound drug extraction. *Hepatology* 8: 1384 (Abstr.).
- MASTAÏ, R., HUET, P. M., BRAULT, A. and BELGIORNO, J. (1989) The rat liver microcirculation in alcohol-induced hepatomegaly. *Hepatology* **10**: 941–946.
- MAUGER, J. P. and CLARET, M. (1988) Calcium channels in hepatocytes. J. Hepatol. 7: 278-282.
- MCCORD, J. M. (1983) Oxygen-derived free radicals in postischemic tissue injury. New Engl. J. Med. 312: 159-163.
- MCCUSKEY, R. S. (1965) A dynamic and static study of hepatic arterioles and hepatic sphincters. Am. J. Anat. 119: 455-478.
- MCCUSKEY, R. S. (1986) Microscopic methods for studying the microvasculature of internal organs. In: *Microcirculatory Technology*, pp. 247–261, BACKER, CH. and NASTUK, W. L. (eds) Academic Press, New York.
- MCCUSKEY, R. S. (1988a) Hepatic microcirculation. In: Sinusoids in Human Liver: Health and Disease, pp. 151-165, BIOULAC-SAGE, P. and BALABAUD, C. (eds) Kupffer Cell Foundation, Rjswitjk.

- MCCUSKEY, R. S. (1988b) Hepatic microcirculation in disease. In: Sinusoids in Human Liver: Health and Disease, pp. 299–315, BIOULAC-SAGE, P. and BALABAUD, C. (eds) Kupffer Cell Foundation, Rjswitjk.
- MCCUSKEY, R. S., REILLY, F. D., MCCUSKEY, P. A. and DIMLICH, R. V. W. (1979) In vivo microscopy of the hepatic microvascular system. Bibl. Anat. 18: 73-76.
- MCKAIGNEY, J. P., CARMICHAEL, F. J., SALDIVIA, V., ISRAEL, Y. and ORREGO, H. (1986) Role of ethanol metabolism in the ethanol-induced increase in splanchnic circulation. *Am. J. Physiol.* 13: G518-G523.
- MCKELVEY, T. G., HOLLWARTH, M. E., GRANGER, D. N., ENGERSON, T. D., LANDLER, U. and JONES, H. P. (1988) Mechanisms of conversion of xanthine dehydrogenase to xanthine oxidase in ischemic rat liver and kidney. *Am. J. Physiol.* 17: G753–G760.
- MCKEOWN, C. M. B., EDWARDS, V., PHILLIPS, M. J., HARVEY, P. R. C., PETRUNKA, C. N. and STRASBERG, S. M. (1988) Sinusoidal lining cell damage: the critical injury in cold preservation of liver allografts in the rat. *Transplantation* **46**: 178-191.
- MCPHEE, P. J., DINDZANS, V. J., FUNG, L. S. and LEVY, G. A. (1985) Acute and chronic changes in the microcirculation of the liver in inbred strains of mice following infection with mouse hepatitis virus type 3. *Hepatology* 5: 649-660.
- MCPHEE, P. J., SCHMIDT, E. E., KEOWN, P. A. and GROOM, A. C. (1988) Microcirculatory changes in livers of mice infected with murine hepatitis virus. Evidence from microcorrosion casts and measurements of red cell velocity. *Microvasc. Res.* **36**: 140–149.
- MENDLOVIC, F., CORVERA, S. and GARCIA-SAINZ, J. A. (1984) Possible involvement of cyclooxygenase products is the actions of platelet-activating factor and of lipooxygenase products in the vascular effects of epinephrine in perfused rat liver. *Biochem. biophys. Res. Commun.* 123: 507-514.
- MEREN, H., VARIN, F., RUWART, M. and THURMAN, R. G. (1986) Effect of 16,16-dimethyl prostaglandin E_2 on oxygen uptake and microcirculation in the perfused rat liver. *Hepatology* 6: 917-921.
- MITZNER, W. (1974) Hepatic outflow resistance, sinusoid pressure, and the vascular waterfall. Am. J. Physiol. 227: 513-519.
- MIZOGUCHI, Y., TUSTSUI, H., MIYAJIMA, K., SAKAGAMI, Y., SEKI, S., KOBAYASHI, K., YAMAMOTO, S. and MORISAWA, S. (1987) The protective effects of prostaglandin E_1 in an experimental massive hepatic cell necrosis model. *Hepa*tology 7: 1184–1188.
- MORA, N. P., CIENFUEGOS, J. A., BERNALDO DE QUIROS, L., TENDILLO, F., PEREIRA, F., FORES, R., ALVAREZ, I., NAVIDAD, R. and CASTILLO-OLIVARES, J. L. (1987) Successful liver allograft function after 24-hour preservation: cumulative effects of prostacyclin plus verapamil. *Transpl. Proc.* 19: 3932–3936.
- MORGAN, J. J. and GROSZMANN, R. J. (1989) Somatostatin in portal hypertension. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 34: 405-475.
- MULLANE, K. M., WESTLIN, W. and KRAEMER, R. (1988) Activated neutrophils release mediators that may contribute to myocardial injury and dysfunction associated with ischemia and reperfusion. In: *Biology of the Leukotrienes*, pp. 103-121, LEVI, R. and KRELL, R. D. (eds) Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci., New York.
- MULLER-BERGHAUS, G., REUTER, C. and BLEYL, U. (1975) Experimental galactosamine-induced hepatitis. Am. J. Path. 82: 393-406.
- MURRAY, B. M. and PALLER, M. S. (1985) Decreased pressor reactivity to angiotensin II in cirrhotic rats. Evidence for a post-receptor defect in angiotensin action. *Circ. Res.* 57: 424-431.
- MYAGKAYA, G. L., VAN VEEN, H. and JAMES, J. (1987) Ultrastructural changes in the rat liver during Eurocollins storage, compared with hypothermic *in vitro* ischemia. *Virch. Arch. B.* **53**: 176–182.

- NAKATA, K., LEONG, G. F. and BRAUER, R. W. (1960) Direct measurement of blood pressures in minute vessels of the liver. Am. J. Physiol. 199: 1181-1188.
- NAKANO, M., WORMER, T. M. and LIEBER, C. S. (1982) Perivenular fibrosis in alcoholic liver injury: ultrastructure and histologic progression. *Gastroenterology* 83: 777–785.
- NAVASA, M., BOSCH, J., REICHEN, J., MASTAI, R., ZYSSET, T., BRU, C., SILVA, G., CHESTA, J. and RODÉS, J. (1988) Effects of verapamil on hepatic and systemic hemodynamics and liver function in patients with cirrhosis and portal hypertension. *Hepatology* 8: 850-854.
- NICHOLLS, K. M., SHAPIRO, M. D., VAN PUTTEN, V. J., KLUGE, R., CHUNG, H. M., BICHET, D. G. and SCHRIER, R. W. (1985) Elevated plasma norepinephrine concentrations in decompensated cirrhosis. *Circ. Res.* 56: 457-461.
- NODA, Y., HUGHES, R. D. and WILLIAMS, R. (1986) Effect of prostacyclin (PGI₂) and a prostaglandin analogue BW 245 C on galactosamine-induced hepatic necrosis. J. Hepatol. 2: 53-64.
- NOGUCHI, Y. and PLAA, G. L. (1970a) Effect of adrenergic drugs on the hemodynamics of the isolated perfused rat liver. Archs int. Pharmacodyn. 187: 336-348.
- NOGUCHI, Y. and PLAA, G. L. (1970b) Effect of nucleotides and nitroglycerine on the hemodynamics of the isolated perfused rat liver. Archs int. Pharmacodyn. 188: 305-311.
- NOLAN, J. P. and COHEN, S. A. (1988) Interaction of endotoxin with sinusoidal cells of the liver. In: Sinusodis in Human Liver: Health and Disease, pp. 341-358, BIOULAC-SAGE, P. and BALABAUD, C. (eds) Kupffer Cell Foundation.
- NOLAN, J. P. and O'CONNELL, C. J. (1965) Vascular response in the isolated rat liver. I. Endoxotin, direct effects. J. exp. Med. 122: 1063–1073.
- OGAWA, M., MORI, T., MORI, Y., UEDA, S., YOSHIDA, H., KATO, I., IESATO, K., WAKASHIN, Y., WASKASHIN, M. and OKUDA, K. (1988) Inhibitory effects of prostaglandin E_1 on T-cell mediated cytotoxicity against isolated mouse liver cells. *Gastroenterology* **94**: 1024–1030.
- ORREGO, H., KALANT, H., ISRAEL, Y., BLAKE, J., MEDLINE, A., RANKIN, J. G., ARMSTRONG, A. and KAPUR, B. (1979) Effect of short-term therapy with propylthiouracil in patients with alcoholic liver disease. *Gastroenterology* 76: 105–115.
- ORREGO, H., BLENDIS, L. M., CROSSLEY, I. R., MEDLINE, A., MACDONALD, A., RITCHIE, S. and ISRAEL, Y. (1981) Correlation of intrahepatic pressure with collagen in the Disse space and heaptomegaly in humans and in the rat. *Gastroenterology* 80: 5546–5567.
- ORREGO, H., BLAKE, J. E., BLENDIS, L. M., COMPTON, K. V. and ISRAEL, Y. (1987) Long-term treatment of alcoholic liver disease with propylthiouracil. *New Engl. J. Med.* 317: 1421–1427.
- ORRENIUS, S. and BELLOMO, G. (1986) Toxicological implications of perturbation of Ca²⁺ homeostasis in hepatocytes.
 In: Calcium and Cell Function, pp. 185–208, CHEUNG, W. Y. (ed.) Academic Press, New York.
- OTTO, G., WOLFF, H., UERLINS, I. and GELLERT, K. (1986) Preservation damage in liver transplantation. *Transplantation* **42**: 122–124.
- OUWENDIJK, R. J., ZIJISTRA, F. J., VAN DEN BROEK, A. M. W. C., BROUWER, A., WILSON, J. H. P. and VINCENT, J. E. (1988) Comparison of the production of eicosanoids by human and rat peritoneal macrophages and rat Kupffer cells. *Prostaglandins* **35**: 437-446.
- PARKS, D. A. and GRANGER, D. N. (1988) Ischemiareperfusion injury: a radical view. *Hepatology* 8: 680-682.
- PATEL, T. B. (1987) Stimulation of hepatic glycogenolysis by phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate. *Biochem. J.* 241: 549-554.
- PECK, R. C. and LEFER, A. M. (1981) Protective effect of nifedipine in the hypoxic perfused cat liver. Agents Actions 11: 421-424.
- PIGNON, J. P., POYNARD, T., NAVEAU, S. and CHAPUT, J. C.

(1988) Meta-analyse des essais randomisés des betabloquants dan la prévention des hémorragies digestives des sujets atteints de cirrhose. *Gastroent. clin. Biol.* 12: A175 (Abstr.).

- POPPER, H. (1974) Alcoholic hepatitis. An experimental approach to a conceptual and clinical problem. *New Engl.* J. Med. 290: 159-160.
- POPPER, H. (1987) Regulatory modulation in hepatology. Hepatology 7: 586-590.
- POPPER, H. (1988) Hepatocellular degeneration and death. In: The Liver: Biology and Pathobiology, pp. 1087–1105, ARIAS, I. M., JAKOBY, W. B., POPPER, H. and SCHACHTER, D. (eds) Raven Press, New York.
- POUNDS, J. G. and ROSEN, J. F. (1988) Cellular Ca^{2+} homeostasis and Ca^{2+} -mediated cell processes as critical targets for toxicant action: conceptual and methodological pitfalls. *Toxic. appl. Pharmac.* **94**: 331–341.
- POYNARD, T. and CHAPUT, J. C. (1989) Facteurs de risque des hémorragies digestives par rupture de varices oesophagiennes. In: *Hypertension Portale*, pp. 131-142, BENHAMOU, J. P. and LEBREC, D. (eds) Doin, Paris.
- PRAANING-VAN DALEN, D. P., BROUWER, A. and KNOOK, D. L. (1981) Clearance capacity of rat liver Kupffer, endothelial and parenchymal cells. *Gastroenterology* 81: 1036–1044.
- PRAANING-VAN DALEN, D. P., DE LEEUW, A. M., BROUWER, A. and KNOOK, D. L. (1987) Rat liver endothelial cells have a greater capacity than Kupffer cells to endocytose *N*-acetylglucosamine and mannose-terminated glycoproteins. *Hepatology* 7: 672–679.
- PRITCHARD, M. M. L. and DANIEL, P. M. (1952) Some features of the vascular arrangements of the kidney and the liver and their relevance to changes in the circulation in these organs. In: *Visceral Circulation*, pp. 60–69, VOLSTENHOLME, G. E. W. (ed.) Churchill, London.
- PUSCHEL, G. P., NATH, A. and JUNGERMANN, K. (1987) Increase of urate formation by stimulation of sympathetic hepatic nerves, circulating noradrenaline and glucagon in the perfused rat liver. *FEBS Lett.* **219**: 145–150.
- PUSCHEL, G. P., OPPERMANN, M., MUSCHOL, W., GOTZE, O. and JUNGERMANN, K. (1989) Increase of glucose and lactate output and decrease of flow by human anaphylatoxin C3a but not C5a in perfused rat liver. FEBS Lett. 243: 83-87.
- RAMOND, M. J., COMOY, E. and LEBREC, D. (1986) Alterations in isoprenaline sensitivity in patients with cirrhosis: evidence for abnormality of the sympathetic nervous activity. Br. J. clin. Pharmac. 21: 191-196.
- RAPPAPORT, A. M. (1981a) The acinus-microvascular unit of the liver. In: *Hepatic Circulation in Health and Disease*, pp. 175-192, LAUTT, W. W. (ed.) Raven Press, New York.
- RAPPAPORT, A. M. (1981b) Microvascular methods—the transilluminated liver. In: *Hepatic Circulation in Health* and Disease, pp. 1–13, LAUTT, W. W. (ed.) Raven Press, New York.
- RASIO, E. A., BENDAYAN, M. and GORESKY, C. A. (1987) Effect of reduced energy metabolism and reperfusion on the permeability and morphology of the capillaries of an isolated rete mirabile. *Circ. Res.* 64: 243–254.
- RASMUNSEN, H. (1986a) The calcium messenger system. New Engl. J. Med. 314: 1094-1101.
- RASMUNSEN, H. (1986b) The calcium messenger system. New Engl. J. Med. 314: 1164-1170.
- RATYCH, R. E., CHUKNYISKA, R. S. and BULKLEY, G. B. (1987) The primary localization of free radical generation after anoxia/reoxygenation in isolated endothelial cells. *Surgery* **102**: 122–131.
- REICHEN, J. (1987) Role of the hepatic artery in canalicular bile formation by the perfused rat liver. A multiple indicator dilution study. J. clin. Invest. 81: 1462–1469.
- REICHEN, J. and LE, M. (1986) Verapamil favorably influences hepatic microvascular exchange and function in rats with cirrhosis of the liver. J. clin. Invest. 78: 448-455.

- REICHEN, J., HIRLINGER, A., HA, H. R. and SAGESSER, S. (1986) Chronic verapamil administration lowers portal pressure and improves hepatic function in rats with liver cirrhosis. J. Hepatol. 3: 49–58.
- REICHEN, J., ARTS, B., SCHAFROTH, V., ZIMMERMANN, A., ZEITNER, T. B. and ZYSSET, T. (1987a) Aminopyrin Ndimethylation by rats with liver cirrhosis. Evidence for the intact cell hypothesis. A morphometric functional study. Gastroenterology 93: 719-726.
- REICHEN, J., HOILIEN, C., LE, M. and JONES, R. H. (1987b) Decreased uptake of taurocholate and ouabain by hepatocytes isolated from cirrhotic rat liver. *Hepatology* 7: 67-70.
- REICHEN, J., SAGESSER, H., STUBER, R. and ZYSSET, T. (1987c) Resistance of cirrhotic rat liver to the microvascular and functional effects of norepinephrine: down regulation of hepatic adrenoreceptors? *Hepatology* 7: 1032 (Abstr.).
- REICHEN, J., EGGER, B., ZELTNER, T. B., ZYSSET, T. and ZIMMERMANN, A. (1988) Determinants of hepatic function in liver cirrhosis in the rat. J. clin. Invest. 82: 2069–2076.
- REILLY, F. D., MCCUSKEY, P. A. and MCCUSKEY, R. S. (1978) Intrahepatic distribution of nerves in the rat. *Anat. Rec.* 191: 55–68.
- REILLY, F. D., MCCUSKEY, R. S. and CILENTO, E. V. (1981) Hepatic microvascular regulatory mechanisms. I. Adrenergic mechanisms. *Microvasc. Res.* 21: 103–116.
- REILLY, F. D., DIMLICH, R. V. W., CILENTO, E. V. and MCCUSKEY, R. S. (1982) Hepatic microvascular regulatory mechanisms. II. Cholinergic mechanisms. *Hepatol*ogy 2: 230-235.
- RICHARDSON, P. D. I. (1984) Pharmacology of intestinal blood flow and oxygen uptake. In: *Physiology of the Intestinal Circulation*, pp. 393-402, SHEPHERD, A. P. and GRANGER, D. N. (eds) Raven Press, New York.
- RICHARDSON, P. D. I. and WITHRINGTON, P. G. (1977a) The effects of intraportal injections of noradrenaline, adrenaline, vasopressin and angiotensin on the hepatic portal vascular bed of the dog: marked tachyphylaxis to angiotensin. Br. J. Pharmac. 59: 293-301.
- RICHARDSON, P. D. I. and WITHRINGTON, P. G. (1977b) The role of β -adrenoreceptors in the responses of the hepatic arterial vascular bed of the dog to phenylephrine, isoprenaline, noradrenaline and adrenaline. *Br. J. Pharmac.* **60**: 239–249.
- RICHARDSON, P. D. I. and WITHRINGTON, P. G. (1978) Pressure-flow relationships and effects of noradrenaline and isoprenaline on the hepatic arterial and portal venous vascular beds of the dog. J. Physiol. 282: 451–470.
- RICHARDSON, P. D. I. and WITHRINGTON, P. G. (1981a) Liver blood flow. I. Intrinsic and nervous controls of liver blood flow. *Gastroenterology* 81: 159–173.
- RICHARDSON, P. D. I. and WITHRINGTON, P. G. (1981b) Liver blood flow. II. Effects of drugs and hormones on liver blood flow. *Gastroenterology* 81: 356–375.
- RICHARDSON, P. D. I. and WITHRINGTON, P. G. (1982) Physiological regulation of the hepatic circulation. *Ann. Rev. Physiol.* 44: 57–69.
- RIEDER, H., RAMADORI, G. and MEYER ZUMBÜSCHENFELDE, K. H. (1988) Guinea pig Kupffer cells can be activated *in vitro* to an enhanced superoxide response. I. Comparison with peritoneal macrophages. J. Hepatol. 7: 338-344.
- RING-LARSEN, H., HESSE, B., HENRIKSEN, J. H. and CHRIS-TENSEN, N. J. (1982) Sympathetic nervous activity and renal and systemic hemodynamics in cirrhosis: plasma norepinephrine concentration, hepatic extraction, and renal release. *Hepatology* **2**: 304–310.
- ROSEN, G. M. and FREEMAN, B. A. (1984) Detection of superoxide generated by endothelial cells. *Proc. natn. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 81: 7269–7273.
- ROTHE, C. F. (1983) Reflex control of veins and vascular capacitance. *Physiol. Rev.* 63: 1281–1342.
- ROTHE, C. F. (1984) Control of capacitance vessels. In: *Physiology of the Intestinal Circulation*, pp. 73-81,

SHEPHERD, A. P. and GRANGER, D. N. (eds) Raven Press, New York.

- RUDOLPH, R., MCCLURE, W. J. and WOODWARD, M. (1979) Contractile fibroblasts in chronic alcoholic cirrhosis. *Gastroenterology* **76**: 704-709.
- RUSH, B., MERRITT, M. V., KALUZNY, M., VANSCHOICK, T., BRUNDEN, M. N. and RUWART, M. (1986) Studies on the mechanism of the protective action of 16,16-dimethyl prostaglandin E₂ in carbon tetrachloride induced acute hepatic injury in the rat. *Prostaglandins* 32: 439-455.
- SAKAGAMI, Y., MIZOGUCHI, Y., SEKI, S., KOBAYASHI, K., MIROSAWA, S. and YAMAMOTO, S. (1988) Release of peptide leukotrienes for rat Kupffer cells. *Biochem. biophys. Res. Commun.* 156: 217-221.
- SAMUELSSON, B., DAHLEN, S. R., LINDGREN, J. A., ROUZER, C. A. and SERHAN, C. N. (1987) Leukotrienes and lipoxins: structures, biosynthesis, and biological effects. *Science* 237: 1171–1176.
- SANNEMANN, J., BECKH, K. and JUNGERMANN, K. (1986) Control of glycogenolysis and hemodynamics in perfused rat liver by the sympathetic innervation. *Biol. Chem. Hoppe-Seyler* **367**: 401–409.
- SASSE, D. (1986) Liver structure and innervation. In: Regulation of Hepatic Metabolism, pp. 3–25, THURMAN, R. G., KAUFFMAN, F. C. and JUNGERMANN, K. (eds) Plenum, New York.
- SAWCHENKO, P. E. and FRIEDMANN, M. I. (1979) Sensory functions of the liver—a review. Am. J. Physiol. 236: R5–R20.
- SCHAFER, J. A. and ANDREOLI, T. E. (1986) Principles of water and nonelectrolyte transport across membranes. In: *Physiology of Membrane Disorders*, pp. 177–190, ANDREOLI, T. E., HOFFMAN, J. F., FANESTIL, D. D. and SCHUTZ, S. G. (eds) Plenum, New York.
- SCHLAYER, H. J., KARCK, U., GANTER, U., HERMANN, R. and DECKER, K. (1987) Enhancement of neutrophil adherence to isolated rat liver sinusoidal endothelial cells by supernatants of lipopolysaccharide-activated monocytes. J. Hepatol. 5: 311-321.
- SCHLAYER, H. J., LAAFF, H., PETERS, T., WOORT-MENKER, M., ESTLER, H. C., KARCK, U., SCHAEFER, H. E. and DECKER, K. (1988) Involvement of tumor necrosis factor in endotoxin-triggered neutrophil adherence to sinusoidal endothelial cells of mouse liver and its modulation in acute phase. J. Hepatol. 7: 239-249.
- SCHRIER, R. W. and CARAMELO, C. (1987) Hemodyanmics and hormonal alteration in hepatic cirrhosis. In: *The Kidney in Liver Disease*, EPSTEIN, M. (ed.) Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore.
- SEAMAN, K. L. and GREENWAY, C. V. (1984) Hepatic venoconstrictor effects of isoproterenol and nifedipine in anesthetized cats. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmac. 62: 665-672.
- SEGSTRO, R. and GREENWAY, C. V. (1986) Alpha adrenoceptor subtype mediating sympathetic mobilization of blood from the hepatic venous system in anesthetized cats. J. Pharmac. exp. Ther. 236: 224–229.
- SHARMA, R. J., RODRIGUES, L. M., WHITTON, P. D. and HEMS, D. A. (1980) Control mechanisms in the acceleration of hepatic glycogen degradation during hypoxia. *Biochem. biophys. Acta* 630: 414–424.
- SHIBAYAMA, Y. (1988) On the pathogenesis of portal hypertension in cirrhosis of the liver. Liver 8: 95–99.
- SHIBAYAMA, Y. and NAKATA, K. (1985) Localization of increased hepatic vascular resistance in liver cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 5: 643–648.
- SHIBAYAMA, Y. and NAKATA, K. (1989a) Relation of sinusoidal stenoses following hepatocyte swelling to hepatic vascular resistance in experimental liver cirrhosis. *Liver* 9: 36-42.
- SHIBAYAMA, Y. and NAKATA, K. (1989b) The role of sinusoidal stenoses in portal hypertension of liver cirrhosis. J. Hepatol. 8: 60–66.

- SHIRATORI, Y., KAWASE, T., SHIINA, S., OKANO, K., SUGIMOTO, T., TERAOKA, H., MATANO, S., MATSUMOTO, K. and KAMII, K. (1988) Modulation of hepatotoxicity by macrophages in the liver. *Hepatology*, 4: 815–821.
- SHUKLA, S. D., BUXTON, D. B., OLSON, M. S. and HANAHAN, D. J. (1983) Acetylglyceryl ether phosphorylcholine. A potent activator of hepatic phosphoinositide metabolism and glycogenolysis. J. biol. Chem. 258: 10212–10214.
- SIES, H. and GRAF, P. (1985) Hepatic thiol and glutathione efflux under the influence of vasopressin, phenylephrine and adrenaline. *Biochem. J.* 226: 545-549.SIKUGARA, O., MONDEN, M., TOYOSHIMA, K., OKAMURA, J.
- SIKUGARA, O., MONDEN, M., TOYOSHIMA, K., OKAMURA, J. and KOSAKI, G. (1983) Cytoprotective effect of prostaglandin I₂ on ischemia-induced hepatic cell injury. *Transplantation* 36: 238-242.
- SIKULER, E. and GROSZMANN, R. J. (1986a) Interaction of flow and resistance in maintenance of portal hypertension in a rat model. *Am. J. Physiol.* **250**: G205–G212.
- SIKULER, E. and GROSZMANN, R. J. (1986b) Hemodynamic studies in long- and short-term portal hypertensive rats: the relation to systemic glucagon levels. *Hepatology* 6: 414–418.
- SIKULER, E., KRAVETZ, D. and GROSZMANN, R. J. (1985) Evolution of portal hypertension and mechanisms involved in its maintenance in a rat model. Am. J. Physiol. 248: G618-G625.
- SINGAL, P. K., KAPUR, N., DHILLON, K. S., BEAMISH, R. E. and DHALLA, N. S. (1981) Role of free radicals in catecholamine-induced cardiomyopathy. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmac.* 60: 1390-1397.
- SKAARING, P. and BIERRING, F. (1976) On the intrinsic innervation of normal rat liver. Histochemical and scanning electron microscopical studies. *Cell Tissue Res.* 171: 141–155.
- STACHURA, J., TARNAWSKI, A., SZCZUDRAWA, J., BOGDAL, J., MACH, T., KLIMCZYK, B. and KIRCHMAYER, S. (1980) Cytoprotective effect of 16,16-dimethyl prostaglandin E₂ and some drugs on an acute galactosamine induced liver damage in rat. Folia Histochem. Cytochem. 18: 311-318.
- STACHURA, J., TARNAWSKI, A., IVEY, K. J., MACH, T., BOGDAL, J., SZCZUDRAWA, J. and KLIMICZYK, B. (1981) Prostaglandin protection of carbon tetrachloride-induced liver cell necrosis in the rat. *Gastroenterology* 81: 211–217.
- STEFFAN, A. M., GENDRAULT, J. L., MCCUSKEY, R. S., MCCUSKEY, P. A. and KIRN, A. (1986) Phagocytosis an unrecognized property of murine endothelial liver cells. *Hepatology* 6: 830–836.
- STEFFAN, A. M., GENDRAULT, J. L. and KIRN, A. (1987) Increase in the number of fenestrae in mouse endothelial liver cells by altering the cytoskeleton with cytochalasin B. *Hepatology* 7: 1230-1238.
- STEINHELPER, M. E. and OLSON, M. S. (1988a) Regulation of immune-aggregate-stimulated hepatic glycogenolysis and vasoconstriction by vicinal dithiols. *Biochem. J.* 249: 631-637.
- STEINHELPER, M. E. and OLSON, M. S. (1988b) Effects of phenylarsine oxide on agonist-induced hepatic vasoconstriction and glycogenolysis. *Biochem. Pharmac.* 37: 1167–1169.
- STENGER, R. J. (1966) Hepatic sinusoids in carbon tetrachloride-induced cirrhosis. Archs. Path. 81: 439–447.
- SUMMERFIELD, J. A. and JONES, E. A. (1986) Further progress towards understanding hepatic sinusoidal cells. J. Hepatol. 3: 413–418.
- SVENSJO, E. and GREGA, G. J. (1986) Evidence for endothelial cell-mediated regulation of macromolecular permeability by postcapillary venules. *Fedn Proc.* 45: 89–95.
- TAGE-JENSEN, V., HENRIKSEN, J. H., CHRISTENSEN, E., WIDDING, A., RING-LARSEN, H. and CHRISTENSEN, N. J. (1988) Plasma catecholamine level and portal venous pressure as guides to prognosis in patients with cirrhosis. J. Hepatol. 6: 350-358.

- TANNER, A., KEYHANI, A., REINER, R., HOLDSTOCK, G. and WRIGHT, R. (1981) Proteolytic enzymes released by liver macrophages may promote hepatic injury in a rat model of hepatic damage. *Gastroenterology* 80: 647–654.
- TAYLOR, W. M., VAN DE POL, E., VAN HELDEN, D. F., REINHART, P. H. and BYGRAVE, F. L. (1985) Effect of depolarizing concentrations of potassium on calcium uptake and metabolism in rat liver. FEBS Lett. 183: 70-74.
- TAYLOR, F. B., CHANG, A., ESMON, C. T., D'ANGELO, A., VIGANO-D'ANGELO, S. and BLICK, K. E. (1987) Protein C prevents the coagulopathic and lethal effects of Escherichia coli infusion in the baboon. J. clin. Invest. 79: 918-925.
- TERADA, T., ISHIDA, F. and NAKANUMA, Y. (1989) Vascular plexus around intrahepatic bile ducts in normal livers and portal hypertension. J. Hepatol. 8: 139–149.
- THURMAN, R. G., JI, S. and LEMASTERS, J. J. (1986) Lobular oxygen gradients: possible role in alcoholinduced hepatotoxicity. In: *Regulation of Hepatic Metabolism*, pp. 293–320, THURMAN, R. G., KAUFFMAN, F. C. and JUNGERMANN, K. (eds) Plenum, New York.
- THURMAN, R. G., KING, J. N. and LEMASTERS, J. J. (1987) Nitrendipine protects the liver against hypoxia-induced damage at submicromolar concentrations in the perfused rat liver. J. cardiovasc. Pharmac. 9: S71–S76.
- THURMAN, R. G., APEL, E., BADR, M. and LEMASTERS, J. L. (1988a) Protection of liver by calcium entry blockers. In: *Calcium Antagonists*, pp. 755-770, VANHEUTTE, P. M., PAOLETTI, R. and GOVONI, S. (eds) *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.*, New York.
- THURMAN, R. G., COWPER, K. B., MARZI, I., CURRIN, R. and LEMASTERS, J. J. (1988b) Functional activation of Kupffer cells by cold ischemic storage of the liver in Eurocollins solution. *Hepatology* 8: 1284 (Abstr.).
- THURMAN, R. G., MARZI, I., SEITZ, G., THIES, J., LEMASTERS, J. J. and ZIMMERMANN, F. (1988c) Hepatic reperfusion injury following orthotopic liver transplantation in the rat. *Transplantation* 46: 502-506.
- TIEGS, G. and WENDEL, A. (1988) Leukotriene-mediated liver injury. *Biochem. Pharmac.* 37,13: 2569–2573.
- TIEGS, G., WOLTER, M. and WENDEL, A. (1989) Tumor necrosis factor is a terminal mediator in galactosamine/ endotoxin-induced hepatitis in mice. *Biochem. Pharmac.* 38: 627-631.
- TRAN THI, T. A., GYUFKO, K., HAUSSINGER, D. and DECKER, K. (1988a) Net prostaglandin release by perfused rat liver after stimulation with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate. J. Hepatol. 6: 151–157.
- TRAN THI, T. A., GYUFKO, K., REINKE, M. and DECKER, K. (1988b) Output and effects of thromboxane produced by the liver perfused with phorbol myristate acetate. *Biol. Chem. Hoppe-Seyler* 369: 1179–1184.
- TRAN THI, T. A., HAUSSINGER, D., GYUFKO, K. and DECKER, K. (1988c) Stimulation of prostaglandin release by Ca²mobilizing agents from the perfused rat liver. *Biol. Chem. Hoppe-Seyler* 369: 65-68.
- TSUKAMOTO, H. and XI, X. P. (1989) Incomplete compensation of enhanced hepatic oxygen consumption in rats with alcoholic centrilobular liver necrosis. *Hepatology* 9: 302-306.
- UTILI, R., ABERNATHY, C. O. and ZIMMERMANN, H. J. (1976) Cholestatic effects of Escherichia coli endotoxin on the isolated perfused rat liver. *Gastroenterology* **70**: 248–253.
- UTILI, R., ABERNATHY, C. O., ZIMMERMAN, H. J., GAETA, G. B., ADINOLFI, L. and LUKACS, L. (1981) Endotoxin protects against chlorpromazine-induced cholestasis in the isolated perfused rat liver. *Gastroenterology* 80: 673-680.
- UTILI, R., ADINOLFI, L. E., GAETA, G. B., TRIPODI, M. F. and ALVARO, D. (1987) Effect of endotoxin tolerance on drug hepatotoxicity: amelioration of taurolithocholate cholestasis in the perfused rat liver. *Digestion* 36: 74–80.

- VAN BOSSUYT, H. and WISSE, E. (1988) Cultured Kupffer cells, isolated from human and rat liver biopsies, ingest endotoxin. J. Hepatol. 7: 45-56.
- VAN BOSSUYT, H., DE ZANGER, R. B. and WISSE, E. (1988) Cellular and subcellular distribution of injected lipopolysaccharide in rat liver and its activation by bile salts. J. Hepatol. 7: 325-337.
- VAN DE BROECK, A., UYTTENHOVE, K., BOLLEN, M. and STALMANS, W. (1988) The hepatic glycogenolysis induced by reversible ischaemia or KCN is exclusively catalysed by phosphorylase a. *Biochem. J.* **2565**: 685–688.
- VAN DEVENTER, S. J. H., TEN CATE, J. W. and TYTGAT, G. N. J. (1988) Intestinal endotoxemia. *Gastroenterology* 94: 825–831.
- VAN ZWIETEN, P. A. and TIMMERMANS, P. B. W. W. M. (1988) Receptor subtypes involved in the action of calcium entry blockers. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 522: 351–360.
- VARIN, F. and HUET, P. M. (1985) Hepatic microcirculation in the perfused cirrhotic rat liver. J. clin. Invest. 76: 1904–1912.
- VIDINS, E. I., BRITTON, R. S., MEDLINE, A., BLENDIS, L. M., ISRAEL, Y. and ORREGO, H. (1985) Sinusoidal caliber in alcoholic and non alcoholic liver disease: diagnostic and pathogenic implications. *Hepatology* 5: 408–414.
- VILLENEUVE, J. P. and HUET, P. M. (1987) Microcirculatory abnormalities in liver disease. *Hepatology* 7: 186-187.
- VILLENEUVE, J. P., WOOD, A. J. and SHAND, D. G. (1978) Impaired drug metabolism in experimental cirrhosis in the rat. *Biochem. Pharmac.* 27: 2577–2581.
- VON KUGELGEN, I., HAUSSINGER, D. and STARKE, K. (1987) Evidence for a vasoconstriction mediating receptor for UTP, distinct from the P_2 purinoceptor, in rabbit ear artery. *Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmac.* **336**: 556-560.
- VOROBIOFF, J., BREDFELDT, J. E. and GROSZMANN, R. J. (1983) Hyperdynamic circulation in portal-hypertensive rat model: a primary factor for maintenance of chronic portal hypertension. Am. J. Physiol. 244: G52-G57.
- VOROBIOFF, J., BREDFELDT, J. E. and GROSZMANN, R. J. (1984) Increased blood flow through the portal system in cirrhotic rats. *Gastroenterology* 87: 1120-1126.
- WENDEL, A., TIEGS, G. and WERNER, C. (1987) Evidence for the involvement of a reperfusion injury in galactosamine/

endotoxin-induced hepatitis in mice. Biochem. Pharmac. 36: 2637-2639.

- WILLET, I., ESLER, M., BURKE, F., LEONARD, P. and DUDLEY, F. (1985) Total and renal sympathetic nervous system activity in alcoholic cirrhosis. J. Hepatol. 1: 639-648.
- WILLET, I. R., JENNINGS, G., ESLER, M. and DUDLEY, F. J. (1986) Sympathetic tone modulates portal pressure in alcoholic cirrhosis. *Lancet* 939–942.
- WISSE, E., DE ZANGER, R. B., CHARELS, K., VAN DER SMISSEN, P. and MCCUSKEY, R. S. (1985) The liver sieve: considerations concerning the structure and function of endothelial fenestrae, the sinusoidal wall and the space of Disse. *Hepatology* 5: 683-692.
- WOOD, A. J., VILLENEUVE, J. P., BRANCH, R. A., ROGERS, L. W. and SHAND, D. G. (1979) Intact hepatocyte theory of impaired drug metabolism in experimental cirrhosis in the rat. *Gastroenterology* 76: 1358–1362.
- WOOLF, P. D., HAMILL, R. W., LEE, L. A. and MCDONALD, J. V. (1988) Free and total catecholamines in critical illness. Am. J. Physiol. 254: E287-E291.
- YAMADA, S., OGATA, I., HIRATA, K., MOCHIDA, S., TOMIYA, T. and FUJIWARA, K. (1989) Intravascular coagulation in the development of massive hepatic necrosis induced by Coryne bacterium parvum and endotoxin in rats. *Scand.* J. Gastroent. 24: 293-298.
- YAMAGUCHI, N. and GARCEAU, D. (1980) Correlations between hemodynamic parameters of the liver and norepinephrine release upon hepatic nerve stimulation in the dog. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmac.* **58**: 1347–1355.
- YAMAMOTO, K., SHERMAN, I., PHILIPPS, M. J. and FISHER, M. M. (1988) Three dimensional observations of the hepatic arterial terminations in rat, hamster and human liver by scanning electron microscopy of microvascular casts. *Hepatology* 5: 452-456.
- ZIMMERMAN, H. J. (1976) Experimental toxicity. In: Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology, Vol. XVI, Part 5, pp. 1–99, Springer, Berlin.
- ZWEIER, J. L., KUPPUSAMI, P. and LUTTY, G. A. (1988) Measurement of endothelial cell free radical generation: evidence for a central mechanism of free radical injury in postischemic tissues. *Proc. natn. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 85: 4046–4050.